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Over the years, the packaging industry has progressed 
by leaps and bounds. Since inception, innovation has 
been at the core of Tri-Pack’s business. As markets 
expand, consumer habits change with lifestyles, 
economic status, needs and wants.

The Company has since then transcended from just 
selling products to also selling experience; experience 
that required putting ourselves in the customers’ 
shoes, building our business around their needs and 
help them achieve their desired outcome through the 
holistic experience that only we provide. 

Innovation has also brought forth the need 
“future-proof ourselves” – to be sustainable, to think 
beyond the core product, to build in an open way, to 
stay on the pulse of the market, and to inspire our 
people. 

We believe that it is this mindset that spurs our 
progress, drives us to think big, to defy expectations 
and to prepare us for tomorrow and the years ahead.
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To merely add aesthetics to a classic is simply 
not innovation. However, to take a classic and 
add to its functions, is. At Tri-Pack we add value 
to your everyday consumables by adding 
convenience and extended shelf life. We help 
preserve and add trust to the brands you buy.
 
At Tri-Pack we’ve got safety, hygiene and 
convenience all wrapped up.

safe 
clean
convenient 
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People trust packaged products for durability, 
quality and integrity. Deliverables at Tri-Pack 
revolve around high quality thus enabling our 
customers to keep consumer trust.
 

At Tri-Pack we help our clients enhance & 
maintain quality of their products.

consumers
embrace qual i ty 
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When you think about it how many products do 
you use today that you never thought would be 
packaged or branded? Today our buying habits 
seek convenience and trusted brands reign the 
marketplace. 
 

At Tri-Pack we consider ourselves to be an 
extension of our clients’ team. We provide 
packaging solutions, innovations and ideas.
 

Tri-Pack: building brands & relationships 

bolstering brands 
bui ld ing relat ionships 
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To enhance stakeholders’ value by being a 
supplier of first choice whilst maintaining 
leadership position in domestic market and 
profitably expanding footprint in the 
international market.

annualreport2015

vision 
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mission statement & 
corporate strategy

Satisfy our customers with timely supplies of products and services at 
economic prices, conforming to quality standards. 

Achieve sustained growth to meet the demands of our customers’ and 
stakeholders’ expectations. 

Continue developing new markets, products, applications and solutions in 
concert with our customers and suppliers. 

Employ cost-effective technology to retain our competitive edge. 

Nurture and inculcate a culture based on high ethical standards to meet our 
obligations towards the communities we operate in. 

Attract, develop and retain talent through motivation, training, performance 
based rewards and providing growth opportunities. 

Care for health and safety of our employees and stakeholders and play our 
due role towards the environmental requirements.

We will:

annualreport2015  12
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Tri-Pack has adopted a unified code as a guidance and standard for the conduct of 
the Company and its employees and shareholders. This code sets out the way we 
do business and conduct ourselves and its compliance is mandatory across the 
organization. 

All employees are required to sign a compliance certification on an annual basis. 
Following are the key elements of the Code of Conduct: 

1. Promote fair business practices: We understand and comply with applicable 
laws and regulations, relevant staff is trained periodically on all the applicable 
laws, particularly competition law. Participation in actions for restraint of 
trade, fixing of prices, volume etc. or any form of activities restraining 
competition is strictly prohibited. We ensure that no conduct should give 
indication of unfair play or impairment of rights relating to counter parties. 

2. Avoid conflict of interest: All employees should maintain a clear distinction 
between corporate and private matters and affairs. Use of Company’s tangible 
or intangible assets and resources outside Company’s policy for personal gain 
and benefits is prohibited. Actions leading to personal benefit whether 
financial or otherwise or direct / indirect are expressly forbidden. Any 
proprietary or confidential information such as pricing, specifications, 
conditions, etc., shall not be disclosed outside. 

3. Respect for human rights, dignity and equal opportunity: We as an 
organization understand and recognize human rights & dignity and its 
sensitivities. We respect an individual’s customs, cultures and beliefs. Child 
labour, forced labour, harassment and abuse, explicitly or implicitly is strictly 
prohibited and condemned. No discrimination is done on the basis of gender, 
cast, religion or on any basis except the merit and requirements of the job, 
providing an equal opportunity to all the segments of society. 

4. Proprietary and confidential information: All employees are required to 
maintain the confidentiality of Company Information. Sensitive information 
including trade secrets, confidential and proprietary rights shall be protected 
and properly used for the benefit of Company only, whether before or after 
the end of employment. The Company also does not allow infringement of 
intellectual property rights belonging to others.

5. Open communication: In order to foster openness, integrity and reliability 
two way communication between employees and supervisors is encouraged 
in all aspects of work environment. 

6. Place and work environment: We as an organization promote sustainable 
use of resources; maintain safe, secure and healthy working conditions. The 
Company realizes the importance of work life balance and we endeavour to 
maintain and assist our employees to balance their work with other priorities 
of life and family commitments. 

7. Legal and ethical standards: We at Tri-Pack never violate or evade law. We 
ensure compliance with all the applicable laws and rules. Report any 
unlawful activities or breach of law committed within the Company. Any 
form of bribery or shape is strictly prohibited. The Company shall not use 
illegal payments, bribes, kickbacks or other questionable inducements to 
influence government policy or any business transaction. 

8. Compliance: We always comply with laws, rules, regulations, international 
standards and internal regulations in our business conduct and reporting. 

9. Participation in politics: Individuals are free to participate in politics in their 
personal life but that should not in any manner be reflected in their official 
and Company’s activities. Political donations of all kinds and shape are 
prohibited. 

10. Irregular conduct fraud, deception and violation of code: Employees 
detecting and suspecting any incidents of irregular conduct, fraud, deception 
or violation of code are encouraged to bring it to the notice of their supervisor, 
if such supervisor is not responsive to the next level of manager. The 
procedure for dealing with Speak ups is in place and all the Speak ups are 
shared with the Board Audit Committee. 

11. Related party transactions: All commercial transactions between the 
Company and related parties shall be based on arm’s length basis unless 
otherwise approved by the Board of Directors. 

 The record of all related party transaction shall also be placed before the 
Board of Directors at each Board of Directors meeting for formal approval.

code of business
conduct and ethics 
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Tri-Pack Films Limited (Tri-Pack) – a joint venture between Mitsubishi Corporation of Japan and Packages Limited of Pakistan was 
incorporated as a Public Limited Company on April 29, 1993 to produce Biaxially Orientated Polypropylene (BOPP) Films in Pakistan. Its 
head office is based in Karachi and regional offices are located in Karachi, Lahore and Hattar where focus is to provide customers with 
dependable, economical and quality films backed by strong customer services. Tri-Pack is indeed proud of making distinctive contributions 
to the packaging industry in Pakistan.

The Company is continuously growing since inception with an installed production capacity of more than 80,000 tons per annum. With four 
manufacturing lines in Karachi and Hattar capable of manufacturing over 65,000 tons per annum of BOPP Films and two lines in Karachi 
with an annual capacity of over 15,000 tons of producing CPP Films, we touch the lives of millions of people every day.

At Tri-Pack, our passion to cater to the needs of our customers lies at the heart of every endeavour. We go a long mile to get results, operate 
responsibly, apply innovative technology, execute with excellence, and capture new opportunities to create a wonderful world today for 
generations to come.

We aim to create long-term value for shareholders by catering to growing demands in a safe and responsible way. We not only strive to be 
a world-class operator, but also a responsible corporate citizen and an employer of choice.

Our people and our products are the hallmark of our success that give us the strength to endeavour to be amongst the front runners in 
delivering to our customers, shareholders and community as every aspect of our operations is driven by the sole objective of creating a better 
future, today!

about us and our business 
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our products 
Tri-Pack offers wide range of Biaxially Oriented and Cast 
Polypropylene (BOPP & CPP) packaging films, which are 
carefully and diligently produced to not only meet the 
packaging needs but also outperform the expectations of 
the market . We have judiciously created our product 
brands that are best suitable for food and beverage 
applications (snacks, confectionary, dairy food, fresh cut 
vegetables, beverages etc.) and non-food applications 
(overwrapping, lamination, bag making etc.). We have the 
capability to supply films in various sizes and thickness, 

ranging from 10 to 150 micron. We also manufacture 
specialized films having unique characteristics, which are 
proactively & unequivocally designed to cater the 
ever-growing demand of our customers. Besides, it also 
highlights our determination to continuously improve the 
benchmark of the industry and to raise the competition 
standards; this enables us to fulfill the purpose of our 
existence which is greater value addition and true benefit 
purveyance to the ultimate consumer.    

innovat ion to better your today and tomorrow
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internat ional

asia
Bahrain

Oman

Sri Lanka

UAE

europe africa
Bulgaria

Italy

Macedonia

Kenya

Mauritius

Nigeria

local

Head Office, Works &
Regional Sales Office

Karachi

Lahore
Regional
Sales Office

Hattar
Works & Regional
Sales Office

geographical  presence 
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company information 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
Syed Babar Ali (Chairman) 
Syed Hyder Ali* 
Kimihide Ando 
Khurram Raza Bakhtayari 
Yasumasa Kondo 
Syed Aslam Mehdi (Chief Executive)
Asif Qadir 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
Asif Qadir (Chairman) 
Kimihide Ando* 
Khurram Raza Bakhtayari 
Yasumasa Kondo 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
Kimihide Ando (Chairman) 
Syed Hyder Ali* 
Khurram Raza Bakhtayari 
Syed Aslam Mehdi 

HUMAN RESOURCE AND
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Asif Qadir (Chairman)
Kimihide Ando* 
Khurram Raza Bakhtayari 
Syed Aslam Mehdi 

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
Nasir Jamal 

COMPANY SECRETARY
Adi J. Cawasji 

AUDITORS AND TAX ADVISOR
A. F. Ferguson & Co. 
Chartered Accountants

LEGAL ADVISOR
Sattar & Sattar 
Khan & Paracha 

SHARES REGISTRAR 
FAMCO Associates (Pvt.) Ltd 8-F,
Next to Hotel Faran, Nursery, Block 6,
P.E.C.H.S., Shahrah-e-Faisal,
Karachi - 75400 
Tel : (021) 34380101-2 
Fax : (021) 34380106 

WEBSITE
www.tripack.com.pk

REGISTERED OFFICE
4th Floor, The Forum,
Suite No. 416-422, G-20,
Block No. 9, Clifton,
Khayaban-e-Jami,
Karachi - 75600, Pakistan. 
Tel: (021) 35874047-49
       (021) 35831618
Fax: (021) 35860251 

BANKERS
Standard Chartered Bank
Deutsche Bank AG 
NIB Bank Limited 
MCB Bank Limited 
Faysal Bank Limited 
Citibank NA 
Bank Al-Habib Limited 
Bank Alfalah Limited 
BankIslami Pakistan Limited 
The Bank of Tokyo - Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd. 

Habib Metropolitan Bank Limited
Meezan Bank Limited 
Askari Bank Limited 
Habib Bank Limted
Allied Bank Limted 
Al-Baraka Bank Limted 
Dubai Islamic Bank 
United Bank Limted 

REGIONAL SALES & HEAD OFFICE 
House No. 18, Sir Abdullah Haroon Road,
Near Marriott Hotel, Karachi. 
Tel: (021) 35224336-37 
Fax: (021) 35224338 

WORKS 
Plot No. G-1 to G-4,
North Western Industrial Zone,
Port Qasim Authority, Karachi. 
Tel : (021) 34720247-48 
Fax : (021) 34720245 

WORKS & REGIONAL SALES OFFICE 
Plot No. 78/1, Phase IV,
Hattar Industrial Estate, Hattar,
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa,
(Formerly N.W.F.P.). 
Tel: (0995) 617406-7 
Fax: (0995) 617054 

REGIONAL SALES OFFICE 
Plot No. 5 FC. C,
Maratib Ali Road,
Gulberg II, Lahore. 
Tel: (042) 35716068-70 
Fax: (042) 35716071

annualreport2015

* In alphabetical order of last name
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1993 1995 1998 2001 2002 2004 2004

Signing of Joint 
Venture

ISO 9001
Certification

Commissioning
of Metalizer 1

Commissioning 
of Production 

Line 1

Commercial 
Production

Line 2 

Commercial 
Production

Line 3

ISO 14001 
Certification

key mi lestones 
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2006 2007 2008 2009 2013 2014

Commissioning
of Metalizer 2

Commissioning of CPP 
Line 1 B.E.S.T 

Certification from BAT

Commissioning
of BOPP
Line 4

OHSAS
18001

Commissioning
of Metalizer 3

Commissioning
of CPP 2 & 
Metalizer 4
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At Tri-Pack we understand that engaging with our stakeholders is the only way 
to ensure that our strategy is aligned with the challenges and opportunities in 
the markets where we operate. We believe that our success is tied with the 
success of our stakeholders. 

Our stakeholder engagement strategy aims to identify emerging trends, possible 
threats and best available value propositions for all our stakeholders including 
our shareholders, employees, customers, suppliers, society and regulators. We 
want our stakeholders to be advocates of Tri-Pack, which is why we have always 
encouraged an open culture that focuses on trust, integrity, respect, mutuality, 
commitment and satisfaction. 

Shareholders

At Tri-Pack we believe that regular communications with shareholders is an 
important part of creating an open and constructive dialogue. The Company 
encourages shareholders’ participation at Annual General Meetings and 
endeavours to provide sound disclosures through its Quarterly and Annual 
Reports. We also have a dedicated shares department to facilitate our 
shareholders, which is outsourced and operated by a well reputed organization 
which is managed by a well experienced team of professionals and is equipped 
with necessary infrastructure to undertake the operational activities pertaining 
to shares.

stakeholder
engagement 
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We have also maintained our website (www.tripack.com.pk) to 
include all necessary financial and non-financial information for 
our investors.  The website is updated on frequent basis to ensure 
all relevant developments are communicated to our 
stakeholders on timely basis.

Employees 

Our people are behind every aspect of our strategy. We believe 
that the way to grow as a business is to grow our people, 
enabling personal development and ambitious business results. 
We take pride in our engagement initiatives including 
development through a detailed Training Needs Analysis, 
Annual Conferences and other engagement activities. For our 
strategy to work we need our employees to believe in us and 
therefore we assess ourselves through employee engagement 
survey which measures their overall satisfaction levels of being 
part of the Company. This helps us in comparing ourselves with 
other large companies and in identifying ways to improve how 
we do things. 

Customers 

Constant engagement with customers is the essence of our 
customer service, which has always helped us in keeping 
ourselves ahead of the market. To achieve our aspiration of 
building a better future, it is essential to come to grips with the 
rapidly evolving customer needs and expectations. It is for this 
reason that we have a team of dedicated individuals working in 
close coordination with customers to ensure provision of 
unmatched goods and services that are aimed at improving their 
productivity and profitability.   

Vendors

Tri-Pack has partnered with vendors from around the world and 
locally to ensure consistent quality of our products. Therefore 

the relationships with our suppliers are an increasingly 
important factor in allowing us both to maintain high standards 
of product supply and to respond to anticipated future customer 
needs. Our dedicated Commercial department constantly 
engages with suppliers to maintain a healthy business 
relationship.

Community 

At Tri-Pack we genuinely care about giving back to our 
community. We actively work to be a responsible corporate 
member of Pakistan’s society and continuously engage with the 
society through government agencies, non-governmental 
organisations and academia to align our business decision 
making with the reasonable societal expectations.

Banks

Our business relationship with our banks has been phenomenal. 
This is evident by the belief shown by banks in our commitments 
by providing significant finances to fund our projects. We 
maintain this relationship by actively engaging with our banks 
through frequent briefing sessions on Company’s performance 
and site visits to keep them on board with our strategy and latest 
developments.

Regulators 

As a responsible citizen Tri-Pack has always been committed to 
comply with all the laws and regulations including submission 
of regulatory reports and responding to specific enquiries on a 
timely basis. We have specific policies to ensure compliance of 
various laws and regulations. 
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share price sensit iv ity analysis 

The share price of an enterprise is driven by its performance, which in 
turn is dependent upon a number of internal and external factors 
associated with the products and markets in which an enterprise 
operates. 

In line with better profitability during the year compared to last year, 
the share price levels were higher. During the current year it closed at 
a high of Rs 299, which is the highest ever share price in last six years. 
Average share price during the year was Rs 224 compared to Rs 202 
during last year.  

External  Factors

• Fragile law & order situation

• Volatility in raw material prices

• Energy crisis

• Abrupt exchange rate fluctuations

• Low mark-up rate

• Low consumer price index

Internal  Factors

• Efficient margin management

• Operational efficiency

• Smart working capital management

• Strict cost rationalization

Market Value Per Share
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shareholders’  information 
Registered Office

4th Floor, The Forum  Suite # 416-422, G-20, Block 9 Khayaban-e-Jami, Clifton 
Karachi-75600 Tel. # 92 21 35831618 / 35831664 / 35833011, 35874047 - 49 
Fax # 92 21 35860251

Shares Registrar 

FAMCO Associates (Pvt.) Ltd, 8-F, Next to Hotel Faran Nursery, Block 6, 
P.E.C.H.S., Shahrah-e-Faisal Karachi-75400 Tel. # 92 21 34380101-2
Fax # 92 21 34380106

Listing on Stock Exchanges

Tri-Pack’s equity shares are listed on the Pakistan Stock Exchange.

Listing Fees

The annual listing fee for the financial year 2015-16 has been paid to the stock 
exchange within the prescribed time limit.

Stock Code

The stock code for dealing in equity shares of Tri-Pack Films at the Stock Exchange 
is TRIPF.

Shares Registrar

Tri-Pack’s shares department is operated by FAMCO Associates (Pvt.) Ltd  and 
services about 1,694 shareholders.  It is managed by a well-experienced team of 
professionals and is equipped with the necessary infrastructure in terms of 
computer facilities and comprehensive set of systems and procedures for 
conducting the Registration function. 

The Shares Registrar has online connectivity with Central Depository Company 
of Pakistan Limited. It undertakes activities pertaining to dematerialization of 
shares, share transfers, transmissions, issue of duplicate/re-validated dividend 
warrants, issue of duplicate/ replaced share certificates, change of address and 
other related matters.

For assistance, shareholders may contact either the Registered Office or the 
Shares Registrar.

Contact persons: 

Mr. S.M. Munawar Moosvi
Tel. # 92 21 35831618 / 35831664 / 35833011 Fax # 92 21 35860251

Mr. Ovais Khan
Tel. # 92 21 34380101-2 Fax # 92 21 34380106

Tri-Pack Films Limited

Service Standards

Tri-Pack has always endeavored to provide investors with prompt services. Listed below are various investor services and the maximum time limits set for their 
execution: 
  For requests received  

Over the counter  through post

 Transfer of shares 30 days after receipt 30 days after receipt
 Transmission of shares 30 days after receipt 30 days after receipt
 Issue of duplicate share certificates 30 days after receipt 30 days after receipt
 Issue of duplicate dividend warrants 5 days after receipt 5 days after receipt
 Issue of revalidated dividend warrants 5 days after receipt 5 days after receipt
 Change of address 2 days after receipt 15 minutes

Well qualified personnel of the Shares Registrar have been entrusted with the responsibility of ensuring that services are rendered within the set time limits.

25 



Statutory Compliance  

During the year, the Company has complied with all applicable provisions, filed 
all returns/ forms and furnished all the relevant particulars as required under the 
Companies Ordinance, 1984 and allied rules, the Securities and Exchange 
Commission of Pakistan (SECP) Regulations and the listing requirements. 

Dematerialization of Shares

The equity shares of the Company are under the compulsory dematerialization 
category. As of date 37.52% of the equity shares of the company have been 
dematerialized by the shareholders. 

Dividend 

The board of directors of the company has proposed a final dividend of 50% (Rs. 
5 per share of Rs.10) for the financial year ended December 31, 2015. The 
aforesaid final cash dividend is subject to approval by the shareholders of the 
Company at the Annual General Meeting (2014: Nil cash dividend).

Book Closure Dates

The Register of Members and Share Transfer Books of the Company will remain 
closed from March 24, 2016 to March 31, 2016 both days inclusive.

Dividend Remittance

Dividend declared and approved at an Annual General Meeting is paid well 
before the statutory time limit of 30 days:

(i) For shares held in physical form: to shareholders whose names appear in the 
Register of Members of the Company after entertaining all requests for transfer 
of shares lodged with the Company on or before the book closure date.

(ii)  For shares held in electronic form: to shareholders whose names appear in 
the statement of beneficial ownership furnished by CDC as at end of 
business on book closure date.

Withholding of Tax & Zakat on Dividend 

As per the provisions of Section 150 of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001, Income 
Tax is deductible at source on dividend payable by the Company at the rate of 
12.5% for filers of income tax returns, wherever applicable, and at the rate of 
17.5% for non-filers of income tax returns.

Zakat is also deductible at source from the dividend at the rate of 2.5% of the face 
value of the share, other than corporate holders or individuals who have provided 
an undertaking for non-deduction.

Dividend Warrants

Cash dividends are paid through dividend warrants addressed to the shareholders 
whose names appear in the Register of Shareholders at the date of book closure. 
Shareholders are requested to deposit those warrants into their bank accounts, at 
their earliest, thus helping the Company to clear the unclaimed dividend 
account.

Investors' Grievances

To date none of the investors or shareholders have filed any letter of complaints 
against any service provided by the Company to its shareholders.

Legal Proceedings

No case has ever been filed by shareholders against the Company for non-receipt 
of shares/refund. 

General Meetings & Voting Rights

Pursuant to Section 158 of the Companies Ordinance, 1984, Tri-Pack Films 
Limited holds a General Meeting of shareholders at least once a year. Every 
shareholder has a right to attend the General Meeting. The notice of such meeting 
is sent to all the shareholders at least 21 days before the meeting and also 
advertised in at least one English and one Urdu newspaper having circulation in 
Karachi, Lahore and Islamabad.

Shareholders having holding of at least 10% of voting rights may also apply to the 
board of directors to call for meeting of shareholders, and if board does not take 
action on such application within 21 days, the shareholders may themselves call 
the meeting. 

All shares issued by the Company carry equal voting rights. Generally, matters at 
the general meetings are decided by a show of hands in the first instance. Voting 
by show of hands operates on the principle of "One Member-One Vote". If 
majority of shareholders raise their hands in favor of a particular resolution, it is 
taken as passed, unless a poll is demanded. 
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Since the fundamental voting principle in a company is "One Share-One Vote", 
voting takes place by a poll, if demanded. On a poll being taken, the decision 
arrived by poll is final, overruling any decision taken on a show of hands. 

Proxies

Pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Ordinance, 1984 and according to the 
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company, every shareholder of 
the Company who is entitled to attend and vote at a general meeting of the 
Company can appoint another person as his/her proxy to attend and vote instead 
of him/her. Every notice calling a general meeting of the Company contains a 

statement that a shareholder entitled to attend and vote is entitled to appoint a 
proxy, who may not be a member of the Company.

The instrument appointing a proxy (duly signed by the shareholder appointing 
that proxy) should be deposited at the office of the Company not less than 
forty-eight hours before the meeting.

Web Presence 

Updated information regarding the Company can be accessed at Tri-Pack’s 
website, www.tripack.com.pk. The website contains the Company’s profile, the 
corporate philosophy and major products. 

 1  100 486 12,517
 101  500 592 264,280
 501  1,000 156 145,634
 1,001  5,000 261 728,141
 5,001  10,000 80 626,172
 10,001  15,000 30 374,864
 15,001  20,000 15 275,709
 20,001  25,000 10 228,900
 25,001  30,000 6 168,400
 30,001  35,000 3 101,000
 35,001  40,000 6 227,220

Tri-Pack Films Limited

shareholding pattern 
The shareholding pattern of the equity share capital of the Company as at December 31, 2015 is as follows:

Shareholding

From To
Number of

shareholders
Total

shares held
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 40,001  45,000 3 124,474
 50,001  55,000 10 511,500
 55,001  60,000 3 169,453
 60,001  65,000 4 250,400
 65,001  70,000 1 68,916
 75,001  80,000 1 77,000
 80,001  85,000 1 83,789
 90,001  95,000 2 183,623
 100,001  105,000 4 404,600
 120,001  125,000 2 246,800
 130,001  135,000 1 130,436
 135,001  140,000 1 137,000
 145,001  150,000 1 149,100
 180,001  185,000 1 182,000
 210,001  215,000 1 211,800
 230,001  235,000 1 231,130
 250,001  255,000 1 250,100
 255,001  260,000 1 259,400
 275,001  280,000 1 278,400
 325,001  330,000 1 327,100
 470,001  475,000 1 474,500
 560,001  565,000 1 562,049
 680,001  685,000 1 682,260
 930,001  935,000 1 933,850
 1,065,001  1,070,000 1 1,065,067
 1,350,001  1,355,000 1 1,353,416
 7,495,001  7,500,000 1 7,499,000
 10,000,001  10,005,000 1 10,000,000
    1,694 30,000,000

Shareholding

From To
Number of

shareholders
Total

shares held
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i. Associated Companies, Undertakings and Related Parties (name wise details)  
 Babar Ali Foundation  1 137,000
 IGI Insurance Limited  1 1,353,416
 Mitsubishi Corporation - Japan  1 7,499,000
 Packages Limited  1 10,000,000
  Total: 4 18,989,416

ii. Mutual Funds (name wise details)  
 CDC - Trustee NAFA Stock Fund  1 121,800
 CDC - Trustee National Investment (Unit) Trust  1 562,049
  Total : 2 683,849

iii. Directors and their spouse(s) and minor children (name wise details)  
 Mr. Asif Qadir  1 100
 Syed Aslam Mehdi  1 1,000
 Mr. Kimihide Ando  1 500
 Mr.Yasumasa Kondo   1 500
 Syed Babar Ali  1 474,500
 Syed Hyder Ali  1 93,500
  Total:  6 570,100
  
iv. Executives  NIL NIL
  Total: NIL NIL

v. Public Sector Companies and Corporations  1 682,260
  Total:  1 682,260

vi. Banks, Development Finance Institutions, Non-Banking Finance Institutions,

 Insurance Companies, Takaful, Modaraba and Pension Funds 7 841,769

       Total: 7 841,769

  

vii. Shareholders holding 5% or more voting rights in the Listed Company  

 Mitsubishi Corporation - Japan  1 7,499,000

 Packages Limited  1 10,000,000

  Total: 2 17,499,000

Tri-Pack Films Limited

Information as required under the Code of Corporate Governance

Shareholders' category Total shares heldNumber of shareholders
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share price/volume 
The monthly high and low prices and the volume of shares traded on the Karachi Stock Exchange during the financial year 2015 are as under:

annualreport2015

 January 304.50 262.75 1,151,000
 February 282.90 240.02 354,400
 March 240.00 163.10 267,800
 April 201.75 158.30 619,600
 May 192.49 155.00 1,162,500
 June 195.00 175.00 543,500
 July 205.00 182.04 274,400
 August 272.85 190.00 1,429,400
 September 261.90 208.00 493,300
 October 284.00 222.52 1,109,600
 November 263.90 223.10 875,100
 December  288.90 221.70 751,300

Volume of
shares tradedLowestHighest

Share price on the KSE (Rs.)
Month

 1 Directors, Chief Executive Officer, and their spouses and minor children 6 570,100 1.90

 2 Associated Companies, undertakings and related parties 4 18,989,416 63.30

 3 Banks Development Financial Institutions, Non Banking Financial Institutions 2 63 0.00

 4 Insurance Companies 3 769,366 2.56

 5 Modarabas and Mutual Funds 2 683,849 2.28

 6 Shareholders holding 10% 2 17,499,000 58.33

 7 General Public:

  a. Local  1,629 6,592,535 21.98
  b. Foreign - - -

 8 Others 48 2,394,671 7.98

 Total (excluding: shareholders holding 10%) 1,694 30,000,000 100.00

Information as required under the Code of Corporate Governance

Shareholders' categoryS.No. Total shares held %Number of shareholders
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Tri-Pack Films Limited’s policy is to: 

• Ensure customer satisfaction through product of best quality, 
developments, modern technologies & by acquiring knowledge and skills. 

• Establish, implement and review objectives & targets to ensure continuous 
improvement in our HSEQ System. 

• Comply with all regulatory requirements on Health, Safety and 
Environment. Protect employees and community from health & safety 
hazards and to prevent environmental pollution. 

• Use raw materials efficiently, manage waste effectively and economically 
and to conserve resources. 

• Communicate to all stakeholders about our occupational health, safety, 
environment and quality policy & performance. 

• Ensure that any new plant, equipment and processes installed will 
minimize hazards and impact to the environment. 

• Ensure sustainable use of energy and water resources.

health,  safety &
environment (HSE)
& qual i ty pol icy
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HSE Strategy & Developments

Compliance with Health, Safety and Environment (HSE) 
remained top priority during the year and the year closed 
without any serious incident in this respect.

Focus remained on improving the design of HSE Management 
System in line with international best practices such as 
Occupational Safety & Health Administration (OSHA) and 
Health Safety Executive (HSE), which necessitate our employees 
as well as the contractors to conform to these standards. In order 
to identify safety hazards and for effective risk assessment, a 
general culture of safety with effective safety management 
system was encouraged and promoted. Behavior based safety 
techniques and efficient incident reporting are vital parts of our 
system.

The HSE Management System comprises of following inter-related 
components: 

• Commitment, leadership and accountability 

• Policies, procedures and objectives 

• Organization and resources 

• Contractor and supplier management 

• Risk management 

• Performance monitoring and improvement 

• Audits and reviews

Quality Control 

The Company has a dedicated Research & Development (R&D) 
wing to ensure the consistency of quality of existing lines of 
products and to develop new products. A formal quality 
philosophy and organizational structure is in place, which helps 
in performance tracking in both pre and post manufacturing 
phases of a product. R&D has sufficient resources available to 
implement the quality framework at both plant and customers’ 
site. On need basis, consultants/ industry experts are also 
engaged. In order to develop the skillset of staff both on-the-job 
and external trainings are provided to staff on recurrent basis.

In line with the commitment of adherence to international 
quality and safety standards the Company successfully managed 
to obtain following ISO certifications: 

• Quality Management System 

• Environment Management System 

• Occupational Health and Safety Assessment Series 

• Food Safety Management System 

• Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Point 

• Publicly Available Specification
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Sustainability & Corporate Social 
Responsibility Commitment towards 
Sustainability & Corporate Social 
Responsibility (CSR) 

Sustainability is at the heart of everything we do. Each year we 
actively seek to imbue sustainability into our business 
operations. And while we are making progress, we do not 
assume that we are winning; continuous improvement is a 
fundamental goal of our sustainability efforts.

It is our ongoing mission to identify emerging sustainability 
related challenges and CSR opportunities and work towards 
addressing them. 

In 2016 and beyond, we are committed to be more responsible 
stewards of the planet.

Sustainability

Sustainability is an integral part of our business and operations. 
Tri-Pack is committed to reduce its impact on the planet and 
deliver more sustainable products to its customers; from 
producing energy efficient products and deploying cutting-edge 
safety systems to being the employer of choice for employees, 
we make decisions based on how the outcome ultimately 
creates value for our customers and stakeholders, consistent 
with the long-term preservation and enhancement of 
environmental, social and financial capital. 

As a responsible corporate citizen, Tri-Pack is committed to 
protecting human health and the local environment. Our 

dedication not only encompasses compliance with the law but 
also integration of sound environmental practices into our 
business operations.

Energy Saving Measures

At-Tripack, we remain keen to increase our operational 
efficiencies not only to add up to our bottom line, we also focus 
on optimization of energy resources available to us in particular 
and to the community at large. We remain vigilant to the energy 
crisis prevailing in the Country and we play our role by reducing 
our energy consumption through better upkeep of our 
equipment to enhance fuel efficiency, frequent audits of our 
machinery and critically reviewing frequency of maintenance 
intervals. Going forward the Company is planning to engage 
external experts for better insight and control of our power 
generation facilities.

Environmental Protection Measures

The guiding principles at Tri-Pack Films are the welfare and 
wellbeing of our people and our planet. We deeply care and are 
highly concerned about the unnecessary wastage of our natural 
resources and in result of our efforts we are utilizing our natural 
resources like natural gas, water, fuel etc. efficiently and thus our 
engines, oil heaters & vehicles comply the National 
Environment & Quality Standards (NEQS). Hence our business 
strategies take full account of far reaching environmental impact 
of our operating decision to ensure the protection of the 
environment.

We have taken various initiatives to go green at our plant facilities. 
Substantial investments have been made to grow the plantation at 
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and near our facilities. Our commitment to environment 
protection is in line with our objective of a better future.   

Efforts to mitigate the adverse impact of industrial effluents

We at Tri-Pack constantly monitor the waste water parameters 
against the limits defined in NEQS. This is being done through 
audits by third party and by Environmental Protection Authority. 
With our consistent effort to improve on these parameters we 
have successfully managed to improve TDS (Total Dissolved 
Solid) values by 24% in the year 2015.

Industrial relations

Tri-Pack conforms to all applicable laws and acts pertaining to its 
operations and business practices as prescribed.  We strive to be 
the employer of choice and comply with all employment laws 
and labor legislations.  

Tri-Pack complies with the Factories Act and the core 
conventions of the International Labor Organization (ILO). We 
have the same Labor Rights for every Tri-Pack employee, 
wherever they work. 

Valuing diversity 

Tri-Pack believes that its success and competitiveness depends 
upon its ability to embrace diversity. In an effort to create a 
workplace culture that provides equal opportunities for 
everyone and ensures that people are always treated with dignity 
and respect a diverse workforce is being encouraged regardless 
of race, nationality, gender, age, marital status, sexual 
orientation, disability, religion or political beliefs. This 
commitment was displayed by inducting females and 
individuals with special needs in the work force.

Employment of Special Persons

As a socially responsible corporate citizen, Tri-Pack offers 
employment opportunity to special persons and dependents of 
deceased employees subject to availability of position and 
suitability of the candidates in accordance with the Company’s 
policies.

We have successfully created employment opportunities for 
people with disabilities at our plant operations in Port Qasim.

Business Ethics and Anti-Corruption Measures

Tri-Pack’s Code of Conduct is based on its values and clarifies 
the ethics and compliance expectations for everyone who works 
at Tri-Pack Films Limited.  Our everyday business decisions are 
guided by our Code of Conduct. The code covers areas of 
operation safety, responsibly and reliably; our people; our 
stakeholders, the government and communities we work with; 
our assets and financial integrity.   

The Company has ensured that appropriate steps have been 
taken to disseminate it throughout the Company. 

Contribution to National Exchequer

Tri-Pack’s contribution to the national exchequer in the form of 
sales tax, custom duties and income taxes etc is approximately 
Rs 2,460 million in 2015.

Business Continuity Plan

The Company considers its utmost priority to take all possible steps 
to ensure continuity of its operations in case of an event leading to 
business disruption. A comprehensive Business Continuity Plan is 

35



annualreport2015

in place. The same has been imparted throughout the organization 
through formal trainings and drills.

Corporate Social Responsibility

Tri-Pack endeavors to operate its business in an innovative, 
sound, ethical and responsible way. Our intent is to 
continuously enhance our corporate value whilst striving to 
build a better and more sustainable world.

Our effort to attain human excellence does not just confine to 
ourselves but goes beyond. 2015 saw the Company push its CSR 
agenda across two key areas i.e. Contribution through 
Volunteerism and Social Initiative. 

Over the year, Tri-Pack held its very first Blood Donation Drive in 
collaboration with Fatimid Foundation. Fatimid Foundation is 
known to have been working to help Thalassemia, Leukemia and 
other patients whose life depend on blood transfusions. We 
believe that giving the gift of life is a priceless act that supersedes 
any kind of charity. Thalassemia patients are dependent on 
donated blood to survive; and blood can only come from a 
volunteer donor. People from Tri-Pack, who made the choice to 
donate; and there is no substitute for their donation.

Simultaneously we launched a goodwill project for Dar ul Sakun 
via Donation Drive in support of their “Rehabilitation through 
Recycling Trash’’ Campaign. The proceeds from these items are 
used in their rehabilitation centers. When hundreds of people get 
together and coordinate their giving, tremendous and lasting good 
can be done for the community. There is no better way to make an 
impact than to contribute to the good will for our society.

Corporate Social Accountability Management 

Our workplace practices are specifically designed to comply 
with the SA8000: Social Accountability standard. 

Hiring policy at Tri-Pack Films Limited is based on safeguarding 
the basic rights and dignity of a worker. We believe in voluntary 
work, and our will and commitment ensures that forced labor is 
relegated to history.  

Our hiring policy promotes good practice and ensures ethical 
sourcing of candidates and it is our prime concern to provide a 
working environment to our employees which is not harmful to 
their health and safety.  

Our Social Management System ensures compliance and 
continuous improvement in delivering the below-cited aspects:

• Child Labor

• Forced Labor 

• Health & Safety

• Discrimination

• Disciplinary Practices

• Working Hours

• Compensation

Our standards and compliance itself are based on various 
conventions and recommendations for Labor Laws (ILO) and the 
Factories Act.
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Overview of key objectives and strategies

Our passion to create a better future today does not only reflect in our aspiration 
but it is a part of day to day operational objectives and strategies. To create a sense 
of belonging to our vision we attempt to inculcate it in our very actions and day to 
day dealings in all aspects of business.

Customer service and product development

The central objective of our product development & innovation activity is to 
deliver practical solution that meets customer’s requirement in today’s rapidly 
changing markets. Creating value for our customers through developing 
economical source of raw materials, low cost packaging and bringing in new 
technologies has been focal point of our philosophy.

Development of measuring quality standards has been continuously reviewed 
ensuring product specification closest to the machine needs. In house storage 
development is under way which shall ensure meeting customer needs speedily 
and timely and facilitating customer to maintain low inventories at their end.

We have been very closely working with our customers to enable them and their 
customers to enhance operational efficiencies through high speed operations and 
cutting down time thus making them low cost producers. To fulfill our 
commitment towards environment, we have introduced concept of lighter weight 
packaging which is much appreciated by our customers. It has given an 
economical solution for the same packaging.

annualreport2015

funct ional  and
operat ional  excel lence 

38



Tri-Pack is committed to design and produce its products that 
conforms to international standards and requirements i.e. free of 
any physical, biological chemical contaminations or allergens. 
Tri-Pack is certified against following international standards.

1. ISO-22000:2005 (Food Safety Management System)

2. PAS-223:2011 {Publically Available specifications (Technical)}

3. HACCP Codex Alimentarius.

Research & development 

We continue to develop new markets, products, applications and 
solutions in concert with our customers and suppliers. Our 
in-house R&D department is equipped with cutting edge 
contemporary and sophisticated equipment. Our highly 
professional R&D team works round the clock to ensure the 
production of high quality films. 

Our world class R&D processes ensure that developed products 
meet customer requirements by giving better run-ability. It not only 
cuts down the cost at customers’ end but also enhances our 
profitability.  

New films are also being developed in different grades to replace 
older versions or tap new markets to enhance safety, hygiene and 
convenience of the end consumer.

Operational efficiency

It is our core objective to employ cost effective technology to retain 
our competitive edge. Total Productive Maintenance (TPM) 
remained a key source of improving operational efficiencies. TPM 
culture is being promoted throughout all levels of organization. 

Frequent third party audits of plant are conducted to ensure 
optimum machine performance. It also gives us an opportunity to 
compare our machine operations with international standards. 

Human Resource development

We want people to grow their careers at Tri-Pack and develop the 
skills and talent needed to grow our business. The Company 
continued to provide developmental opportunities to its employees 
at all levels, with the aim of enhancing their leadership, 
management and technical skills, to enable them to maximize their 
potential and help achieve individual and organizational goals.

We take pride in our employee engagement platform which allows 
us to assess ourselves through employee engagement survey which 
measures our employees’ overall satisfaction levels of being part of 
the Company. 

We at Tri-Pack strongly emphasize on inclusion of all without any 
bias. We have a precise modus operandi when it comes to equal 
opportunity at all levels; from recruitment to compensation, to 
training and development across the board, all employees have 
equal rights in terms of rewards and recognition. In an effort to 
create a workplace culture that provides equal opportunities for 
everyone and ensures that people are always treated with dignity 
and respect a diverse workforce is being encouraged regardless of 
race, nationality, gender, age, marital status, sexual orientation, 
disability, religion or political beliefs. Global internship program 
initiated in strategic alliance with AIESEC (Association 
internationale des étudiants en sciences économiques et 
commerciales) for Global Exchange and induction in the panel of 
authorized trainers for Chartered Accountants by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in England & Wales (ICAEW) are great leaps 
in developing talents of our people.
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Internal Controls & Compliance

Tri-Pack has a robust internal control framework, which is designed 
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the Company’s 
objectives in the matters pertaining to efficiency of operations, 
cost-effective use of resources, reliability of financial reporting and 
compliance with laws and regulations. We have documented 
Standard Operating Procedures that act as guiding principles for our 
activities. The Company has also engaged a well reputed audit firm 
to carry out internal audits of our processes. The findings of these 
audits are shared with the Board Audit Committee. 
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human resource 
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HR Strategic Priorities

Tri-Pack has been a leader in building and defining the market standards. We 
are determined to continuously provide innovative solutions to our valued 
customers. Over the last year our business landscape has changed and surely 
evolved. Our ambition to capture growth and create value while leveraging 
our brand stands strong in our priorities.

Keeping this in view, the focus of HR strategy is to improve the productivity 
and effectiveness of the business through its people.  Passion, teamwork and 
cohesion are key components in the success of our business. 

It is our firm belief that everyone at Tri-Pack has a role to play in delivering our 
strategic priorities.

Attracting and developing the right blend

We are focused on ensuring adequate supply of human resources to meet the 
strategic goals and operational plans - the right people with the right skills and 
attitude at the right time. 

Employee Empowerment

A culture where employees are empowered; provided with the right tools and 
resources to achieve beyond limits is what we have always strived for. 
Employees are strongly encouraged to challenge and question the status quo. 
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Respect for Self and Others

We are determined to create an environment where all employees 
respect each other irrespective of grade. Employees can report any 
misconduct or violation of company policies whether resulting in 
financial implications or not, without the fear of retaliation or 
retribution.

Develop capability and talent

It is our key priority to equip our employees with knowledge, skills 
and abilities necessary to achieve our goals. We are not only 
focused on developing skills that are needed for current job but also 
groom them for future roles.

The people behind our business

Our competitive advantage is our fine blend of people. We are a 
staunch believer that to deliver world class solutions it is imperative 
that we attract, develop and retain talent efficiently. As we ponder 
over the last year we can clearly conclude that it has been a year of 
continued progress, with increasing signs of relative stabilization 
and substantial growth. Our strategic cost saving measures at both 
operational and commercial front has delivered a clear improve-
ment in our overall performance. We believe that the way to grow 
as a business is to ensure the growth of our people, enabling 
personal development and ambitious business results.

Employee Engagement

For our strategy to work we need our employees to believe in us. For 
the last two years all our employees are invited to participate in an 
employee engagement survey which allows us to measure 
engagement levels, compare ourselves with the best of the best in 
the industry and help us identify ways to improve overall employee 
value proposition. Our employee engagement index measures how 
committed our employees are, their desire to continue working for 
us and their overall level of satisfaction. The index improved 
compared to last year from 3.51 mean score to 3.66 on a scale of 5. 
The response this year was over whelming- Response Rate 
improved from 72% in 2014 to 92% in 2015.

Another milestone this year was the launch of intra/internet 
designed in-house through mutual collaboration between IT team 
and HR. This platform aims to serve as a strategic link between the 
organization and its employees for an un-interruptive exchange of 
information. The employees use a common front end web browser 
to browse through the vast reservoir of information available within 
the company such as policies, personal information, etc. A key 
feature of this portal is that Tri-Pack employees can access it at any 
time; any place across the globe just a click away.

Tri-Pack Films Limited

981
No. of Training

Participants

5,562
Training Man Hours
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Talent Acquisition

Talent acquisition is pivotal in any business. Likewise, at Tri-Pack 
we continued our efforts to acquire the best talent at various levels. 
The highlight of this year was the roll out of Tri-Pack’s Summer 
Internship Program. This was a fantastic opportunity for students to 
gain some valuable work experience, be creative and prove 
themselves in a challenging work environment. It also provided us 
with the opportunity to identify potential recruits for years to 
come. This and other programs are a proven way to strengthen our 
talent pipeline while building breadth and adaptability to support 
our organization in a rapidly changing environment.

Another feather in the cap is that we embarked on a global 
exchange program with AIESEC in IBA (Association internationale 
des étudiants en sciences économiques et commerciales -English: 
International Association of Students in Economic and 
Commercial Sciences),through AIESEC’s Global Entrepreneurs 
Program for global internship. Tri-Pack is the first company in the 
group that has taken this initiative. Our goal is to use this 
international platform and help young foreign students discover 
and develop their potential to have a positive impact on society 
and break down stereotypes / misconceptions of our nation.

Diversity 

We believe that a diverse workforce is the key to achieving our 
goals by helping us better understand and meet the needs of our 
customers. We want to create a culture that provides equal 
opportunities for everyone and ensures that people are always 
treated with dignity and respect. We believe that different ways of 
thinking complement each other and lead to better decision 
making. Diverse teams are more creative, inclusive and 

competitive, and better reflect the markets we serve. We are a 
growing business and we need to recruit and nurture the best 
people available. We offer equal opportunities in all aspects of 
employment and advancement regardless of race, nationality, 
gender, age, marital status, sexual orientation, disability, religion or 
political beliefs. 

Employee Development

Tri-Pack continued to provide developmental opportunities to its 
employees at all levels, with the aim of enhancing their leadership, 
management and soft skills, to enable them to maximize their 
potential and help achieve individual and organizational goals. 
Various training programs were held in 2015 comprising of key 
functional, technical and soft skills trainings.

Employee Awareness

In 2015, a special focus was to educate employees on significant 
policies and code of conduct. Various roadshows were conducted 
at different locations covering Hattar, Port Qasim and Lahore 
region. 

Succession Planning

Tri-Pack realizes the importance of a strong talent pipeline and 
hence our focus in 2015 and beyond is to develop and identify 
bench strength for all critical roles within the organization. We 
have embarked on developing succession plans for key positions 
by virtue of which we not only identify but foster the next 
generation of leaders through mentoring and training so that they 
are ready to take the helm when the time comes. Comprehensive 
Individual Development Plans (IDP’s) have been developed for 
incumbents in critical role.
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Tri-Pack ensures that there is an accountable and transparent mechanism that 
enables all employees to voice concerns internally in a responsible and effective 
manner when they discover information which they believe shows serious 
malpractice.

Our whistleblowing practice is therefore fundamental to our professional 
integrity; it reinforces the value the Company places on its people to be honest 
and respected members of their individual professions. Our Speak Out function 
provides a method for properly addressing bona fide concerns that individuals 
within the Company might have, while also offering whistleblowers protection 
from victimization, harassment or disciplinary proceedings. 

This policy covers situations where an employee (the whistleblower) raises a 
concern about a risk, malpractice or wrongdoing that affects others such as 
clients, suppliers, other employees, the Company or the public interest.

This policy is intended to assist employees who believe they have discovered 
malpractice or impropriety, it is not designed to question financial or business 
decisions taken by the Company nor should it be used to reconsider any matters 
which have been investigated under the harassment policy and procedure. 

No disciplinary action will be taken for allegations made in good faith that are not 
confirmed by investigation. However, disciplinary action may be taken against an 
employee if he/she makes allegations that are malicious or simply to cause anger, 
irritation or distress.

Employees should notify the matter to the following as soon as they become 
aware of any suspected wrongdoing: 

• Line manager
• Internal Complaints Committee
• HR Department. 

Concerns can be raised by email, orally or in writing, stating that you are using the 
Speak Up Policy.
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speak up pol icy 

46



calendar of  events 

Tri-Pack Films Limited

calendar of  events calendar of  events calendar of  events 
Januaray

16th
HR & Personnel 
Away Day

19th
BOD meeting

19th
Audit Committee 
meeting

20th
BOD meeting

26th
Record production 
of 153 tons

March

8th & 19th
Operations
Away Day

30th
Finance Away Day

May

8th
Summer 
Internship 
Program

June

14th 
Materials 
Engineering 
Students from NED 
visit Tri-Pack

Health Awareness 
Session IGI

20th
Audit Committee 
meeting

21th 
BOD meeting

October

4th
BOD meeting

23rd
TPFL Cricket 
Tournament Final

December

2nd
Donation Drive - 
Goodwill project for 
Dar ul Sakun

27th
Audit Committee 
meeting

28th
BOD meeting

April

14th 
Materials Audit Committee 

5th
Road Safety Day – 
Awareness Session 
by IGI

17th
Audit Committee 
meeting

18th
BOD meeting

22nd
Blood Donation 
Drive with Fatimid 
Foundation

August

September
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Liquidity, cash flow & debt management 

The Company, through efficient and optimum utilization of resources maintained its liquidity ratios to optimum levels. 

Unrelenting focus on working capital management, strict cost controls and smart margin management contributed towards a strong financial 
performance resulted in significantly higher cash flows as compared to prior periods. Most of cash flows generated were utilized in the 
repayment of long term loans. 

The management being wary of the changing external factors affecting the liquidity of the Company monitors the cash position on a daily 
basis through a dedicated reporting mechanism.   

The Company has financing arrangements with all the reputed banks and has obtained both short term and long term loans to fund its 
expansion projects and to meet short term working capital requirements. Constant engagement with banks is the essence of maintaining a 
healthy business relationship, which also helps us in utilizing varied forms of funding to minimize our cost of borrowing. The repayment of 
long term loans is being made as per schedule.

Capital Structure

Strong performance and better liquidity positively impacted the long term debt to equity ratio which closed at 63:37. The Company has plans 
to issue its very first Rights Issue with an aim to further improve the the capital structure. 

Changes in financial position, liquidity and performance

Despite volatile business environment the year closed on high notes with the Company posting highest ever EBITDA. Consequently, all the 
performance indicators including liquidity, gearing and profitability ratios improved significantly compared to last year. 

analysis of  resources 
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The Company has a robust process of determining financial and non-financial targets for all the teams. Financial targets are set during the 
budgeting exercise, which after review by the Executive Management Team and on recommendation of Board Audit Committee are 
approved by the Board of Directors of the Company. These financial targets are cascaded down as the key performance indicators at 
department and individual level.

At Tri-Pack non-financial targets are closely linked with the short term and long term objectives of the Company and are set as part of the 
objective setting process at the start of the year. These include employee engagement scores, environmental benchmarks, quality 
benchmarks, training and development targets etc.

The financial and non-financial targets set for the year 2015 have been convincingly achieved.

analysis of  f inancial  & non-f inancial  targets 

market share information 

Tri-Pack Films Limited

BOPP

65%
Market Share

CPP

40%
Market Share

segment information BOPP

80%
CPP

20%
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swot
analysis 

Threats

Strengths
• Board of Directors consists of a mix of local and foreign 

members with decades of successful business 
experience. 

• Owing to the Group’s financial strength, Tri-Pack is one 
of the most preferred business partners of banks and 
financial institutions. 

• High quality product and customer service.

• The Company is in constant R&D, enjoying a first mover 
advantage in terms of prices and products. R&D helps 
the Company to remain market leader in terms of 
market share and innovation.

• State of the art technology.

• High operational capacity ensures the Company’s 
ability to meet growing demand.

• Interest rate fluctuation, whereby an increase in the 
interest rate may adversely impact the profitability 
of the business, due to high leverage of the 
Company.

• The expansion in capacities of BOPP and CPP has 
created a situation of oversupply in the industry 
which can increase competition amongst the local 
players in short term any further enhancement in 
capacities will exacerbate the situation. 

• Currency exchange volatility.

• Illegal imports particularly through Afghan transit 
trade and other routes.

• Dumping at uneconomical prices.

• Unrealistic BOPET prices taking away BOPP 
market share.

Weakness
• Dependence on imported 

raw material.

• Tri-Pack has the capacity to diversify its products 
and cater to large orders, which makes it the 
preferred choice for large companies.

• Target the export potential with growth in 
demand of BOPP and CPP films.

• Growth and investments in conversion & printing 
sector which is the primary user of films.

• Shift from non-packaged to packaged food would 
spur growth for films.

Opportunities

• High operational capacity ensures the Company’s 
ability to meet growing demand.

• Interest rate fluctuation, whereby an increase in the 
interest rate may adversely impact the profitability 
of the business, due to high leverage of the 

• The expansion in capacities of BOPP and CPP has 
created a situation of oversupply in the industry 
which can increase competition amongst the local 
players in short term any further enhancement in 

• Illegal imports particularly through Afghan transit 

• Unrealistic BOPET prices taking away BOPP 

SWOT
ANALYSIS
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Statement of Ethics & Business Practices 

A. Tri-Pack Films Limited shall endeavor to promote fair business practices and 
conduct the business with the principles of integrity, objectivity and financial 
prudence.

B. It is the policy of the Company to comply with all applicable laws, rules and 
regulations. Violations may result in disciplinary actions.

C. All employees are expected to adhere to all internal corporate rules and 
policies in the performance of their jobs.

D. Employees must avoid conflicts of interest between their private financial 
activities and conduct of Company business.

E. All managers and supervisors shall be responsible to see that there is no 
violation of law within their area of responsibility and take proper measures 
within corporate policy framework and financial ethics standards.

annualreport2015

governance 
framework
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Corporate Governance Framework

Tri-Pack has been guided by a value system that emphasizes on 
high standards of integrity and trust at all levels of the organization. 
Our policies and practices are to ensure that the Company is 
managed with integrity in the best interest of shareholders. In 
addition, we are committed to upholding sound principles of 
corporate governance and to meeting the requirements of all 
statutory laws and regulations and the rules of Stock Exchange of 
the country. The Board of Directors has adopted Code of Corporate 
Governance, which along with the charters of the Board 
Committees, the Company’s Code of Conduct for employees and 
operational policies and procedures, provide the framework for the 
governance of the Company.

Internal Control Framework

The purpose of internal control framework, whilst ensuring conduct 
of business in smooth, orderly and efficient manner is to:

• Protect and safeguard the Company’s assets;

• Prevent and detect fraud and error;

• Ensure the completeness and accuracy of the financial records;

• Comply with management policies and procedures.

The Board of Directors through the Senior Management is 
responsible to ensure the adequacy of the system of internal control 
covering both business and financial aspects. The internal control 
system and compliance with the requirements are monitored 
through well documented Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) 
and a combination of audit reviews and periodic performance 

monitoring. The results of these processes are communicated to the 
Board of Directors through its Audit Committee which has the 
ultimate responsibility for the effectiveness of internal control.

While developing controls, the extent and cost of control 
procedures are assessed with a view to reduce risk to an acceptable 
and cost effective level.

The Board Audit Committee

The Committee meets at least once every quarter and assists the 
Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities, primarily in 
reviewing and reporting financial and non-financial information to 
shareholders, systems of internal control and risk management and 
the audit process. It has the power to call for information from 
management and to consult directly with the external auditors and 
other advisors as considered appropriate. The Chief Financial 
Officer regularly attends the Board Audit Committee meetings by 
invitation to present the accounts. After each meeting, the 
Chairman of the Committee reports to the Board.

Audit

The Company has an effective Internal Audit function which has 
been outsourced to Ernst & Young Ford Rhodes Sidat Hyder, 
Chartered Accountants. The Board Audit Committee periodically 
reviews the appropriateness of this function. The Head of Internal 
Audit functionally reports to the Audit Committee. The Board Audit 
Committee approves the audit plan. The Internal Audit function 
carries out reviews on the financial, operational and compliance 
controls and reports on findings to the Board Audit Committee, 
Chief Executive and the management.

Tri-Pack Films Limited53



annualreport2015

Risk Management

The purpose of this framework is to define and identify risks which 
may compromise the achievement of business objectives and to 
implement controls against such risks. To assess and manage credit, 
investment, business, operational and risks arising from change, 
appropriate steps are defined in their respective policies and 
operational SOPs.

Speak Up

Tri-Pack Films has a formal whistle blowing policy, which has been 
communicated to the entire workforce. The policy is covered under 
“Speak Up” section in this report.

Insider Trading 

The Company has a defined policy on insider trading. The purpose 
of this policy is to set forth guidelines on purchase or sale of 
securities while in possession of inside information.
 
The policy requires all employees to maintain confidentiality of 
inside information at all times. The Company takes effective steps to 
maintain and update a list of employees who have access to inside 
information. Moreover, according to the policy no employee shall 
transact directly or indirectly in Company’s securities while in 
possession of inside information. 

Related Party Transactions

The Company has an approved policy on related party transactions, 
which states that: 

All commercial transactions between the Company and related 
parties shall be based on arm’s length basis unless otherwise 
approved by the Board. The record of all related party transaction 
shall also be placed before the Board of Directors at each Board 
meeting for formal approval;

The Company shall not enter into a transaction where pricing 
would be difficult to justify. 

IT Governance

Tri-Pack believes that without strong IT Governance, the business 
value of IT is substantially impaired and the organization becomes 
subject to the inefficiencies of short-term, tactical IT deployments, 
unproductive use of human resources and IT assets, breaches of 
data security and regulatory requirements. IT Governance structure 
fully capable of meeting business and reporting challenges is in 
place.

Directors

The Board is comprised of one executive director, one 
non-executive independent director and five non-executive 
directors. The Board has the collective responsibility for ensuring 
that the affairs of the company are managed competently and with 
integrity. All Board members are given appropriate documentation 
in advance of each Board meeting. This normally includes a 
detailed analysis on businesses and full papers on matters where the 
Board requires to make a decision or give its approval.
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Directors‘  Training

The Company arranged one orientation course for its Directors 
during the year. Three directors of the Company viz., Syed Babar 
Ali, Syed Hyder Ali and Mr. Asif Qadir are exempted from the 
directors training program as per clause 5.19.7 of the Code of 
Corporate Governance, since apart from having a minimum of 14 
years of education, their experience on the board of listed 
companies is 15 years or more. Syed Aslam Mehdi, Mr. Kimihide 
Ando, Mr. Yasumasa Kondo and Mr. Khurram Raza Bakhtayari have 
less than 15 years’ experience on the board of listed companies. 
Syed Aslam Mehdi and Mr. Kimihide Ando have obtained 
certification during the year under the directors training program 
which meets the criteria specified by the Securities and Exchange 
Commission of Pakistan. Mr. Khurram Raza Bakhtayari and Mr. 
Yasumasa Kondo have been earmarked to obtain certification under 
the directors training program during the next six months.

Independence, Conflict of Interest & Material Interest

As per the requirements of law the Board includes one 
non-executive independent director who is also the chairman of 
Board Audit Committee and Human Resource & Remuneration 
Committee. 

Material interests are reviewed regularly to avoid any conflict of 
interest. The directors of the Company disclose their memberships / 
directorships in other corporate bodies as per the requirements of 
Companies Ordinance 1984.

Role of the Board

The Company has a Corporate Governance Policy in place, which 
provides guidelines about administration of Board of Directors. 

The Board of Directors of the Company meets on quarterly basis as 
required by the Companies Ordinance 1984. Moreover, the Board 
can also be convened to approve significant matters such as 
approval of revenue and capital budget of the Company, to review 
significant changes in the operations of the Company including 
plans for expansion, capital and operational restructuring, approval 
of new policies & procedures and significant amendments to 
current policies & procedures etc. Due communication is made of 
all such meetings and their outcome as required by the Securities 
and Exchange Commission of Pakistan.

Principal Board Committees including Executive Committee, Board 
Audit Committee and Human Resource and Remuneration 
Committee are also in place to oversee the operations of the 
Company.

The Board of Directors systematically designs procedures to ensure 
sound, transparent and efficient corporate management. The 
Company makes decisions to conduct business activities as 
appropriate in the light of the size, industry sector and relevant laws 
and regulations. 

The Board has authorized the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) to 
maximize corporate value in conformity with the law, internal 
corporate rules, memorandum and articles of association of the 
Company while considering the overall interest of shareholders. 

The Board has authorized the CEO to define the Company’s mission / 
vision statement and ensure the alignment of objectives, from grass root 
level to the top, with the mission / vision.

The Board regularly evaluates performance of the Company 
ensuring proper conduct of operations directly and indirectly 
through Board Committees and the CEO. 
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board of directors 

Syed Hyder Ali

Mr. Ali is a Non-Executive Member of the Board since inception. He has done his Masters in Sciences from Institute of Paper 
Chemistry. He holds Directorships in several other companies including Bulleh Shah Packaging (Private) Limited, Flexible  
Packages Convertors (Pty) Limited, IGI Insurance Limited, IGI Life Insurance Company Limited, International Steels Limited, 
KSB Pumps Company Limited, Nestle Pakistan Limited, Packages Construction (Private) Limited, Packages Lanka (Private) 
Limited, Packages Limited, Sanofi-Aventis Pakistan Limited and Tetra Pak Pakistan Limited. He is also serving on the Boards of 
certain philanthropic, educational, charitable and business support organizations including Babar Ali Foundtion, Pakistan 
Centre for Philanthropy, World Wide Fund for Nature, National Management Foundation, Packages Foundation, Syed Maratib 
Ali Religious and Charitable Trust Society,  Ali Institute of Education, International Chamber of Commerce Pakistan and Lahore 
University of Management Sciences (LUMS).

Syed Babar Ali - Chairman

Mr. Ali is the founder of various industries and social welfare institutions. He is the Chairman of Board of Directors since 
inception of the Company. Besides Tri-Pack, he is the Chairman of Ali Institute of Education, Babar Ali Foundation, Coca Cola 
Beverages Pakistan Limited, Gurmani Foundation, IGI Insurance Limited, IGI Investment Bank Limited, Industrial Technical 
&Educational Institute, National Management Foundation, Sanofi-Aventis Pakistan Limited, Syed Maratib Ali Religious and 
Charitable Trust Society and Tetra Pak Pakistan Limited. Mr. Ali is also a Director in Nestle Pakistan Limited and Pro-Chancellor 
of Lahore University of Management Sciences (LUMS).
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Mr. Khurram Raza Bakhtayari

Mr. Bakhtayari, currently the Chief Financial Officer of Packages Limited, is a Non-Executive Member of the Board. He 
did his Bachelors in Commerce in 1997 from the Hailey College of Commerce, University of the Punjab, Lahore and 
thereafter qualified as a Chartered Accountant in 2002 from the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan. He 
became a fellow member of the Institute in January 2013. He has over 10 years of experience in Pakistan in the field  of  
corporate  finance,  accountancy,  treasury,  auditing,  corporate  affairs  and  administration.  He  holds Directorships 
in several other companies including Anemone Holdings Limited, Bulleh Shah Packaging (Private) Limited, CalciPack 
(Private) Limited, DIC Pakistan Limited, Flexible Packages Convertors (Pty) Limited, IGI Investment Bank Limited, IGI 
Life Insurance Company Limited, Loads Limited, Maxim International (Private) Limited, MeatTech (Private) Limited, 
Multiple Autoparts Industries (Private) Limited, Packages Construction (Private) Limited, Packages Lanka (Private) 
Limited, Specialized Autoparts Industries (Private) Limited and Specialized Motorcycles (Private) Limited. Besides, Tetra 
Pak Pakistan Limited. Mr. Bakhtayari is the Executive Committee Member of Naqsh School of Arts.

Mr. Kimihide Ando

Mr. Ando is associated with the Company as Non-Executive Director. He is the General Manager for Mitsubishi 
Corporation of Japan's operations in Pakistan. He has a degree in liberal arts from the International Christian 
University, Tokyo, Japan and has been with Mitsubishi Corporation for 29 years. He has a diverse experience in 
chemicals. He joined the Tri-Pack Board in 2010 and is also on the Boards of Engro Polymer & Chemicals Limited, 
Punjab Board of Investment and Trade and Vice President of Pakistan Japan Business Forum. 
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Mr. Yasumasa Kondo 

Mr. Kondo is a Non-Executive Member of the Board. He joined Mitsubishi Corporation of Japan in the year 1986 and has 
worked in different companies associated with the Group. He has served as a General Manager at PVC and Plastic Units of 
Mitsubishi Corporation. He graduated in 1986 from the University of Tokyo.

Mr. Asif Qadir

Mr. Qadir holds a degree in Chemical Engineering from Columbia University, New York, USA. He was elected as 
Non-Executive Independent Director of the Company on October 03, 2012. He serves on the Boards of Descon Oxychem 
Limited, Karachi Stock Exchange Limited, Thal Limited and Cherat Cement Limited. He is Chairman of the Board for Unicol 
Limited.

 Syed Aslam Mehdi

Mr. Mehdi serves on the Board of Directors of Tri-Pack Films Limited. Formerly, he was the General Manager at Packages 
Limited. He has been affiliated with the Packages Group since 1980 from where there was no looking back. Having a Master's 
Degree from IBA, Mr. Mehdi brings with him a wealth of management experience, especially in the areas of Marketing, 
Operational Excellence and People Management. Currently, Mr. Mehdi is also serving on the Boards of Bulleh Shah Packaging 
(Private) Limited, DIC Pakistan Limited, Packages Construction (Private) Limited, Packages Foundation, Packages Limited, 
Pakistan Japan Business Forum, Printcare Plc, Sri Lanka, Tetra Pak Pakistan Limited and Member - National Management 
Foundation (LUMS). 
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principal  board committees 
Executive Committee

• Kimihide Ando (Chairman) • Syed Hyder Ali 
• Khurram Raza Bakhtyari  • Syed Aslam Mehdi

The Executive Committee ensures effective and efficient operations of the 
Company. They meet periodically to assess the progress of the Company against 
the set targets. The committee is authorized to conduct every business except the 
business carried out by the Board of Directors as required by the section 196 of 
the Companies Ordinance 1984.

Audit Committee

• Asif Qadir (Chairman)  • Kimihide Ando 
• Khurram Raza Bakhtyari  • Yasumasa Kondo

Terms of Reference of Board Audit Committee

Purpose

To assist the Board of Directors in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities in the 
following areas:

1. Review the adequacy and effectiveness of the system for assessment and 
management of risk in the Company under its management control. 

2. Financial reporting process, the system of internal control, the audit process, 
and the process for monitoring compliance with SECP’s Code of Corporate 
Governance and other laws and regulations by the Company.

3. Effectiveness of internal control measures, compliance with policies on 
Corporate Governance and Business Conduct and applicable laws and 
regulations.

Authority

The Audit Committee has authority to conduct or authorize investigations into 
any matters within its scope of functional responsibilities. It is empowered to:

• Decide, through the Board of Directors, on matters regarding the selection, 
compensation and appointment of external auditors by the Company’s 
shareholders. 

• Consider any questions of external auditors’ resignation or removal and 
review any provision by them of any service in addition to audit of the 
Company's financial statements. 

• Review and resolve any disagreements between management and the 
external auditors regarding financial reporting. 

• Employ independent counsel, accountants, or others to advise the 
Committee or assist in the conduct of an investigation.

• Seek any information it requires from management, employees, auditors or 
external parties in the fulfillment of its functional responsibilities.

Composition

• The Audit Committee will be constituted by the Company’s Board of 
Directors. It will consist of at least four members including the Chairperson 
who will be nominated by the Board. The Committee will be appointed for 
a period of three years.

• The Head of Internal Audit of the Company shall report to the Audit 
Committee on all functional matters.

Meetings

• The Audit Committee will meet at least once every quarter prior to the 
approval of interim results of the Company as well as before and after 
completion of the external audit. Special meetings may be held at the 
request of any member of the Committee, external auditors or Head of 
Internal Audit.

• The quorum for a Committee meeting shall be two members if the 
Chairperson is present and three members if he /she are not. 
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• For the quarterly review of financial statements the Chief Financial Officer 
must be present. Additionally the presence of a representative of the external 
auditors is necessary at Committee meetings where issues relating to annual 
accounts and / or external audit are being discussed. 

• The CEOs of the Company may be consulted by the Committee when 
important matters concerning their organizations are to be discussed.

• At least once a year the Committee shall meet the external auditors without 
the Chief Financial Officer and Head of Internal Audit being present and also 
meet the Head of Internal Audit and other members of the Internal Audit 
function in the absence of the Chief Financial Officer and the external 
auditors. 

• Meeting agendas will be prepared by the Secretary and provided to 
Committee members at least one week in advance along with appropriate 
briefing materials. He will also finalize the minutes of Committee meetings 
and circulate them to all members, directors and Company executives 
within a fortnight of the meetings.

Functional Responsibilities

The Committee shall have the following responsibilities:

Financial Statements

• Review of preliminary announcements of the Company’s results prior to 
publication and consider whether they are complete and consistent with the 
information known to Committee members. 

• Review of the quarterly, half-yearly and annual financial statements of the 
Company prior to their approval by the Board of Directors. The review 
should focus on:

 o Major judgmental areas 
 o Complex or unusual transactions or significant adjustments resulting 

from the audit
 o Going concern assumption

 o Changes in accounting policies and practices
 o Compliance with applicable accounting / reporting standards
 o Compliance with listing regulations and other statutory / regulatory 

requirements

• Review with management and the external auditors the results of the audit, 
including any difficulties encountered.

• If necessary and as determined by the Board Audit Committee, review with 
management, internal auditors and with Legal department, any litigation, 
claims or other contingency, including tax assessments that could have a 
material effect on the Company’s financial position or operating results.

Compliance, Risk & Internal Control

• Monitor compliance with best practices of corporate governance by the 
Company under its management control as well as identification and steps 
to correct significant violations thereof. 

• Review reports on violations of business ethics and conflicts of interest issues 
at the Company under its management control and monitor compliance 
with the Company’s relevant policies. 

• Review and handle complaints according to the Company’s Speak-Up 
Policy. 

• Monitor compliance with relevant statutory requirements and review 
findings of any examinations by regulatory agencies 

• Determine the effectiveness of measures to safeguard Company’s assets. 

• Review business contingency plans for managing high risk areas. 

• Review management’s policies and practices and ascertain the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the Company's system of internal control, including 
financial and operational controls, accounting system and reporting 
structure, and information technology security and control.
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• Review Company’s statement on internal control systems prior to endorse-
ment by Board of Directors, and deviations from this system which may 
cause material effects on its financial position and operating results. 

• Perform any other overseeing functions as requested by the Board of 
Directors.

Internal Audit

• Review the organizational structure, qualifications, skills set and experience 
of the Internal Audit function and ensure that it has adequate resources to 
effectively carry out its role.

• Review the overall internal audit scope and extent, the annual audit plans 
and all major changes thereto at the Company and monitor implementation. 

• Review and concur in the appointment, remuneration and performance of 
Company’s Head of Internal Audit. 

• Review internal auditors’ findings and recommendations including major 
findings of internal investigations and management’s responses/corrective 
actions. Report matters of audit significance to the Company’s Board.

External Audit

• Facilitate the external audit and ensure external auditor’s coordination with 
internal audit including review of internal audit reports by external auditors.

• Review the performance of the Company’s external auditors and 
recommend to the Board on matters regarding their appointment, fees or 
discharge.

• Review and confirm the independence of the external auditors by obtaining 
written statements from them regarding any interests, other than auditing 
fees, that they may have in the Company and nature of their relationship with 
the Company, including non-audit services or employment of former 
employees of the external auditors. 

• Examine external auditor’s internal control memorandum / management 
letters on internal accounting controls and other audit findings and also 
review management’s responses thereto.

Reporting Responsibilities

• Annually report to the Board of Directors about committee activities, issues, 
and related recommendations.

Human Resource and Remuneration (HR&R) Committee

• Mr. Asif Qadir (Chairman)  • Mr. Khurram Raza Bakhtayari
• Syed Aslam Mehdi • Mr. Kimihide Ando

As per the requirement of the Clause (xxv) of the Code of Corporate Governance 
2012 a Human Resource and Remuneration (HR&R) Committee was formulated 
in 2012. 

Terms of Reference of the Human Resource and Remuneration (HR&R) Com-
mittee

• Recommending human resource management policies to the board; 

• Recommending to the board the selection, evaluation, compensation 
(including retirement benefits) and succession planning of the CEO; 

• Recommending to the board the selection, evaluation, compensation 
(including retirement benefits) of the CEO, CFO, Company Secretary and 
Head of Internal Audit; and

• Consideration and approval on recommendations of the CEO on such 
matters for key management positions who report directly to the CEO.
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organizat ional  structure 
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Board of Directors

Executive Committee

Human Resource and 
Remuneration Committee

Audit Committee

*Head of  Internal Audit

Chief Executive

HSE Manager Head of Manufacturing Head of 
Human Resource

Chief Financial Officer
& Chief Commercial Officer

62

*Coordinator. Internal Audit is outsourced to M/s Ernst & Young Ford Rhodes Sidat Hyder, Chartered Accountants



statement of compl iance
with the code of corporate governance 
This statement is being presented to comply with the Code of Corporate 
Governance (the “Code”) contained in the Listing Regulations of Pakistan Stock 
Exchange for the purpose of establishing a framework of good governance, 
whereby a listed company is managed in compliance with the best practices of 
corporate governance.

The Company has applied the principles contained in the Code in the following 
manner:

1. The Company encourages representation of independent non-executive 
directors and directors representing minority interests on its Board of 
Directors. At present the Board includes:

 Category Names
 Independent Director Mr. Asif Qadir
 Executive Director Syed Aslam Mehdi
 Non-Executive Directors Syed Babar Ali
  Syed Hyder Ali
  Mr. Kimihide Ando
  Mr. Khurram Raza Bakhtayari
  Mr. Yasumasa Kondo

The independent director meets the criteria of independence under clause i(b) of 
the Code.

2. The Directors have confirmed that none of them is serving as a director on 
more than seven listed companies, including this Company (excluding the 
listed subsidiaries of listed holding companies).

3. All the resident directors of the Company are registered as taxpayers and 
none of them has defaulted in payment of any loan to a banking company, a 
DFI or an NBFI or, being a member of stock exchange, has been declared as 
a defaulter by that stock exchange.

4. No casual vacancy occurred during the year. 

5. The Company has prepared a “Code of Conduct” and has ensured that 
appropriate steps have been taken to disseminate it throughout the Company 
along with its supporting policies and procedures. 

6. The Board has developed a Vision/Mission Statement, overall corporate 
strategy and significant policies of the Company. A complete record of 
particulars of significant policies along with the dates on which they were 
approved or amended has been maintained. 

7. All the powers of the Board have been duly exercised and decisions on 
material transactions, including appointment and determination of 
remuneration and terms and conditions of employment of the CEO, other 
executive and non-executive directors, have been taken by the Board.

8. The meetings of the Board were presided over by the Chairman and, in his 
absence, by a Director elected by the Board for this purpose and the Board 
met at least once in every quarter. Written notices of the Board meetings, 
along with agenda and working papers, were circulated at least seven days 
before the meetings. The minutes of the meetings were appropriately 
recorded and circulated.

9. The Company arranged one orientation course for its Directors during the 
year. Three directors of the Company viz., Syed Babar Ali, Syed Hyder Ali 
and Mr. Asif Qadir are exempted from the directors training program as per 
clause 5.19.7 of the Code of Corporate Governance, since apart from having 
a minimum of 14 years of education, their experience on the board of listed 
companies is 15 years or more.  Syed Aslam Mehdi, Mr. Kimihide Ando, Mr. 
Yasumasa Kondo and Mr. Khurram Raza Bakhtayari have less than 15 years 
experience on the board of listed companies. Syed Aslam Mehdi and Mr. 
Kimihide Ando have obtained certification during the year under the 
directors training program which meets the criteria specified by the Securities 
and Exchange Commission of Pakistan. Mr. Khurram Raza Bakhtayari and 
Mr. Yasumasa Kondo have been earmarked to obtain certification under the 
directors training program during the next six months.

Tri-Pack Films Limited

for the year ended December 31, 2015
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10. The Board had approved appointment of CFO, Company Secretary and 
Head of Internal Audit, including their remuneration and terms and 
conditions of employment as determined by the CEO. No new appointment 
was made during the year.

11. The Directors’ Report for this year has been prepared in compliance with the 
requirements of the Code and fully describes the salient matters required to 
be disclosed.

12. The financial statements of the Company were duly endorsed by CEO and 
CFO before approval of the Board.

13. The Directors, CEO and executives do not hold any interest in the shares of 
the Company other than that disclosed in the pattern of shareholding. 

14. The Company has complied with all the corporate and financial reporting 
requirements of the Code.

15. The Board has formed an Audit Committee. It comprises of four members, all 
of whom are non-executive directors and the Chairman of the Committee is 
an independent director.

16. The meetings of the Audit Committee were held at least once every quarter 
prior to approval of interim and final results of the Company. The terms of 
reference of the Committee have been formed and advised to the Committee 
for compliance.

17. The Board has formed a Human Resource and Remuneration Committee. It 
comprises of four members, of whom three are non-executive directors, 
including its Chairman. One non-executive Director was included as a 
member of the Committee during the year.

18. The Board has outsourced the internal audit function to Ernst & Young, Ford 
Rhodes Sidat Hyder, Chartered Accountants who are considered suitably 
qualified and experienced for the purpose and are conversant with the 
policies and procedures of the Company. The Head of Internal Audit 
resigned during the year. Appointment of new Head of Internal Audit was 
approved in the meeting of Board of Directors dated February 17th, 2016. 

19. The statutory auditors of the Company have confirmed that they have been 
given a satisfactory rating under the quality control review program of the 
ICAP, that they or any of the partners of the firm, their spouses and minor 
children do not hold shares of the Company and that the firm and all its 
partners are in compliance with International Federation of Accountants 
(IFAC) guidelines on code of ethics as adopted by the ICAP.

20. The statutory auditors or the persons associated with them have not been 
appointed to provide other services except in accordance with the listing 
regulations and the auditors have confirmed that they have observed IFAC 
guidelines in this regard.

21. The ‘closed period’, prior to the announcement of interim/final results, and 
business decisions, which may materially affect the market price of the 
Company’s securities, was determined and intimated to directors, employees 
and stock exchanges.

22. Material/price sensitive information has been disseminated among all 
market participants at once through stock exchanges.

23. We confirm that all other material principles enshrined in the Code have 
been complied with.

Karachi: 
Date: February 17, 2016

Syed Aslam Mehdi
Chief Executive
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review report  to the members on statement of compl iance
with best pract ices of the code of corporate governance 
We have reviewed the enclosed  Statement of Compliance with the 
best practices contained in  the  Code  of Corporate  Governance 
(the  Code)  prepared  by  the  Board  of Directors  of Tri-Pack Films 
Limited (the Company) for the year ended December 31, 2015 to 
comply with the Code contained in regulation No. 5.19 of the Rule 
Book of the Pakistan Stock Exchange Limited. 

The responsibility for compliance with the Code is that of the Board 
of Directors of the Company. Our responsibility is to review, to the 
extent where such compliance can be objectively verified, whether 
the Statement of Compliance reflects the status of the Company's 
compliance with the provisions of the Code and report if it does not 
and to highlight any non-compliance with the requirements of the 
Code. A review is limited primarily to inquiries of the Company's 
personnel and review of various documents prepared by the 
Company to comply with the Code. 

As a part of our audit of financial statements we are required to 
obtain an understanding of the accounting and internal control 
systems sufficient to plan the audit and develop an effective audit 
approach. We are not required to consider whether the Board of 
Directors' statement on internal control covers all risks and controls 

or to form an opinion on the effectiveness of such internal controls, 
the Company's corporate governance procedures and risks. 

The Code required the Company to place before the Audit 
Committee, and upon recommendation of the Audit Committee, 
place before the Board of Directors for their review and approval its 
related party transactions distinguishing between transactions 
carried out on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm's length 
transactions and transactions which are not executed at arm's 
length price and recording proper justification for using such 
alternate pricing mechanism. We are only required and have 
ensured compliance of this requirement to the extent of the 
approval of the related party transactions by the Board of Directors 
upon recommendation of the Audit Committee. We have not 
carried out any procedures to determine whether the related party 
transactions were undertaken at arm's length price or not. 

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention which 
causes us to believe that the Statement of Compliance does not 
appropriately reflect the Company's compliance, in all material 
respects, with the best practices contained in the Code as 
applicable to the Company for the year ended December 31, 2015. 

Tri-Pack Films Limited

A.F. Ferguson & Co.
Chartered Accountants 

Audit Engagement Partner: Farrukh Rehaman

Karachi, February 25, 2016 
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key f inancial  information 

Sales Revenue 11,954  13,597 
(Rs in Million)
  
Operating Profit 1,228  487 
(Rs in Million)
  
Profit/(Loss) before taxation 472  (331)
(Rs in Million)
  
Profit/(Loss) after taxation 498  (200)
(Rs in Million)
  
Earning/(Loss) per share (EPS) 14.86  *(5.95)
(Rupees)
  
Fixed Assets 6,738  7,224 
(Rs in Million)

  

Shareholders equity 2,114  1,634 
(Rs in Million)
  
EBITDA 1,891  1,274 
(Rs in Million)
  
Price Earning Ratio 16.60  *(43.84)
(In Times)
  
No of Employees 409  436 

  
Production 48,060  49,402 
(In Metric Tons)
  
Cash Generated 2,957  493
from Operations
(Rs in Million)

2015 2014 2015 2014

* Restated



Net Sales* 
11,954,171 

2015

Tri-Pack Films Limited

dupont analysis 
ROE

23.57%

Net Profit 
Margin
4.17%

Total Assets 
Turnover
106%

Assets to 
Equity Ratio

5 

Net Profit* 
498,191 

Total Assets 
(NBV)*

 11,314,925  

Equity*
2,113,802 

Net Sales*
13,597,081

2014 ROE
-12.21%

Net Profit 
Margin
-1.47%

Total Assets 
Turnover
104%

Assets to 
Equity Ratio

8 

Net Profit* 
(199,646)

Total Assets 
(NBV)*

13,076,574  

Equity*
1,634,453

67
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quaterly analysis 
Particulars 1st Qtr 2nd Qtr 3rd Qtr 4th Qtr Total

Revenue  2,639,155  3,617,809  2,742,803  2,954,404  11,954,171 
     
Cost of sales  (2,421,500) (2,808,676) (2,414,060) (2,452,670) (10,096,906)
Gross profit  217,655  809,133  328,743  501,734  1,857,265 
Distribution costs (74,922) (83,830) (72,367) (55,109) (286,228)

Administrative costs (72,350) (92,512) (78,988) (98,792) (342,642)

Operating profit 70,383  632,791  177,388  347,833  1,228,395 
Other income 6,741  21,614  12,931  19,389  60,675 
     
Finance costs (240,788) (174,390) (233,265) (133,473) (781,916)
     
Other expenses -   (22,757) 1,540  (13,759) (34,976)
     
Profit / (loss) before tax (163,664) 457,258  (41,406) 219,990  472,178 
     
Less: Taxation (15,000) (3,173) (10,000) 2,160  (26,013)
     
Profit / (loss) after tax (148,664) 460,431  (31,406) 217,830  498,191 

Rupees in '000

2015
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Tri-Pack Films Limited

commentary /  analysis
During the year Revenue fluctuated mainly on the back of volatility in prices along with volumes. In Q1 2015 the impact of lower prices carried forward from 
December 2014 led to cautious buying from customers. The situation improved many folds in Q2 when the revenue increased 37% compared to Q1. However, 
revenue decreased in Q3 by 15% compared to Q2 only to increase again in Q4.

Margins remained under pressure during Q1. Effective Margin Management in Q2, resulted in higher margins during the quarter when Gross Profit to Sales % remained 
22%. With raw material prices remaining volatile in Q3 & Q4, margins decreased in Q3 and increased again in Q4. 

Trend in revenue and margins trickled down to Operating Profit, hence Operating Profit to sales ratio at 17% during Q2 was the highest for any quarter during the year. 
It remained at 3%, 6% and 12% for Q1, Q3 and Q4 respectively.

Net Profit situation wasn’t much different with a net loss of Rs149 million in Q1. In Q2 Net Profit soared to Rs 460million on the back of strong margins decreasing 
finance costs and stable Pak Rupee value against major currencies. In Q3 profitability was impacted by the one-off exchange loss of Rs 80million. With improved top 
line, better margins and stable finance cost Net Profit in Q4 was Rs 218 million.

-40

-20

0

20

40

60

80

100

22%
12%

97% 92%

47% 44%

(35%) (30%)

(9%)
(6%)

30% 44%

18%

27%

23%

25%

Revenue Gross profit Profit / (loss)
before tax 

Profit / (loss)
after tax

1st Quarter

2nd Quarter

3rd Quarter

4th Quarter
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balance sheet composit ion 

Fixed and Current Assets 

Equities and Liabilities

Equity & Reserves 19%

Long-term Financing Facility 32%

Non-Current Liability 1%

Current Liabilities 48%

2015
Equity & Reserves 12%

Long-term Financing Facility 35%

Non-Current Liability 1%

Current Liabilities 52%

2014

Property, plant and equipment 59%

Stores and spares 3%

Stock in trade 11%

Trade debts - net 11%

Advances and prepayments 1%

Other receivables 1%

Income tax - net 10%

Cash and bank balances 3%

2015
Property, plant and equipment 55%

Stores and spares 3%

Stock in trade 13%

Trade debts - net 12%

Advances and prepayments 1%

Other receivables 2%

Income tax - net 10%

Cash and bank balances 5%

2014
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Tri-Pack Films Limited

analyt ical  review 

Current Assets
(Rs in thousand)
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Long Term Liabilities
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Fixed Assets
(Rs in thousand)
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Reserve
(Rs in thousand)
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Contribution to 
National Exchequer  
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Operating Pro�t
(Rs in thousand)
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EBITDA
(Rs in thousand)
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Cost of Sales
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Gross Pro�t
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Tri-Pack Films Limited

analyt ical  review 
EBITDA Margin to Sales
(In Percentage)

201520142013201220112010

15.82

9.37

11.72

13.44

 17.75 

 17.68 

(In Percentage)

201520142013201220112010

Net Pro�t Margin

-1.47

0.21

4.93

 7.82 

4.17

6.49

* Restated

201520142013201220112010

15.18
9.91

9.46

21.97

54.12

41.00

Return on Capital Employed
( In Percentage)

201520142013201220112010
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59.45
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33.65

76.66

60.64

Dividend Payout
( In Percentage)

Earning Per Share
(Rupees)

20152014*2013201220112010

-5.95

0.76

14.86
15.05

23.34

14.76

Breakup Value 
(Rupees)

201520142013201220112010

48.7

63.0

54.1

63.3

66.2

53.4
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Gross Pro�t Margin
(In Percentage)

2015201420132012201120105

10

15

20

9.83

15.54

8.99

17.55

14.03

16.01

Return on Equity
( In Percentage)
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Cash Flows from 
Operating Activities

(Rs in Thousands)
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23.57

-12.21

1.40

23.76

 35.23 
 27.63 

 492,630 

2,957,526

 1,094,403 

 (157,517)

 1,028,692 

 1,309,747 

Cash Flows from 
Investing Activities

(Rs in Thousands)
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 (1,155,706)

 (137,141)

Cash Flows from 
Financing Activities

(Rs in Thousands)

201520142013201220112010

 460,880 

(2,821,942)
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3,630,359

 (680,647)
 (741,723)

* Restated

Price Earning Ratio
(In Times)
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16.6013.427.717.59
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Tri-Pack Films Limited

Balance Sheet  
 
Equity and Reserves  2,113,802  29.33  1,634,453  (9.86)  1,813,217  (14.62)  2,123,684  -4.39  2,221,197  24.01  1,791,125  12.21
Long term financing facilities  3,664,793  (18.83)  4,515,176  (1.3)  4,576,924  11.58  4,101,924  1540.77  250,000  (33.33) 375,000  (38.32)
Non Current Liability  89,158  (20.47)  112,102  (52.3)  235,106  (1.94)  239,758  35.03  177,554  (23.64)  232,524  (16.16)
Current Liabilities  5,447,172  (20.07)  6,814,843  (3.2)  7,042,096  39.65  5,042,696  42.26  3,544,749  77.14  2,001,096  (1.68)
   11,314,925  (13.47)  13,076,574  (4.3)  13,667,343  18.8   11,508,062  85.81  6,193,500  40.77  4,399,745  (2.59)
 
Property Plant and Equipment  6,731,234  (6.71)  7,215,407  (4.2)  7,535,042  14.84  6,561,106  169.92  2,430,754  31.11  1,853,983  (10.69)
Intangibles  6,979  (16.30)  8,338  (25.3)  11,165  35.01  8,270  -55.84  18,727  5.00  17,836  (9.50)
Long term deposits  3,115  (29.17)  4,398  46.6   2,999  30.22  2,303  4.92  2,195  24.50  1,763  49.66
Current Assets 
 Stores and spares  348,894  (9.30)  384,683  11.9   343,874  13.68 302,490 -5.89 321,433 35.56 237,119 19.28
 Stock-in-trade  1,293,873  (22.88)  1,677,648  (27.3)  2,307,567  5.87 2,179,583 41.34 1,542,125 46.54 1,052,338 4.96
 Trade debts  1,227,890  (19.40)  1,523,529  (14.4)  1,778,982  47.68 1,204,616 21.44 991,922 29.28 767,252 (13.56)
 Financial assets at fair value
    through profit or loss  -   -   -     -   -   -  -  -  262,884 -   -     -
 Advances and prepayments  60,024  (39.02)  98,440  (64.3)  275,592  62.01 170,108 215.29 53,953 37.20 8,522 3.40
 Other receivables  114,540  (48.12)  220,785  79.3   123,150  (61.14) 316,889 736.76 37,871 22.99 30,791 5.63
 Taxation  1,150,343  (7.65)  1,245,700  100.0   622,937  333.12 143,825 160.54 55,202 (30.94) 79,931 25.14
 Cash and bank balances  378,033  (45.81)  697,646  4.7   666,035  7.62 618,872 29.90 476,434 36.04 350,210 52.42
   11,314,925  (13.47)  13,076,574  (4.3)  13,667,343  18.76  11,508,062  85.81  6,193,500  40.77  4,399,745  (2.59)

horizontal  analysis 

Increase/(Decrease)
from last year

Increase/(Decrease)
from last year

Increase/(Decrease)
from last year

Increase/(Decrease)
from last year

Increase/(Decrease)
from last year

Increase/(Decrease)
from last year

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Rs '000 % Rs '000 % Rs '000 % Rs '000 % Rs '000 % Rs '000 %

commentary
/ analysis

Total Assets increased at CAGR of 21% during 2010 to 2015. This increase was a result of massive 
expansions made in the BOPP and CPP lines which were operational in the years 2013 and 2014 
respectively. These expansions were financed by long term loan. Current liabilities also increased by 
more than 150% compared to 2010 on the back of short term loans. Trade debts and stocks, 
combined, increased at a CAGR of 7%.
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Profit & Loss 
 

Net Sales   11,954,171  (12.08)  13,597,081  13.80   11,950,081  16.69   10,240,532  2.30   10,009,875  31.35  7,620,571  34.03
Cost of sales  10,096,906  (18.41)  12,375,215  14.90   10,774,985  22.39   8,803,987  6.68   8,252,920  28.94  6,400,820  36.33
Gross profit  1,857,265  52.00   1,221,866  4.00   1,175,096  (18.20)  1,436,545  (18.24)  1,756,955  44.04  1,219,751  23.13
Administration and selling expenses  628,870  (14.44)  735,015  29.80   566,165  24.34   455,332  14.55   397,505  50.75  263,681  24.54
Operating profit  1,228,395  152.31   486,851  (20.00)  608,931  (37.94)  981,213  (27.82)  1,359,450  42.19  956,070  22.74
Other income  60,675  (42.46)  105,446  119.90   47,956  46.14   32,816  (37.25)  52,298  91.69  27,282  (36.62)
Financial charges  781,916  (15.29)  923,038  50.30   614,150  258.37   171,374  39.98   122,429  (40.38)  205,346  (7.39)
Other charges  34,976  100.00   -     (100.00)  6,836  (88.08)  57,341  (36.49)  90,289  64.13  55,012  32.82
Profit before taxation  472,178  242.76  (330,741) (1,021.30)  35,901  (95.43)  785,314  (34.50)  1,199,030  65.84  722,994  29.38
Provision for taxation  (26,013) (80.16)  (131,095) (1,347.70)  10,507  (96.26)  280,788  (32.57)  416,425  82.52  228,149  140.77
Profit after taxation  498,191  349.54  (199,646) (886.20)  25,394  (94.97)  504,526  (35.53)  782,605  58.15  494,845  6.63

Increase/(Decrease)
from last year

Increase/(Decrease)
from last year

Increase/(Decrease)
from last year

Increase/(Decrease)
from last year

Increase/(Decrease)
from last year

Increase/(Decrease)
from last year

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Rs '000 % Rs '000 % Rs '000 % Rs '000 % Rs '000 % Rs '000 %

Revenue over the period of 6 years has increased at a CAGR of 9% as the business has expanded steadily. Profitability however, 
has not been on a similar increasing trend due to higher operating cost. Finance cost also increased in line with the increase 
in financing obtained to support expansions. With interest rates falling significantly in the year 2015 and aggressive working 
capital management finance cost fell 15% compared to last year.
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Tri-Pack Films Limited

Balance Sheet  
 
Equity and Reserves  2,113,802  18.7  1,634,453  12.5   1,813,217  13.3   2,123,684  18.5   2,221,197  35.9   1,791,125  40.7 
Long term financing facilities  3,664,793  32.4  4,515,176  34.5   4,576,924  33.5   4,101,924  35.6   250,000  4.0   375,000  8.5 
Non Current Liability  89,158  0.8  112,102  0.9   235,106  1.7   239,758  2.1   177,554  2.9   232,524  5.3 
Current Liabilities  5,447,172  48.1  6,814,843  52.1   7,042,096  51.5   5,042,696  43.8   3,544,749  57.2   2,001,096  45.5 
   11,314,925  100.0   13,076,574  100.0   13,667,343  100.0   11,508,062  100.0   6,193,500  100.0   4,399,745  100.0 
 
Property Plant and Equipment  6,731,234   59.50   7,215,407  55.2   7,535,042  55.1   6,561,106  57.0   2,430,754  39.2   1,853,983  42.1 
Intangibles  6,979   0.1   8,338  0.1   11,165  0.1   8,270  0.1   18,727  0.3   17,836  0.4 
Long term deposits  3,115   -      4,398  -      2,999  -      2,303  -      2,195  -      1,763  -    
Current Assets   
 Stores and spares  348,894   3.1   384,683  2.9   343,874  2.5  302,490 2.6  321,433 5.2  237,119 5.4 
 Stock-in-trade  1,293,873   11.4   1,677,648  12.8   2,307,567  16.9  2,179,583 18.9  1,542,125 24.9  1,052,338 23.9 
 Trade debts  1,227,890   10.9   1,523,529  11.7   1,778,982  13.0  1,204,616 10.5  991,922 16.0  767,252 17.4 
 Financial assets at fair value
   through profit or loss -   -      -     -  -  -  -  -  262,884 4.2  -  -  
 Advances and prepayments  60,024   0.5   98,440  0.8   275,592  2.0  170,108 1.5  53,953 0.9  8,522 0.2 
 Other receivables  114,540   1.0   220,785  1.7   123,150  0.9  316,889 2.8  37,871 0.6  30,791 0.7 
 Taxation  1,150,343   10.2   1,245,700  9.5   622,937  4.6  143,825 1.2  55,202 0.9  79,931 1.8 
 Cash and bank balances  378,033   3.3   697,646  5.3   666,035  4.9  618,872 5.4  476,434 7.7  350,210 8.0 
   11,314,925  100.0   13,076,574  100.0   13,667,343  100.0   11,508,062  100.0   6,193,500  100.0   4,399,745  100.0 

vert ical  analysis 
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Rs '000 % Rs '000 % Rs '000 % Rs '000 % Rs '000 % Rs '000 %

commentary
/ analysis

Equity and Debt
Increase in financing from other sources has resulted equity to 
become a smaller portion of the investment. This will change 
after the completion of recently announced Rights Issue.

Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment have remained a major portion 
of total assets. Stocks and debtors have constituted more than 
20% of the total assets. Taxation recoverable now constitutes 
more than 10% of total assets due to advance tax paid on 
import of raw material.
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2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Rs '000 % Rs '000 % Rs '000 % Rs '000 % Rs '000 % Rs '000 %

Profit & Loss 
 

Net Sales   11,954,171  100.0  13,597,081  100.0   11,950,081  100.0   10,240,532  100.0   10,009,875  100.0   7,620,571  100.0 
Cost of sales  10,096,906  84.5  12,375,215  91.0   10,774,985  90.2   8,803,987  85.0   8,252,920  82.4   6,400,820  84.0 
Gross profit  1,857,265  15.5  1,221,866  9.0   1,175,096  9.8   1,436,545  14.0   1,756,955  17.6   1,219,751  16.0 
Administration and selling expenses  628,870  5.3  735,015  5.4   566,165  4.7   455,332  4.4   397,505  4.0   263,681  3.5 
Operating profit  1,228,395  10.3  486,851  3.6   608,931  5.1   981,213  9.6   1,359,450  13.6   956,070  12.5 
Other income  60,675  0.5  105,446  0.8   47,956  0.4   32,816  0.3   52,298  0.5   27,282  0.4 
Financial charges  781,916  6.5  923,038  6.8   614,150  5.1   171,374  1.7   122,429  1.2   205,346  2.7 
Other charges  34,976  0.3  -     -    6,836  0.1   57,341  0.6   90,289  0.9   55,012  0.7 
Profit before taxation  472,178  3.9  (330,741) (2.4)  35,901  0.3   785,314  7.7   1,199,030  12.0   722,994  9.5 
Provision for taxation  (26,013) (0.2)  (131,095) (1.0)  10,507  0.1   280,788  2.7   416,425  4.2   228,149  3.0 
Profit after taxation  498,191  4.2  (199,646) (1.5)  25,394  0.2   504,526  4.9   782,605  7.8   494,845  6.5 

Margins
Gross profit margin has remained above 14% most of the years except for 2013 
and 2014 when it fell below 10%. The situation has improved again and Gross 
profit margin was 15% for the year 2015.

Finance cost
Finance cost has increased in line with the debt financing for expansion 

projects. However, in 2015 better working capital management and lower 
interest rates have resulted in a decline in Finance cost.

Profitability
After a challenging 2014, the Company has earned a Profit after Tax of Rs. 498 
million.
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f inancial  stat ist ical  summary 
   Year to Year to Year to Year to
   December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31
   2015 2014 2013 2012
Balance Sheet Summary
 Paid-up capital  300,000  300,000  300,000  300,000 
 General and Hedge reserve  1,605,000  1,605,000  1,575,468  1,371,000 
 Unappropriated profit/(loss)  208,802  (270,547) (62,251) 452,684 
 Share holders' funds  2,113,802  1,634,453  1,813,217  2,123,684 
 Long term financing facilities  3,664,793  4,515,176  4,576,924  4,101,924 
 Fixed capital expenditure  6,738,213  7,223,745  7,546,207  6,569,376   
 Long term deposits  3,115  4,398  2,999  2,303 
 Non Current Liability  (89,158) (112,102) (235,106) (239,758)
 Net current assets/(liabilities)  (873,575) (966,412) (923,959) (106,313)
       

Profit & Loss Summary    
 Sales (net of sales tax)  11,954,171  13,597,081  11,950,081  10,240,532 
 Cost of sales  10,096,906  12,375,215  10,774,985  8,803,987 
 Gross profit  1,857,265  1,221,866  1,175,096  1,436,545 
 Administration and selling expenses  628,870  735,015  566,165  455,332 
 Operating profit  1,228,395  486,851  608,931  981,213 
 Other income  60,675  105,446  47,956  32,816 
 Financial charges  781,916  923,038  614,150  171,374 
 Other charges  34,976  -   6,836  57,341 
 Profit/(loss) before taxation  472,178  (330,741) 35,901  785,314 
 Provision for taxation  (26,013) (131,095) 10,507  280,788 
 Profit/(loss) after taxation  498,191  (199,646) 25,394  504,526 
 Dividend  150,000  -  -   300,000 
 Transfer to reserve   -  -   182,000 
       

Key Financial Ratios    
 Gross profit / sales  15.54% 8.99% 9.83% 14.03%
 Profit before tax / sales  3.95% (2.43)% 0.30% 7.67%
 Return on capital employed     21.97% 9.46% 9.91% 15.18%
 Interest coverage (times)  1.6  0.6  1.1  5.9 
 Inventory turnover (times)  6.15  6.00  4.06  3.48 
 Fixed assets turnover (times)  1.77  1.88  1.58  1.56 
 Debt : equity ratio  63:37 73:27 72:28 66:34
 Current ratio  0.8  0.9  0.9  1.0 
       

Shares & Earning    
 Break-up value (Rs per share)*     63.0  48.7  54.1  63.3 
 Price earning ratio (times)*       16.6  (43.84) 260.5  13.42 
 Earnings per share (Rupees)*      14.86  (5.95) 0.76  15.05 
 Dividend  50% -  -  100%
 Market value per share (Rupees)  247  261  198  202 
 Taxes, duties and levies  2,460,422  3,362,000  2,870,000  2,787,579 

* Restated for prior year to reflect Rights Issue impact
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Balance Sheet Summary
 Paid-up capital  300,000  300,000  300,000  300,000 
 General and Hedge reserve  1,605,000  1,605,000  1,575,468  1,371,000 
 Unappropriated profit/(loss)  208,802  (270,547) (62,251) 452,684 
 Share holders' funds  2,113,802  1,634,453  1,813,217  2,123,684 
 Long term financing facilities  3,664,793  4,515,176  4,576,924  4,101,924 
 Fixed capital expenditure  6,738,213  7,223,745  7,546,207  6,569,376   
 Long term deposits  3,115  4,398  2,999  2,303 
 Non Current Liability  (89,158) (112,102) (235,106) (239,758)
 Net current assets/(liabilities)  (873,575) (966,412) (923,959) (106,313)
       

Profit & Loss Summary    
 Sales (net of sales tax)  11,954,171  13,597,081  11,950,081  10,240,532 
 Cost of sales  10,096,906  12,375,215  10,774,985  8,803,987 
 Gross profit  1,857,265  1,221,866  1,175,096  1,436,545 
 Administration and selling expenses  628,870  735,015  566,165  455,332 
 Operating profit  1,228,395  486,851  608,931  981,213 
 Other income  60,675  105,446  47,956  32,816 
 Financial charges  781,916  923,038  614,150  171,374 
 Other charges  34,976  -   6,836  57,341 
 Profit/(loss) before taxation  472,178  (330,741) 35,901  785,314 
 Provision for taxation  (26,013) (131,095) 10,507  280,788 
 Profit/(loss) after taxation  498,191  (199,646) 25,394  504,526 
 Dividend  150,000  -  -   300,000 
 Transfer to reserve   -  -   182,000 
       

Key Financial Ratios    
 Gross profit / sales  15.54% 8.99% 9.83% 14.03%
 Profit before tax / sales  3.95% (2.43)% 0.30% 7.67%
 Return on capital employed     21.97% 9.46% 9.91% 15.18%
 Interest coverage (times)  1.6  0.6  1.1  5.9 
 Inventory turnover (times)  6.15  6.00  4.06  3.48 
 Fixed assets turnover (times)  1.77  1.88  1.58  1.56 
 Debt : equity ratio  63:37 73:27 72:28 66:34
 Current ratio  0.8  0.9  0.9  1.0 
       

Shares & Earning    
 Break-up value (Rs per share)*     63.0  48.7  54.1  63.3 
 Price earning ratio (times)*       16.6  (43.84) 260.5  13.42 
 Earnings per share (Rupees)*      14.86  (5.95) 0.76  15.05 
 Dividend  50% -  -  100%
 Market value per share (Rupees)  247  261  198  202 
 Taxes, duties and levies  2,460,422  3,362,000  2,870,000  2,787,579 

  Year to Year to Year to Year to Year to Year to
  December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31
  2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

 300,000  300,000  300,000  300,000  300,000  300,000 
 1,136,467  995,000  831,000  772,000  632,000  614,000 
 784,730  496,125  465,280  240,205  320,219  168,064 
 2,221,197  1,791,125  1,596,280  1,312,205  1,252,608  1,082,064 
 250,000  375,000  608,000  824,000  540,000  756,000 
 2,449,481  1,871,819  2,095,567  2,111,285  1,608,744  1,703,966 
 2,195  1,763  1,178  1,218  1,104  858 
 (177,554) (232,524) (277,352) (304,735) (192,731) (104,426)
 197,075  525,067  384,887  328,437  375,491  237,666  

       

 10,009,875  7,620,571  5,685,687  5,865,487  4,555,172  3,825,643 
 8,252,920  6,400,820  4,695,035  4,855,356  3,627,470  3,316,875 
 1,756,955  1,219,751  990,652  1,010,131  927,702  508,768 
 397,505  263,681  211,723  163,890  135,913  127,804 
 1,359,450  956,070  778,929  846,241  791,789  380,964 
 52,298  27,282  43,046  29,570  25,729  11,989 
 122,429  205,346  221,723  108,844  93,167  130,595 
 90,289  55,012  41,418  43,310  49,981  18,103 
 1,199,030  722,994  558,834  723,657  674,370  244,255 
 416,425  228,149  94,759  243,671  234,215  76,373 
 782,605  494,845  464,075  479,986  440,155  167,882 
 600,000  300,000  300,000  420,000  300,000  150,000 
 194,000  164,000  59,000  140,000  18,000  9,500 
     
       

 17.55% 16.01% 17.42% 17.22% 20.37% 13.30%
 11.98% 9.49% 9.83% 12.34% 14.80% 6.38%
 53.30% 41.00% 33.12% 35.88% 41.18% 20.23%
 11.5  4.8  3.7  8.0  8.8  3.0 
 4.43  4.96  3.91  4.30  4.63  8.18 
 4.09  4.1  2.7  2.8  2.7  2.2 
 10:90 17:83 28:72 39:61 30:70 41:59
 1.1  1.3  1.2  1.2  1.3  1.3 
     
       

 66.2  53.4  53.2  43.7  41.7  36.1 
 7.71  7.59  6.6  7.8  14.7  9.7 
 23.34  14.76  15.47  16.00  14.67  5.60 
 200% 100% 100% 140% 100% 50%
 180  112  102  125  215  54 
 3,166,097  2,311,352  1,715,277  1,727,355  1,161,337  713,209 
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sources and appl icat ion of funds 
  2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

  (Rupees in ‘000)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES       

Cash generated from operations  2,921,863  1,184,733   1,627,523   208,715   1,495,885   1,627,161 

Payment on account of accumulated compensated absences  (2,555) (17,588)  (9,192)  (9,244)  (8,801)  (3,307)

Long-term deposits 1,283  (1,399)  (696)  (108)  (432)  (585)

Staff retirement benefits paid (58,422) (50,353)  (42,684)  (41,519)  (32,113)  (21,762)

Income taxes refund / (paid) 95,357  (622,763)  (480,548)  (315,361)  (425,847)  (291,760)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 2,957,526   492,630   1,094,403   (157,517)  1,028,692   1,309,747 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Fixed capital expenditure (119,589) (363,445)  (1,570,759)  (4,083,926)  (903,945)  (141,155)

Acquisition of intangible (3,662) (3,017)  (10,182)  -      (9,237)  (2,433)

Profit on bank balances received 1,095  456   345   222   407   708 

Payment made for settlement of derivative -   -      -      (158,925)  -      -    

Purchase of held-for-trading financial assets -   -      -      -      (450,000)  -    

Redemption of held-for-trading financial assets -   -      -      268,783   200,000   -    

Sale proceeds on disposal of fixed assets 8,550  8,150   4,830   7,383   7,069   5,739 

Net cash outflow from investing activities (113,606)  (357,856)  (1,575,766)  (3,966,463)  (1,155,706)  (137,141)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Long-term finances paid (761,747) (1,225,000)  (125,000)  (125,000)  (233,000)  (216,000)

Long-term finances acquired -   1,500,000   1,000,000   3,976,924   -      -    

Short term financing - net (1,290,735) 1,115,735   475,000   700,000   -      -    

Finance cost & bank charges paid (769,460) (929,855)  (744,506)  (323,914)  (148,676)  (226,519)

Dividends paid -   -      (299,682)  (597,651)  (298,971)  (299,204)

Net cash outflow from financing activities (2,821,942)  460,880   305,812   3,630,359   (680,647)  (741,723)
 

Net cash inflow/ (outflow) 21,978   595,654   (175,551)  (493,621)  (807,661)  430,883 
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commentary /  analysis
Cash Flow from operations

The Company generated highest ever cash from operations on the 
back of profitability and aggressive working capital management. 
Over the years it has fluctuated but has remained above Rs 1 billion 
except for the year 2012. 

Cash Flow from investing activities

Heavy cash was invested for expansion projects in the years 2011, 
2012 and 2013.

Cash Flows from financing activities

Cash flow from financing activities has varied significantly. In the 
years 2010 and 2011 debts were repaid. During the years 2012 to 
2014 the Company acquired financing for projects. In the year 2015 
repayments of long term and short term debts were made.

  2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

  (Rupees in ‘000)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES       

Cash generated from operations  2,921,863  1,184,733   1,627,523   208,715   1,495,885   1,627,161 

Payment on account of accumulated compensated absences  (2,555) (17,588)  (9,192)  (9,244)  (8,801)  (3,307)

Long-term deposits 1,283  (1,399)  (696)  (108)  (432)  (585)

Staff retirement benefits paid (58,422) (50,353)  (42,684)  (41,519)  (32,113)  (21,762)

Income taxes refund / (paid) 95,357  (622,763)  (480,548)  (315,361)  (425,847)  (291,760)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 2,957,526   492,630   1,094,403   (157,517)  1,028,692   1,309,747 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Fixed capital expenditure (119,589) (363,445)  (1,570,759)  (4,083,926)  (903,945)  (141,155)

Acquisition of intangible (3,662) (3,017)  (10,182)  -      (9,237)  (2,433)

Profit on bank balances received 1,095  456   345   222   407   708 

Payment made for settlement of derivative -   -      -      (158,925)  -      -    

Purchase of held-for-trading financial assets -   -      -      -      (450,000)  -    

Redemption of held-for-trading financial assets -   -      -      268,783   200,000   -    

Sale proceeds on disposal of fixed assets 8,550  8,150   4,830   7,383   7,069   5,739 

Net cash outflow from investing activities (113,606)  (357,856)  (1,575,766)  (3,966,463)  (1,155,706)  (137,141)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Long-term finances paid (761,747) (1,225,000)  (125,000)  (125,000)  (233,000)  (216,000)

Long-term finances acquired -   1,500,000   1,000,000   3,976,924   -      -    

Short term financing - net (1,290,735) 1,115,735   475,000   700,000   -      -    

Finance cost & bank charges paid (769,460) (929,855)  (744,506)  (323,914)  (148,676)  (226,519)

Dividends paid -   -      (299,682)  (597,651)  (298,971)  (299,204)

Net cash outflow from financing activities (2,821,942)  460,880   305,812   3,630,359   (680,647)  (741,723)
 

Net cash inflow/ (outflow) 21,978   595,654   (175,551)  (493,621)  (807,661)  430,883 

2015 2014
Cash and Cash Equ. - Closing  (105)  (127)
Loan Acquired/(Paid) - net  (762)  275 
Short term financing - net  (1,291)  1,116 
Finance Cost  (769)  (930)
Capital Expenditure   (119)  (363)
Cash inflow from Operations   2,957   492 
Cash and Cash Equ. - Opening  (127)  (722)

(105) (119)

2,957

(127)

(762) (769)
(1,291)
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Tri-Pack Films Limited

value added and i ts distr ibut ion 
The statement below shows value added by the operations of the company and its distribution to the stakeholders.

Wealth Generated 
 
Sales   13,929,340    15,741,870  
Other Income  60,675    105,446  
Bought-in-material & services  (8,949,844)   (10,361,617) 
   5,040,171  100.0  5,485,699  100.0
Wealth Distributed

To Employees 
Remuneration, benefits and facilities  817,300  16.2  696,897  12.7

To Government
Income Tax, Sales Tax, Custom & Excise 
Duties, WPPF, WWF, EOBI, Social Security, 
Professional & Local Taxes  2,460,422  48.8  3,362,000  61.3

To Lenders 
Mark up & finance cost  681,075  13.5  923,038  16.8

To Society 
Donations   200  -   630  -

Retained for Reinvestment & Future Growth 

Unappropriated Profit, Depreciation & Amortization  1,081,174  21.5  503,134  9.2
  
   5,040,171  100.0  5,485,699  100.0

2015

(Rs in ‘000) %

2014

%(Rs in ‘000)
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wealth generated & distr ibuted 

   

Bought-in-material & services 10,361,617 65.38

To Employees 696,897 4.40

To Government 3,362,000 21.21

To Lenders 923,038 5.82

To Society 630 0.00

Retained for Reinvestment
  & Future Growth 503,134 3.17

Total 15,847,316 100.00

2014

   

Bought-in-material & services  8,949,844  63.97

To Employees  817,300  5.84

To Government   2,460,422 17.59

To Lenders  681,075  4.87

To Society  200  0.00

Retained for Reinvestment
  & Future Growth  1,081,174  7.73

Total  13,990,015  100.00

2015
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The Directors of the Company are pleased to submit the 
report and the audited financial statements for the year 
ended December 31, 2015.

Economic indicators remained positive during the year with 
better than expected GDP growth rate, low inflation and 
mark-up rate. Energy shortages continued to challenge the 
business environment throughout the year. In addition, 
influx of illegal imports through Afghan Transit and other 
means without duties and taxes remained a hindrance in 
gaining volumes.

Compliance with Health, Safety and Environment (HSE) 
remained top priority during the year. However, the year 
closed with one serious injury in which our staff had his arm 
fractured. The staff is recovering and shall resume office 
soon. The incident was investigated and the report of 
findings along with action plan shared with the Executive 
Management Team.

directors’  report
to the shareholders 
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Market and Business Overview

The year witnessed significant fluctuations in raw material prices triggered 
not only by fuel prices but also  the demand and supply dynamics. With such 
volatility in prices of raw material, margins and product price management 
remained a major challenge.

Influx of illegal imports through Afghan Transit Trade and other sources, 
particularly of BOPP films and oversupply situation in the CPP segment, had 
a serious impact on our volumes. During the year, nearly 7% of total local 
BOPP demand was catered through illegal imports, sold without duties and 
taxes at uneconomical prices.

Despite strong headwinds as mentioned above our domestic sales volumes 
remained in line with 2014, however the overall sales volume including 
exports for the year at 47,004 tons was lower by 3% compared to 2014. Our 
sale is driven by FMCG growth and it seems that in many FMCG companies, 
volumetric growth was lower in 2015 compared to earlier years. 

In order to meet the changing business requirements, your Company is 
actively working on new product development to create more value for our 
customers and to increase the market size.

Post submission of our Anti-dumping Duty (ADD) Sunset Review 
application; National Tariff Commission (NTC) initiated its investigation 
against dumping at uneconomical prices. 

Financial Highlights

Net Sales Income for the year was lower by 12% compared to last year 
largely on account of lower prices driven by decline in raw material prices. 
Your Company, remained wary of business adversities earlier mentioned and 
partially countered their effects through focus on operational efficiencies and 
working capital management. As a result gross profit for the year was higher 
by 52% compared to last year. 

Administrative and Selling expenses were lower by 14% mainly on account 
of lower transportation cost driven by reduction in fuel prices and 
renegotiation of transportation contract.

Finance cost was lower by 15% compared to last year. Excluding the 
exchange loss of Rs 101 million on account of depreciation of Pak Rupee, 
finance cost was lower by 26% as a result of lower markup rates and 
significantly higher cash inflows from operations with continued focus on 
working capital. Consequently the Company earned Profit after Tax of Rs 498 
million (2014: Loss after tax of Rs 200 million).

Cash flows from operating activities for the year at Rs 3.0 billion were 
significantly higher than same period last year of Rs 493 million. 
Key Financial Highlights are as follows:
 2015 2014

Sales Volume - (M. Tons) 47,004 48,226
Net Sales Value - (Rs in Million) 11,954 13,597
Gross Profit - (Rs in Million) 1,857 1,222
Net Profit / (loss)- (Rs in Million) 498 (200)
EPS - (Rs per share) 14.86 *(5.95)
*Restated

Dividend

The directors have recommended a cash dividend of 50% i.e. Rs 5 per share 
(2014: Nil) 

Future Outlook

With positive economic indicators business activities are likely to improve in 
2016. Current levels of inflation and interest rates are expected to keep a 
better consumption level. In current scenario we expect the growth of FMCG 
sector to be approximately 6-7%.

On the supply side current downward trend in raw material prices is 
expected to gain stability by end Q1, 2016 keeping our product prices at low 
level. However this will be significantly dependent on the oil price trend and 
the operational continuity of plants at these price levels.

Improvement in HSE management system, its awareness and compliance 
shall remain a priority and in this respect certain organizational changes are 
being made. We will continue to rely on slogan “money on the floor” to 
create more value both for the Company and our customers.
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With excess capacity in the market along with lower prices, 2016 will be a 
challenging year. Being cognizant of this situation focus will remain on 
strong working capital management, operational cost savings and waste 
reduction with a particular emphasis on new product development. 

Good news is that most of our large customers are upbeat about the future 
of packaging industry and have shown their commitment by investing in top 
of the line printing and converting equipment. Tri-Pack clearly sees its role to 
facilitate the growth of packaging industry by working very closely with 
customers and create opportunities for mutual benefit.

We would like to take this opportunity to highlight to the Ministry of 
Commerce and Finance along with Federal Board of Revenue, the increasing 
menace of Afghan Transit Trade and other modes of illegal imports including 
export zones. This in addition to damaging the local industries, which is 
providing employments and generating taxes and revenue for the 
Government, is also adversely impacting the National Exchequer in the form 
of loss in taxes and duties.

Cash Flow Strategy

During the period under review, Rs. 3.0 billion (2014: Rs. 493 million) was 
generated from operating activities of the Company, which was utilized 
mainly towards the payment of finance cost and repayment of long term 
loans.

The Company has announced its very first Rights Issue, which will be 
completed by second quarter of 2016. Cash flow from this equity injection 
is going to be utilized in repayment of borrowings from banks and suppliers 
credit to reduce the currency exchange risk. In addition this injection will 
have a positive impact on debt to equity ratio and the cost of borrowings. 
Further, aggressive working capital management to continue to improve the 
cash inflows.

Management Information Systems

Constant improvements are being made in the utilization of ERP to ensure 
better controls, improvement in the efficiency of processes and accuracy of 
financial information. This is in line with Company’s ambitions to make the 

information technology structure fully capable of meeting business and 
reporting challenges.    

Human Resource

Our people are behind every aspect of our strategy. We endeavor to attract, 
develop and retain quality people so that we can always deliver the best 
experience for our customers. We believe that the way to grow as a business 
is to grow our people, enabling personal development and ambitious 
business results. For our strategy to work we need our employees to believe 
in us and therefore we assess ourselves through employee engagement 
survey which measures their overall satisfaction levels of being part of the 
Company. This helps us in comparing ourselves with other large companies 
and in identifying ways to improve how we do things. 

Your Company believes that its success and competitiveness depends upon 
its ability to embrace diversity. In an effort to create a workplace culture that 
provides equal opportunities for everyone and ensures that people are 
always treated with dignity and respect a diverse workforce is being 
encouraged regardless of race, nationality, gender, age, marital status, sexual 
orientation, disability, religion or political beliefs.

The Company has also been inducted in the panel of authorized trainers for 
Chartered Accountants by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England 
& Wales (ICAEW).

Quality Management

During the year your Company complied with the requirements of all 
applicable quality standards. 
To further improve productivity through machine efficiency and reduce 
process wastages, TPM fostered across the plants with six sessions 
conducted during the year benefitting the entire workforce.

Related Parties

All transactions with related parties are carried out on an unbiased, arm’s 
length basis. A complete list of all related party transactions is compiled and 
submitted to the Audit Committee every quarter. After review by the Audit 
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Committee the transactions are placed before the Board for their 
consideration and approval.

Code of Corporate Governance

The requirements of the Code of Corporate Governance set out by Pakistan 
Stock Exchange Listing Regulations have been adopted by the Company and 
have been duly complied with. A Statement to this effect is annexed to the 
report.

Corporate and Financial Reporting Framework

i) The financial statements, prepared by the management of the Company, 
present fairly its state of affairs, the result of its operations, cash flows and 
changes in equity.

ii) Proper books of account of the Company have been maintained. 

iii) Appropriate accounting policies have been consistently applied in 
preparation of financial statements and accounting estimates except for 
the changes as stated in Notes to the Financial Statements. The 
accounting policies are based on reasonable and prudent judgment. 

iv) International Financial Reporting Standards, as applicable in Pakistan, 
have been followed in preparation of financial statements.

v) The system of internal control is sound in design and has been effectively 
implemented and monitored. The system is continuously monitored by 
Internal Audit and through other such monitoring procedures. The 
process of monitoring internal controls will continue as an ongoing 
process with an objective to further strengthen the controls. 

vi) Details of significant changes in the Company’s operating results during 
the current year as compared to last year and significant plans and 
decisions for the future prospects of profits are stated in this report.

vii) Key operating and financial data of last ten years is annexed. 

viii) Information about the taxes and levies is given in the Notes to the 
Financial Statements. 

ix) There are no doubts upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. 

x) There has been no material departure from the best practices of 
corporate governance, as detailed in listing regulations.

xi) The value of investments of provident and gratuity funds, as at June 30, 
2015 based on their un-audited accounts is as follows:

 Rs ‘000

 Provident Fund 131,396
 Gratuity Fund 57,325

xii) The Company arranged one orientation course for its Directors during 
the year. Three directors of the Company viz., Syed Babar Ali, Syed 
Hyder Ali and Mr. Asif Qadir are exempt from the directors training 
program as per clause 5.19.7 of the Code of Corporate Governance, 
since apart from having a minimum of 14 years of education, their 
experience on the board of listed companies is 15 years or more. Syed 
Aslam Mehdi, Mr. Kimihide Ando, Mr. Yasumasa Kondo and Mr. 
Khurram Raza Bakhtayari have less than 15 years of experience on the 
board of listed companies. Syed Aslam Mehdi and Mr. Kimihide Ando 
have obtained certification during the year under the directors’ training 
program which meets the criteria specified by the Securities and 
Exchange Commission of Pakistan. Mr. Khurram Raza Bakhtayari and Mr. 
Yasumasa Kondo have been earmarked to obtain certification under the 
directors’ training program during the next six months.

The CEO, Directors, CFO, Company Secretary and their spouses or minor 
children did not carry out any trade in the shares of the Company.

Meetings of Board of Directors

During the year 2015, six (6) meetings of the Board of Directors were held.  
The attendance of each Director is as follows:
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 1 Syed Babar Ali (Chairman) 5
 2 Syed Aslam Mehdi (Chief Executive) 6
 3 Mr. Asif Qadir  6
 4 Syed Hyder Ali 4
 5 Mr. Khurram Raza Bakhtayari 4
 6 Mr. Kimihide Ando 4
 7 Mr. Yasumasa Kondo 2
 8 Mr. Masahiko Takahashi *
  *(Alternate to Mr. Yasumasa Kondo) 4

Leave of absence was granted to the Directors who could not attend the 
Board meetings.

Audit Committee

During the year 2015, four (4) meetings of the Audit Committee were held. 
The attendance of each member is given hereunder:

Mr. Asif Qadir (Chairman) 4
Mr. Khurram Raza Bakhtayari 3
Mr. Kimihide Ando 1
Mr. Yasumasa Kondo  NIL
Mr. Masahiko Takahashi* 
*(Alternate to Mr. Yasumasa Kondo) 4

Leave of absence was granted to the members who could not attend the 
meetings of the Audit Committee. 

Human Resource & Remuneration (HR&R) Committee

During the year 2015, two (2) meetings of the HR&R Committee were held. 
The attendance of each member is given hereunder:

Mr. Asif Qadir (Chairman) 2
Syed Aslam Mehdi 2
Mr. Khurram Raza Bakhtayari 2
Mr. Kimihide Ando* 1

*During the year Mr. Kimihide Ando was included as the member of HR&R 
Committee.

Contribution to National Exchequer 

Your Company’s contribution to the national exchequer in the form of Sales 
Tax, Custom Duties and Income Taxes etc. is approximately Rs 2,460 million 
in the year 2015.  

Pattern of Shareholding

A statement of the pattern of shareholding of certain class of shareholders as 
at December 31, 2015, whose disclosure is required under the reporting 
framework, is included in the annexed shareholders' information.

External Auditors

The present auditors M/s A. F. Ferguson & Co., Chartered Accountants are 
retiring and being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment. The Board of 
directors on the recommendation of the Audit Committee proposes the 
appointment of M/s A. F. Ferguson & Co., Chartered Accountants as the 
auditors until the next annual general meeting at a fee to be mutually agreed.

Acknowledgement

We are thankful to our valued stakeholders including customers, banks, 
suppliers, contractors, and shareholders, for their excellent support and 
confidence. We also thank our employees for their focused dedication and 
hard work throughout this period. 

S. No. Name of directors No. of meetings attended

Name of member No. of meetings attended

Name of member No. of meetings attended
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auditors’  report  to the members 
We have audited the annexed balance sheet of Tri-Pack Films Limited as at 
December 31, 2015 and the related profit and loss account, cash flow 
statement and statement of changes in equity together with the notes forming 
part thereof, for the year then ended and we state that we have obtained all 
the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and 
belief, were necessary for the purposes of our audit. 

It is the responsibility of the Company's management to establish and 
maintain a system of internal control, and prepare and present the above said 
statements in conformity with the approved accounting standards and the 
requirements of the Companies Ordinance, 1984. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on these statements based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards as 
applicable in Pakistan. These standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the above said 
statements are free of any material misstatement. An audit includes 
examining on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 
in the above said statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting 
policies and significant estimates made by management, as well as, 
evaluating the overall presentation of the above said statements. We believe 
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion and, after due 
verification, we report that: 

(a) in our opinion, proper books of accounts have been kept by the 
Company as required by the Companies Ordinance, 1984;

(b) in our opinion:

 (i) the balance sheet and profit and loss account together with the 
notes thereon have been drawn  up in conformity with the 
Companies Ordinance, 1984, and are in agreement with the 
books of accounts and are further in accordance with 
accounting policies consistently applied; 

 (ii) the expenditure incurred during the year was for the purpose of 
the Company's business; and

 (iii)  the business conducted, investments made and the expenditure 
incurred during the year were in accordance with the objects of 
the Company; 

(c) in our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the 
explanations given to us, the balance sheet,  profit and loss account, 
cash flow statement and statement of changes in equity together with  
the  notes  forming  part thereof conform with approved accounting 
standards as applicable in Pakistan, and give the information required 
by the Companies Ordinance, 1984, in the manner so required and 
respectively give a true and fair view  of the  state of the Company's 
affairs as at December 31, 2015 and of the profit, its cash flows and 
changes in equity for the year then ended; and 

(d) in our opinion, no zakat was deductible at source under the Zakat and 
Ushr Ordinance,1980 (XVIII of 1980).

A.F. Ferguson & Co.
Chartered Accountants 

 Audit Engagement Partner: Farrukh Rehman

Karachi, February 25, 2016
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balance sheet

ASSESTS

NON CURRENT ASSETS	

	

Property, plant and equipment	 4	  6,731,234 	  7,215,407 

Intangibles	 5	  6,979 	  8,338 

Long term deposits		   3,115 	  4,398 

		   6,741,328 	  7,228,143 

CURRENT ASSETS	

	

Stores and spares	 6	  348,894 	  384,683 

Stock in trade	 7	  1,293,873 	  1,677,648 

Trade debts - net	 8	  1,227,890 	  1,523,529 

Advances and prepayments	 9	  60,024 	  98,440 

Other receivables	 10	  114,540 	  220,785 

Income tax - net		   1,150,343 	  1,245,700 

Cash and bank balances	 11	  378,033 	  697,646 

		   4,573,597 	  5,848,431 

TOTAL ASSETS		   11,314,925 	  13,076,574 

	

Note 2015 2014

(Rupees in ‘000)

As at December 31, 2015
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Note 2015 2014

(Rupees in ‘000)

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES  

Share Capital 12  300,000   300,000 
Reserves  1,813,802   1,334,453 

 2,113,802   1,634,453
LIABILITIES 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Long term finances 13  3,664,793   4,515,176 
Deferred tax liabilities 14  58,725   84,738 
Accumulated compensated absences 15  30,433   27,364 

 3,753,951   4,627,278 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Trade and other payables 16  2,234,051   1,969,647 
Accrued mark-up 17  79,840   168,225 
Short term borrowings 18  2,182,897   3,815,223 
Current portion of long term finances 13  950,384   861,748 

 5,447,172   6,814,843 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  9,201,123   11,442,121 

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 19 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  11,314,925   13,076,574 

The annexed notes 1 to 39 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Chief Executive Director
Syed Aslam Mehdi Asif QadirSyed Aslam Mehdi Asif Qadir
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profit and loss account

Revenue  20  11,954,171   13,597,081 
Cost of sales  21  (10,096,906)   (12,375,215) 
Gross profit   1,857,265   1,221,866 
Distribution costs 22  (286,228)  (400,593)
Administrative expenses  23  (342,642)  (334,422)

 (628,870)  (735,015)
Operating Profit  1,228,395   486,851 
Other income 24  60,675   105,446 

 1,289,070   592,297 
Other expenses 25  (34,976)  -  
Finance costs 26  (781,916)  (923,038)

 (816,892)  (923,038)
Profit / (loss) before income tax  472,178   (330,741)

Income tax expense 27  26,013   131,095 
Profit / (loss) for the year  498,191   (199,646)

Other comprehensive loss for the year: 
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to Profit or Loss 
Loss arising during the year on cash flow hedge  -       (50,186)
Add: Income tax relating to hedging reserve  -       17,565

 -       (32,621)
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to Profit or Loss 
Remeasurements of staff retirement benefits 16.6  (18,842)  (8,650)
Income tax on items that will not be reclassified  -       -      

 (18,842)  (8,650)
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year  479,349   (240,917)

     (Re-stated) 
Earnings / (loss) per share - basic and diluted (Rupees) 28  14.86   (5.95)

The annexed notes 1 to 39 form an integral part of these financial statements.

For the year ended December 31, 2015    

Chief Executive Director
Syed Aslam Mehdi Asif QadirSyed Aslam Mehdi Asif Qadir

Note 2015 2014

(Rupees in ‘000)
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Chief Executive Director
Syed Aslam Mehdi Asif QadirSyed Aslam Mehdi Asif Qadir

statement of changes in equity 
For the year ended December 31, 2015    

Issued,  
subscribed and  

paid-up share capital
Hedging Reserve Total ReservesGeneral Reserve

RESERVES
Unappropriated  

profit / (Accumulated 
loss)

Total

Balance as at January 1, 2014  300,000   1,605,000   (29,532)  (62,251)  1,513,217   1,813,217 

Total comprehensive loss for the  
year ended December 31, 2014 

Loss after taxation for the year ended  
December 31, 2014   -          -            -             (199,646)  (199,646)  (199,646)

Other comprehensive loss  -            -           (32,621)  (8,650)  (41,271)  (41,271)
 -        -            (32,621)  (208,296)  (240,917)  (240,917)

Transfer to raw material - net of tax  -         -            62,153   -            62,153   62,153 

Balance as at December 31, 2014  300,000   1,605,000   -             (270,547)  1,334,453   1,634,453 

Total comprehensive income for the  
year ended December 31, 2015 

Profit after taxation for the year ended  
December 31, 2015  -           -           -            498,191   498,191   498,191 

Other comprehensive loss  -         -          -             (18,842)  (18,842)  (18,842)
 -         -          -             479,349   479,349   479,349 

Balance as at December 31, 2015  300,000   1,605,000   -             208,802   1,813,802   2,113,802 

The annexed notes 1 to 39 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

(Rupees in ‘000)
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cash flow statement 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Cash generated from operations  30  2,921,863   1,184,733 
Payment on account of accumulated compensated absences    (2,555)  (17,588)
Decrease / (Increase) in long term deposits   1,283   (1,399)
Staff retirement benefits paid   (58,422)  (50,353)
Income taxes refund / (paid)   95,357   (622,763)
Net cash generated from operating activities   2,957,526   492,630 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (119,589)  (363,445)
Purchase of intangible assets   (3,662)  (3,017)
Profit received on bank balances   1,095   456 
Sale proceeds on disposal of operating fixed assets   8,550   8,150 
Net cash used in investing activities   (113,606)  (357,856)
 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Long term finances paid   (761,747)  (1,225,000)
Long term financing acquired   -            1,500,000 
Short term financing - net   (1,290,735)  1,115,735 
Finance cost paid   (761,436)  (920,277)
Bank charges paid   (8,024)  (9,578)
 
Net cash (used in) / generated from financing activities   (2,821,942)  460,880 
 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   21,978   595,654 
 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year   (126,842)  (722,496)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 31  (104,864)  (126,842)
 
 
The annexed notes 1 to 39 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

For the year ended December 31, 2015    

Chief Executive Director
Syed Aslam Mehdi Asif QadirSyed Aslam Mehdi Asif Qadir

Note 2015 2014

(Rupees in ‘000)
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notes to and forming part of the financial statements

	 1.	 THE COMPANY AND ITS OPERATIONS	
	
		  Tri-Pack Films Limited (the Company) was incorporated in Pakistan on April 29, 1993 as a public limited company under the Companies Ordinance, 

1984 (the Ordinance) and is listed on Pakistan Stock Exchange (PSX). It is principally engaged in the manufacturing and sale of Biaxially Oriented 
Polypropylene (BOPP) film and Cast Polypropylene (CPP) film. The registered office of the Company is situated at 4th floor, the Forum, Suite # 416 
to 422, G-20, Block-9, Khayaban-e-Jami, Clifton, Karachi.	

	
	 2.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING INFORMATION AND POLICIES	
	
	 2.1	 Accounting convention	
	
		  These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by re-measurement of certain financial assets and 

financial liabilities at fair value and recognition of certain staff retirement and other service benefits at present value.	
	
	2.2	 Statement of compliance	
	
		  These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with approved accounting standards as applicable in Pakistan. Approved accounting 

standards comprise of such International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board as are notified 
under the Companies Ordinance, 1984, provisions of and  directives issued under the Companies Ordinance, 1984. In case requirements differ, the 
provisions or directives of the Companies Ordinance, 1984 shall prevail.	

	
	 2.3	 Changes in accounting standards, interpretations and pronouncements	
	
		  a)	 Standards, interpretations and amendments to published approved accounting standards that are effective and relevant	
	
		  Following amendments to existing standard and interpretation have been published and are mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after 

January 1, 2015 and are considered to be relevant to the Company’s operations.	
	
		  IFRS 13, ‘Fair value measurement’, aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing a precise definition of fair value and a single 

source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirement for use across IFRSs. The requirement do not extend the use of fair value accounting 
but provide guidance on how it should be applied where its use is already required or permitted by other standards within IFRSs. The standard will 
affect the determination of fair value and its related disclosures in the financial statements of the Company.	

		
		  IFRS 10, ‘Consolidated financial statement’ replaces all of the guidance on control and consolidation in IAS 27, ‘Consolidation and separate financial 

statement’, and SIC-12,’Consolidation - special purpose entities’. IAS 27 is renamed ‘Separate financial statement’, it continue to be a standard 
dealing solely with separate financial statements. IFRS 10 has the potential to affect all reporting entities (investors) that control one or more investees 
under the revised definition of control. The standard presently does not impact financial statements of the Company.	

For the year ended December 31, 2015		 		
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	 b)	 Standards, interpretations and amendments to published approved accounting standards that are effective but not relevant	
	
		  The new standards, amendments and interpretations that are mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015 are considered 

not to be relevant for Company’s financial statements and hence have not been detailed here.	
	
	 c)	 Standards, interpretations and amendments to published approved accounting standards that are not yet effective	
	
		  The new standards, amendments and interpretations that are mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016 are considered 

not to be relevant for Company’s financial statements and hence have not been detailed here.	
	
2.4	 Staff retirement benefits	
	
		  The Company operates various post-employment schemes, including both defined benefit and defined contribution plans.	
	
	2.4.1	 Defined contribution plan	
	
		  The Company operates a recognised provident fund for all its permanent employees who have completed prescribed qualifying period of service. Equal 

monthly contributions are made, both by the Company and the employees, to the provident fund at the rate of ten percent of basic salary.	
	
2.4.2	 Defined benefit plan	
	
		  Gratuity plan	
	
		  There is an approved funded defined benefit gratuity plan for all employees. Monthly contributions are made to this fund on the basis of actuarial 

recommendations at the rate of 8.33% per annum of basic salaries. The latest actuarial valuation for the gratuity scheme was carried out as at 
December 31, 2015. The actual return on plan assets represent the difference between the fair value of plan assets at the beginning and end of the 
year and adjusted for contributions and benefits paid.	

		  The future contribution rates of these plans include allowances for deficit and surplus. Projected unit credit method, using the following significant 
assumptions, is used for valuation of this scheme:	

		  -	 Discount rate used for year end obligation - 10% (2014: 11.25%) per annum;	
		  -	 Expected rate of increase in salary levels - 9% (2014: 10.25%) per annum; and	
		  -	 Expected mortality rate SLIC (2001 - 2005) mortality table.	
	
		  Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to equity in other 

comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. Past service costs are recognized immediately in the profit and loss account.	
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		  Pension plan	
	
		  The defined benefit pension fund plan is managed by Packages Limited (associated undertaking) and it currently operates two different plans for its 

employees:	
	
		  -	 Defined contribution plan for all active employees; and 	
		  -	 Defined benefit plan for pensioners who have retired before December 31, 2012.	
		
		  Projected unit credit method, using the following significant assumptions, is used for valuation of this scheme:	
	

	 -	 Discount rate used for year end obligation - 9% (2014: 10.5%) per annum;	
	 -	 Expected rate of increase in salary levels - 4% for first year and at 1% thenceforth (2014: 4% for first year and at 2% thenceforth) per annum; 

and	
	 -	 Expected mortality rate SLIC (2001 - 2005) mortality table.	

	
		  In respect of the defined contribution plan, the Company contributes 20% of members’ monthly salary to the scheme; whereas, an employee may or 

may not opt to contribute 6% of his monthly salary to the scheme.	
	
		  The liability recognized in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit retirement plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at 

the end of the reporting period less the fair value of the plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by an independent actuary 
using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash 
outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefit will be paid, and that have 
terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension obligation.	

	
		  Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions for the defined benefit plan are charged or 

credited to equity in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. Past service costs are recognized immediately in profit and loss 
account.	

	
	2.4.3	 Employee compensated absences	
	
		  The Company also provides for compensated absences for all eligible employees in accordance with the rules of the Company. The provision is 

recognised on the basis of actuarial valuation. The valuation is based on the following significant assumptions:	
	
		  -	 Discount rate used for year end obligation - 10% (2014: 11.25%) per annum; and	
		  -	 Expected rate of increase in salary levels - 9% (2014: 10.25%) per annum.	
	
		  The Company accounts for the liability in respect of employees’ compensated absences in the year in which these are earned. The unrecognised 

actuarial gains or losses at each valuation date are recognised immediately.	
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2.5	 Taxation 	
	
		  Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in profit and loss except to the extent that it relates to items 

recognised directly in other comprehensive income, in which case it is recognised in other comprehensive income.	
	
2.5.1	 Current 	
	
		  The charge for current taxation is based on the taxable income for the year, determined in accordance with the prevailing law for taxation on income, 

using prevailing tax rates after taking into account tax credits and rebates available, if any. 	
	
2.5.2	 Deferred 	
	
		  Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method on all temporary differences arising between tax base of assets and liabilities 

and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.	
	
		  Deferred tax liability is generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable 

that future taxable profits will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and tax credits can be utilised. 
Deferred tax is charged to or credited in the profit and loss account. 	

		
		  Deferred income tax asset is determined using tax rates and prevailing law for taxation on income that have been enacted or substantively enacted 

by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is 
settled.	

	
		  Investment tax credits are viewed as increase of the related asset’s tax base. Accordingly, in such situation the deductible temporary difference 

that arises qualifies for the initial recognition exception as per IAS 12, ‘Income taxes’. Therefore, no deferred tax asset is recognised instead the 
recognition of the total investment tax occurs as a reduction of current tax.	

2.6	 Trade and other payables	
	
		  Liabilities for trade and other payable are carried at cost which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in future for goods and services 

received.	
	
2.7	 Provisions	
	
		  Provisions are recognised when the Company has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events and it is probable that an outflow of 

resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. However, 
provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect current best estimate.	
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	Nature of property, plant and equipment	 Annual rate of depreciation (%)

 	2.8	 Dividend 	
	
		  Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the period in which the dividends are approved by the shareholders 

/ directors, as appropriate.	
	
	 2.9	 Property, plant and equipment	
	
		  Operating fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any, except for leasehold land 

and capital work in progress which are stated at cost. Cost of leasehold land is amortised using the straight line method over the period of lease 
term.	

	
		  Operating fixed assets having cost exceeding the minimum threshold as determined by the management are capitalised. All other assets are charged 

to income in the year when acquired. Depreciation is charged to profit and loss account on straight line method at the following rates:	
	

	
		  -      Leasehold land	 1.03 to 2.22	
		  -      Buildings on leasehold land	 5 to 33.33	
		  -      Plant and machinery, electrical installations, 	 5 to 10	
		  -      Furniture and fittings	 10 to 20	
		  -      Office and other equipment	 20 to 33.33	
		  -      Vehicles	 20	
	
		  Depreciation on additions and deletions during the year is charged from the month when asset is put into use or up to the month immediately before 

the month in which the asset is disposed off, respectively. 	
		
		  No depreciation is charged if the asset’s residual value exceeds its carrying amount.	
	
		  Residual values and the useful lives are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted if expectations differ significantly from previous 

estimates.	
		
		  Residual values are determined by the management as the amount it expects it would receive currently for an item of property, plant and equipment 

if it was already of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life based on the prevailing market prices of similar assets already at 
the end of their useful lives.	

		
		  The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any indication that property, plant and equipment may be impaired. If such 

indication exists, the carrying amounts of such assets are reviewed to assess whether they are recorded in excess of their recoverable amount. Where 
carrying values exceed the respective recoverable amounts, assets are written down to their recoverable amounts and the resulting impairment 
charge is recognised in profit and loss account currently.	
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		  Useful lives are determined by the management based on the expected usage of assets, physical wear and tear, technical and commercial obsolescence, 
legal and similar limits on the use of the assets and other similar factors. Maintenance and repairs are charged to profit and loss account as and when 
incurred. Major renewals and improvements are capitalised in accordance with IAS 16, ‘Property, plant and equipment’ and depreciated in a manner 
that represents the consumption pattern and useful lives. Minor repairs and renewals are charged to profit and loss account.	

	
		  Profit or loss on disposal of operating fixed assets are included in profit and loss account in the year in which it is realised.	

2.10	 Capital work in progress	
	
		  Capital work in progress is stated at cost less any identified impairment loss and represents expenditure incurred on property, plant and equipment 

during the construction and installation including applicable borrowing costs. Transfers are made to relevant property, plant and equipment category 
as and when assets are available for use.	

	
	2.11	 Intangible assets	
	
		  Intangible assets are recognised when it is probable that the expected future economic benefits will flow to the Company and the cost of the asset 

can be measured reliably. Cost of the intangible asset (i.e. computer software) includes purchase cost and directly attributable expenses incidental to 
bring the asset for its intended use.	

		  Costs associated with maintaining intangible assets are recognised as an expense as and when incurred.	
	
		  Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Amortisation is charged over the 

estimated useful life of the asset on a systematic basis applying the straight line method at the rate of 33.33%.	
	
		  Useful lives of intangible assets are reviewed, at each balance sheet date and adjusted if the impact of amortisation is significant.	
	
		  The carrying amount of the intangible assets is reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 

amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the intangible asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount in profit and loss account. Reversal of impairment losses are also recognised in profit and loss account, however, is restricted to 
the original cost of the intangible asset.	

	
	2.12	 Stores and spares 	
	
		  Stores and spares are valued at weighted average cost less allowance for obsolete and slow moving items.	
	
		  Stores and spares in transit are stated at cost comprising invoice value and other related charges incurred up to the balance sheet date.	
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	2.13	 Stock in trade	
	
		  Stock in trade is valued at the lower of cost and estimated net realisable value. Cost is determined as follows:	
	
	
		  Raw materials, work in process and finished goods	 Weighted average cost	
	
		  Raw materials in transit	 Invoice value and other related charges	
	
		  Cost of work in process and finished goods comprises cost of direct materials, labour and appropriate manufacturing overheads.	
	
		  Net realisable value is determined on the basis of the estimated selling price of the product in the ordinary course of business less estimated cost of 

completion and costs necessary to be incurred for its sale.	

2.14	 Trade debts 	
	                                                                                   	
		  Trade debts are recognised initially at original invoice amount which is the fair value of consideration to be received in future and subsequently 

measured at amortised cost less an estimate made for impairment based on a review of all outstanding amounts at the year end. A provision for 
impairment of trade debts is established when there is objective evidence that the Company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to 
the original terms of receivables. Bad debts are written off when identified.	

	
	2.15	 Cash and cash equivalents	
	
		  Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the balance sheet at cost. For the purpose of cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise 

cash on hand, demand deposits and other short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are 
subject to  an insignificant risk of change in value. Cash and cash equivalents also include bank overdrafts / short term borrowings that are repayable 
on demand or within a period of 3 months from the reporting date. Further, contractual borrowings are not part of cash and cash equivalents and are 
part of financing activities.	

2.16	 Revenue recognition 	
	
		  Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and services in the ordinary course of the 

Company’s activities.	
	
		  The Company recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured and it is probable that future economic benefits will flow 

to the Company and specific criteria has been met for each of the Company’s activities as described below:	

Stages of stock in trade			   Basis of valuation		
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		  i)	 Sales revenue is recognised at the time the Company has transferred the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods; and	
	
		  ii)	 Returns on bank deposits are accrued on a time proportion basis by reference to the principal outstanding amount and the applicable rate of 

return.	
		
2.17	 Borrowing costs 	
	
		  General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that 

necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the 
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.	

	
		  Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the 

borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.	
	
		  All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit and loss account in the period in which they are incurred.	
	
	2.18	 Foreign currency transactions and translation	
	
		  Foreign currency transactions are recognised or accounted for into Pakistan Rupees using the exchange rate prevailing on the date of the transaction. 

Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are converted into Pakistan Rupees at the rates of exchange prevailing on the balance sheet date. 
Exchange gain / loss on foreign currency translations are included in income / equity along with any related hedge effects.	

	
2.19	 Functional and presentation currency	
	
		  Items included in these financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company operates. 

These financial statements are presented in Pakistan Rupees, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.	
	
	2.20	 Financial instruments	
	
2.20.1	 The Company classifies its financial assets in the following categories:	
	
		  (a) 	 Investments at ‘fair value through profit or loss’	
	
		  -	 Held for trading	
	
			   These include financial instruments acquired principally for the purpose of generating profit from short term fluctuations in prices or dealers’ 

margins or are securities included in portfolio in which a pattern of short term profit taking exists. Derivatives are also categorised as held for 
trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current assets if expected to be settled within 12 months; 
otherwise, these are classified as non-current assets.	
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		  -	 Financial assets designated at ‘fair value through profit or loss’ upon initial recognition	
	
			   These include investments that are designated as investments at ‘fair value through profit or loss’ upon initial recognition.	
	
			   Gains / (losses) arising on sale of investments are included in the profit and loss account currently on the date when the transaction takes 

place.	
		
			   Unrealised gains / (losses) arising on revaluation of securities classified as financial assets at ‘fair value through profit or loss’ are included in the 

profit and loss account in the period in which they arise.	
	
		  (b) 	 Loans and receivables	
	
			   Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. These are 

included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date, which are classified as non-current assets. 
The Company’s loans and receivables comprise ‘long term deposits’, ‘trade debts’, ‘advances and prepayments’, ‘other receivables’ and ‘cash 
and bank balances’ in the balance sheet.	

	
		  (c) 	 Held to maturity 	
	
			   Held to maturity financial assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity with a positive 

intention to hold them up to maturity.	
	
		  (d) 	Available-for-sale	
	
			   Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories. 

These are included in non-current assets unless the investment matures or management intends to dispose of the financial assets within 12 
months of the balance sheet date.	

	
	2.20.2	 Recognition	
	
		  Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date - the date on which the Company commits to purchase or sell 

the asset.	
	
2.20.3	 Measurement	
	
		  Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value (transaction price) plus, in case of a ‘financial asset or financial liability other than those 

at fair value through profit or loss’, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial 
liability. Transaction costs on ‘financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss’ are charged to the profit and loss account 
immediately.	
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		  Subsequent to initial recognition, instruments classified as financial assets at ‘fair value through profit or loss’ and ‘available for sale’ are measured 
at fair value. Gains / (losses) arising from changes in the fair value of the financial assets at ‘fair value through profit or loss’ are recognised in the 
profit and loss account. Changes in the fair value of instruments classified as ‘available for sale’ are recognised in other comprehensive income until 
derecognised or impaired when the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in other comprehensive income are transferred to the profit and 
loss account.	

	
		  Financial assets classified as ‘loans and receivables’ and ‘held to maturity’ are carried at amortised cost using the effective yield method, less 

impairment losses, if any.	
	
		  Financial liabilities, other than those at ‘fair value through profit or loss’ are measured at amortised cost using the effective yield method.	
	
	2.20.4	 Impairment	
	
		  Impairment loss on investment other than ‘available for sale’ is recognised in the profit and loss account whenever the carrying amount of investment 

exceeds its recoverable amount. If in a subsequent period, the amount of an impairment loss recognised decreases the impairment is reversed 
through the profit and loss account.	

			 
		  In case of investment classified as ‘available for sale’, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered 

an indicator that the securities are impaired. If any such evidence exists for ‘available for sale’ financial assets, the cumulative loss measured as 
the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in the 
profit and loss account is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in the profit and loss account. However, any decrease in 
impairment loss on securities classified as ‘available for sale’ is reversed through the profit and loss account and is recognised in other comprehensive 
income.	

	
	2.20.5	 Derecognition	
	
		  The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or it transfers the financial 

asset and the transfer qualifies for derecognition in accordance with IAS 39, ‘Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement’.	
	
		  The Company uses the weighted average method to determine realised gains and losses on derecognition. 	
	
		  A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired.	
	
	2.21	 Derivatives financial instruments and hedging activities	
	
		  Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value. 

The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature 
of the item being hedged. The Company designates derivatives as either fair value hedge or cash flow hedge.	
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		  The Company documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk 
management objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedging transactions. The Company also documents its assessment, both at hedge 
inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in off-setting changes in fair 
values or cash flows of hedged items.	

	
		  (a)	 Fair value hedge	
	
			   Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the profit and loss account, together 

with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk.	
	
		  (b)	 Cash flow hedge	
	
			   The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in other 

comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the profit and loss account.	
			 
			   Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit and loss account in the periods when the hedged item affects profit and loss account 

(for example, when the forecast sale that is hedged takes place). However, when the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition 
of a non-financial asset (for example, inventory or fixed assets), the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity and 
included in the initial measurement of the cost of the asset. The deferred amounts are ultimately recognised in cost of goods sold in the case of 
inventory or in depreciation in the case of fixed assets.	

	
			   When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss 

existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the profit and loss 
account. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately 
transferred to the profit and loss account.	

	
	2.22	 Off-setting of financial assets and financial liabilities	
	
		  A financial asset and a financial liability is offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet if the Company has a legally enforceable right 

to set-off the recognised amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.	
	
	 3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS	
	
	 3.1	 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with approved accounting standards requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. 

It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. Estimates and judgements are 
continually evaluated and are based on historic experience and other factors, including expectation of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. There were no significant judgements involved in the application of Company’s accounting policies. The management has 
made the following estimates which are significant to the financial statements:	
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	3.2	 Current and deferred income taxes	
	
		  In making the estimates for income taxes payable by the Company, management considers current income tax laws and the decisions of appellate 

authorities on certain cases issued in the past. Where the final outcome is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences 
will impact the income tax provision in the period in which such final outcome is determined. Deferred taxes are measured at the tax rates that are 
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.	

	
	 3.3	 Provision for retirement and other service benefit obligations	
	
		  The present value of these obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined on actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. Any 

changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying amount of these obligations. The present values of these obligations and the underlying 
assumptions are disclosed in notes 2.4 and 16.6	

	
	 3.4	 Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets	
	
		  Estimates with respect to residual values and useful lives and pattern flow of economic benefit are based on the recommendation of technical teams 

of the Company. Further, the Company reviews the internal and external indicators for possible impairment of assets on an annual basis. Any change 
in the estimates in future years might affect the carrying amounts of the respective items of property, plant and equipment (note 4) and intangible 
assets (note 5) with a corresponding affect on the depreciation charge, amortisation charge and impairment.	

	
	 3.5	 Provisions	
	
		  Provisions are based on management’s best estimate. Any change in the estimates in future years might affect the carrying amounts of the provision 

with a corresponding affect on the profit and loss account of the Company.	
	
	 4.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT	
	

		  Operating fixed assets	 4.1	  6,690,826	   7,166,705
		  Capital work in progress	 4.2	 -     	  5,440
		  Major spare parts and stand-by equipments	 4.3	  40,408	  43,262
	  				    6,731,234	 7,215,407

Note 2015 2014

(Rupees in ‘000)
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Leasehold
land

Buildings on  
leasehold 

land

Plant and 
machinery

Electrical 
installations

Furniture 
and fittings

Office  
and other  
equipment

Vehicles Total

Year ended December 31, 2015	
	
Opening net book value		   185,474 	  999,444 	  5,697,429 	  192,342 	  34,038 	  16,710 	  41,268 	  7,166,705 
	
Additions		   6,561 	  1,800 	  100,195 	  3,543 	  6,429 	  2,332 	  6,570 	  127,430 
Disposals - note 4.1.4		   -        	  -        	  (221)	  -       	  (104)	  (67)	  (6,113)	  (6,505)
Depreciation charge		   (4,719)	  (69,651)	  (476,091)	  (23,579)	  (7,737)	  (7,669)	  (7,358)	  (596,804)
	
Closing net book value		   187,316 	  931,593 	  5,321,312 	  172,306 	  32,626 	  11,306 	  34,367 	  6,690,826 
	
At December 31, 2015	
Cost	  	 218,762 	  1,291,470 	  9,717,362 	  315,761 	  77,991 	  72,903 	  77,379 	  11,771,628 
Accumulated depreciation	  	 (31,446)	  (359,877)	  (4,396,050)	  (143,455)	  (45,365)	  (61,597)	  (43,012)	  (5,080,802)
	
Net book value	  	 187,316 	  931,593 	  5,321,312 	  172,306 	  32,626 	  11,306 	  34,367 	  6,690,826 
	
Year ended 	
   December 31, 2014	
Opening net book value		   180,916 	  952,622 	  4,992,615 	  178,988 	  22,296 	  9,662 	  57,654 	  6,394,753 
	
Additions		   9,171 	  118,416 	  1,263,595 	  28,430 	  18,851 	  15,935 	  634 	  1,455,032 
Disposals		   -        	  -        	  -        	  -        	  (49)	  (7)	  (6,970)	  (7,026)
Depreciation charge		   (4,613)	  (71,594)	  (558,781)	  (15,076)	  (7,060)	  (8,880)	  (10,050)	  (676,054)
	
Closing net book value		   185,474 	  999,444 	  5,697,429 	  192,342 	  34,038 	  16,710 	  41,268 	  7,166,705 
	
At December 31, 2014	
Cost		   212,201 	  1,289,670 	  9,617,427 	  312,218 	  71,752 	  70,812 	  88,031 	  11,662,111 
Accumulated depreciation		   (26,727)	  (290,226)	  (3,919,998)	  (119,876)	  (37,714)	  (54,102)	  (46,763)	  (4,495,406)
	
Net book value		   185,474 	  999,444 	  5,697,429 	  192,342 	  34,038 	  16,710 	  41,268 	  7,166,705

(Rupees in ‘000)

	4.1	 Operating fixed assets							     

	4.1.1	 The following is a statement of operating fixed assets
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	4.1.2	 Depreciation charge for the year has been allocated as follows: 	
	

	
		  Cost of goods manufactured	 21.1	  576,377 	  651,284 
		  Distribution cost	 22	  2,847 	  3,170 
		  Administrative expenses	 23	  17,580 	  21,600 
					      596,804 	  676,054 
	
4.1.3	 Operating fixed assets include assets having cost of Rs 2.75 billion (2014: Rs 1.46 billion) which were fully depreciated as at the year end.	
	
4.1.4	 Details of operating fixed assets disposed off during the year ended December 31, 2015.	
	
		  The following operating fixed assets with a net book value exceeding Rs 50,000 were disposed off during the year:

2015 2014

(Rupees in ‘000)

	 Tubewell & Pumps	
		  Microtech	  260 	  39 	  221 	  249 	  28 
	 Vehicles  (Employees)	
		  Muhammad Nadeem	  826 	  556 	  270 	  271 	  1 
		  Jamil Ahmed	  673 	  452 	  221 	  221 	  -     
		  Asifa Piracha	  654 	  440 	  214 	  214 	  -    
		  M. Arif Qazi	  782 	  316 	  466 	  481 	  15 
		  Masoom Butt	  1,298 	  786 	  512 	  513 	  1 
		  Khurram Javaid	  701 	  471 	  230 	  230 	  -    
		  Kamran Qayum	  859 	  578 	  281 	  282 	  1 
		  Kamran Qayum	  470 	  371 	  99 	  264 	  165 
		  Kashif Abrar	  684 	  460 	  224 	  237 	  13 
		  Shayan Azim	  788 	  362 	  426 	  454 	  28 
		  Ahmed Adeel	  782 	  368 	  414 	  444 	  30 
		  Rizwan Quddus	  692 	  466 	  226 	  234 	  8 
		  Omer Ayub	  726 	  488 	  238 	  238 	  -    
		  Mobeen Asad	  726 	  488 	  238 	  314 	  76 
		  Imran Sadiq	  726 	  488 	  238 	  238 	  -    
		  Nadeem Afzal	  836 	  661 	  175 	  675 	  500 
		  Muhammad Zubair	  707 	  476 	  231 	  232 	  1 
		  Yasir Kamal Khan	  702 	  472 	  230 	  230 	  -    
		  Laung Khan	  908 	  611 	  297 	  298 	  1 
	
	 Vehicles (Outsiders by negotiation)	
		  Noman Ahmed Siddiqui	  1,010 	  679 	  331 	  681 	  350 
		  Noman Ahmed Siddiqui	  505 	  340 	  165 	  394 	  229 
		  M. Saleem Alvi	  517 	  348 	  169 	  389 	  220 
		  A. Samad Khan	  646 	  434 	  212 	  545 	  333 
	
			    17,478 	  11,150 	  6,328 	  8,328 	  2,000

CostParticulars Sold to
Accumulated 
depreciation

Net book 
value

Sale  
proceeds

Gain /
(loss)

(Rupees in ‘000)

Note
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4.1.5	 All disposals were made according to the policy of the Company.	
	
4.2	 Capital work in progress      	
	
		  Plant and machinery 		   -       	  3,188 
		  Building and civil works		   -       	  2,252 
	  				    -       	  5,440
4.3	 Major spare parts and stand-by equipment	
	
		  Balance at the beginning of the year	  	 43,262 	  39,350 
		  Additions during the year		   8,483 	  55,471 
		  Transfers made during the year	  	 (11,337)	  (51,559)
		  Balance at the end of the year		   40,408 	  43,262 
	
	 5.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS	
	
		  Computer software	
	
		  At January 1	
		  Cost		   44,577 	  41,560 
		  Accumulated amortisation		   (36,239)	  (30,395)
		  Net book value		   8,338 	  11,165 
	
		  Additions during the year		   3,662 	  3,017 
	
		  Amortisation for the year		   (5,021)	  (5,844)
		  Net book value as at December 31		   6,979 	  8,338 
	
		  At December 31	
		  Cost		   48,239 	  44,577 
		  Accumulated amortisation		   (41,260)	  (36,239)
		  Net book value		   6,979 	  8,338 
	
5.1	 Amortisation charge for the year has been allocated to administrative expenses.	
	

2015 2014

(Rupees in ‘000)
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	 6.	 STORES AND SPARES	
	
	

		  Stores		   40,773 	  72,357 
		  Spares		   298,953 	  296,798 
		  Stores and spares in transit		   9,168 	  15,528 
					      348,894 	  384,683 
	 7.	 STOCK IN TRADE	
	
		  Raw materials		
			   In hand	  	 744,726 	  908,470 
			   In transit	  	 122,773 	  274,802 
					      867,499 	  1,183,272 
	
		  Packing materials		   29,472 	  37,002 
		  Work in process		   232,886 	  366,517 
		  Finished goods	  	 164,016 	  90,857 
	  				    1,293,873 	  1,677,648
8.		 TRADE DEBTS  - NET	
	
		  Unsecured	
	
		  Considered good	
		  Due from related parties	 8.1 & 8.2	  65,402	 84,076 	
		  Others 		   1,149,889 	  1,381,386	
 					     1,215,291 	  1,465,462
		
		  Considered doubtful - others 		   96,666 	  79,425
		
		  Secured	
	
		  Considered good	
			   Due from related parties	 8.1 & 8.2	  1,663 	  4,059	
			   Others 		   10,936 	  54,008	
					      12,599 	  58,067
	  				    1,324,556 	  1,602,954
		  Less: Provision for doubtful debts	 8.3	  (96,666)	  (79,425)	
 					     1,227,890 	  1,523,529
	

Note 2015 2014

(Rupees in ‘000)
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	8.1	 Trade debts include the following amounts due from related parties:	
	
	

		  Packages Limited	  	 65,402 	  84,076	
		  Packages Lanka (Private) Limited	  	 1,663 	  4,059	
 					     67,065 	  88,135
	 8.2	 These are in the normal course of business and are interest free.

	8.3	 Provision for doubtful debts	
	
		  Balance at beginning of the year	  	 79,425 	  4,675
		  Provision for the year - net	 23	  17,241	  74,750	
		  Balance at end of the year		   96,666 	  79,425

	 8.4	 The maximum amount receivable from any related party during the year is Rs 249.64 million (2014: Rs 240.52 million).	

	 8.5	 As at December 31, 2015, trade debts of Rs 406.83 million (2014: Rs 306.06 million) were past due but not impaired. These relate to a number of 
independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default.	

	
		  The ageing analysis of these trade debts is as follows:	
		
		

		  Upto 1 - 2 months		   309,309 	  106,012	
		  Upto 3 - 4 months		   48,965 	  138,629	
		  Upto 5 - 6 months		   18,125 	  11,148	
		  More than 6 months		   30,431 	  50,273	
					     406,830 	  306,062
	
	 8.6	 As at December 31, 2015, trade receivables of Rs 96.67 million (2014: Rs 79.43 million) were impaired and provided for. The ageing of these 

receivables is as follows:	
	
		

		  Upto 91 - 180 days		   -        	  20,372	
		  More than 180 days		   96,666 	  59,053	
 					     96,666 	  79,425

Note 2015

2015

2015

2014

2014

2014

(Rupees in ‘000)

(Rupees in ‘000)

(Rupees in ‘000)
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	 9.	 ADVANCES AND PREPAYMENTS
		
	
		
		  Advances, considered good - due from employees	 9.1	  3,911 	 1,511	
		  Advances to suppliers - considered good		   27,827 	  39,879	
		  Advances to clearing agents	  	 20,479 	  48,056	
		  Prepayments		   7,807 	  8,994	
 					     60,024 	  98,440

9.1	 These advances primarily include advance against travelling and house rent given to executives as per terms of employment. The maximum amounts 
due at the end of any month during the year from the Chief Executive and other executives were Nil (2014: Rs 0.86 million) and Rs 4.50 million 
(2014: Rs 3.09 million) respectively.	

	
	10.	 OTHER RECEIVABLES

		
		  Sales tax recoverable		   -        	  112,219 
		  Rebate on exports recoverable		   61,129 	  53,709	
		  Security deposit	  	 3,757 	  3,757 	
		  Receivable from pension fund		   -        	  3,700 	
		  Receivable from Workers’ profits participation fund	 16.5	  -       	 16,071	
		  Rebate receivable	  	 21,736 	  30,714	
		  Car advances to employees	 10.1	  26,493 	 -       	
		  Others		   1,425 	  615	
	  				    114,540 	  220,785

10.1	 This represents car financing facility according to which an employee is provided with the car advance for a period of five years. During this tenure, 
the salvage value of the vehicle is recovered from an employee in equal monthly installments. In case an employee leaves earlier, outstanding amount 
is recoverable. Earlier the cars were capitalised and only the amount of salvage values were recovered from employees.	

	
11.	 CASH AND BANK BALANCES
	

		  Cash with banks in	
			   Current accounts	
		     	    Local currency	  	 365,981 	  686,523	
	   	    	    Foreign currency	  	 11,687 	  10,743
		  Cash in hand		   365 	  380	
 					     378,033 	  697,646

Note

Note

2015

2015

2015

2014

2014

2014

(Rupees in ‘000)

(Rupees in ‘000)

(Rupees in ‘000)
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12.	 SHARE CAPITAL 	
	
		  NUMBER OF SHARES

	
		  Authorised	
	
		  100,000,000     	 Ordinary shares of Rs 10 each		   1,000,000 	  1,000,000
		
		  Issued, subscribed and paid-up	
	
		  30,000,000      	 Ordinary shares of Rs 10 each fully paid in cash	  	 300,000 	  300,000
		   	   

	12.1	 Packages Limited, Mitsubishi Corporation - Japan and IGI Insurance Limited held 10,000,000 (2014: 10,000,000), 7,499,000 (2014: 7,499,000) and 
1,353,416 (2014: 1,700,349) ordinary shares of the Company respectively, as at December 31, 2015.	

	
12.2	 Issue of rights shares	
	
		  The Board of Directors in a meeting held on December 4, 2015 announced a rights issue at premium to the existing shareholders at a proportion 

of 29.33 ordinary shares for every 100 shares held. Total amount expected from the issue is Rs. 1.1 billion divided into 8,800,000 shares of                       
Rs. 125 per share includes premium per share of Rs. 115. The right issues shall rank pari-passu with the existing ordinary shares of the Company in 
all respects, but shall not be entitled to dividend, if declared, for the year ended December 31, 2015. The right offers were registered in the name of 
the shareholders on January 15, 2016 and became available for trading from February 1, 2016. The right offer must be accepted and paid for in full 
to the extent of subscription on or before March 14, 2016. The rights issue is being made to improve capital structure of the Company.	

	
		  Mitsubishi Corporation of Japan has declined to take up its proportion of the rights issue, which IGI Insurance Limited and Syed Hyder Ali (Director) 

have undertaken to subscribe, under an agreement between Mitsubishi Corporation of Japan, IGI Insurance Limited and Syed Hyder Ali (Director), 
subject to approval by the Competition Commission of Pakistan.	

		
	 13.	 LONG TERM FINANCES	
	
		
		  Secured	
	
		  Finance - 1	 13.1	  700,000 	  900,000	
		  Finance - 2	 13.2	  1,000,000 	  1,000,000	
		  Finance - 3	 13.3	  1,477,677 	  1,976,924	
		  Finance - 4	 13.3	  437,500 	  500,000	
		  Finance - 5	 13.4	  1,000,000 	  1,000,000	
 					     4,615,177 	  5,376,924	
		  Less: Current portion of long term finances		   (950,384)	  (861,748)	
 					     3,664,793 	  4,515,176

Note

2015

2015

2014

2014

(Rupees in ‘000)

(Rupees in ‘000)
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13.1	 The Company had obtained a long term finance facility of Rs 1 billion (2014: Rs 1 billion) from a commercial bank under mark-up arrangements with 
its first draw down on June 1, 2012 . Mark-up was payable on a semi-annual basis at the rate of six months Karachi Inter Bank Offer Rate (KIBOR) plus 
0.75% (2014: 0.75%) per annum. The effective rate of mark-up during the year was 8.80% (2014: 10.83%) per annum. The principal amount was 
repayable semi annually in 10 equal installments commencing after six months with a grace period of two years from the date of first draw down. The 
last installment of the repayment of loan will be due in the month of June 2016 .This facility was secured by first pari passu hypothecation / mortgage 
charges on all the Company’s present and future fixed assets including but not limited to land, building, plant and machinery, equipment, furniture 
and fixtures, etc.	

	
	13.2	 The Company had obtained long term finance facility of Rs 1 billion (2014: Rs. 1 billion) from a commercial bank under mark-up arrangements 

with Rs. 700 million under long term financing facility (LTFF) scheme provided by State Bank of Pakistan and Rs. 300 million under term loan 
arrangement. The first draw down from the facility was made on  8 November 2013 . Mark-up payable on LTFF facility is on a semi-annual basis at 
the rate of 9.5% per annum (2014: 9.5% per annum) whereas markup payable on term loan is on the rate of three months KIBOR plus 0.80% (2014: 
three months KIBOR plus 0.80%). The effective weighted average rate of mark-up during the year ended is  9.19% (2014: 10.83%). The principal 
amount is repayable in 10 equal installments commencing after six months with a grace period of two years from the date of first draw down.  The 
last installment of the repayment of loan will be due in the month of March 2020. This facility is secured by first pari passu hypothecation / mortgage 
charges on all the Company’s present and future fixed assets including land and buildings, plant and machinery, equipment, furniture and fixtures 
etc.	

	
13.3	 The Company had obtained long term finance facility of Rs 2.5 billion (2014: Rs. 2.5 billion) from a commercial bank under mark-up arrangement 

with Rs. 1,500 million under long term financing facility (LTFF) scheme provided by State Bank of Pakistan and Rs. 1 billion under term loan 
arrangement. The first draw down from the facility was made on  7 December 2010 . Mark-up payable on LTFF facility is on a quarterly basis from 
9.2% per annum to 10.7% per annum (2014: 9.2% per annum to 10.7% per annum) whereas markup payable on term loan is from three months 
KIBOR plus 0.75% to six months KIBOR plus 0.75% (2014: three months KIBOR plus 0.75% to six months KIBOR plus 0.75%). The effective weighted 
average rate of mark-up during the year ended for the two facilities is  9.61% and 8.47% respectively (2014: 10.05% and 10.73%). The principal 
amount is repayable in 10 equal installments commencing after six months with a grace period of two years from the date of first draw down.  The last 
installment of the repayment of loan will be due in the month of October 2019. This facility is secured by first pari passu hypothecation / mortgage 
charges on all the Company’s present and future fixed assets including land and buildings, plant and machinery, equipment, furniture and fixtures 
etc.	

	
13.4	 The Company had obtained a long term finance facility of Rs 1 billion (2014: Rs 1 billion) from a commercial bank under mark-up arrangements 

with its first draw down on  April 1, 2014 . Mark-up was payable on a semi-annual basis at the rate of three months Karachi Inter Bank Offer Rate 
(KIBOR) plus 0.75% (2014: 0.75%) per annum. The effective rate of mark-up during the year was 8.55% (December 31, 2014: 10.93%) per annum. 
The principal amount was repayable semi annually in 10 equal installments commencing after six months with a grace period of two years from the 
date of first draw down. The last installment of the repayment of loan will be due in the month of March 2021. This facility was secured by first pari 
passu hypothecation / mortgage charges on all the Company’s present and future fixed assets including but not limited to land, building, plant and 
machinery, equipment, furniture and fixtures, etc.	
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	14.	 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES	
	
		
		  (Debit) / credit balances arising from:	
	
			   Accelerated tax depreciation allowance	  	 740,280 	  859,213	
			   Amortisation allowance		   (6,264)	  (7,008)	
			   Tax loss		   (524,273)	  (730,783)	
			   Provision for accumulated compensated absences		   (8,619)	  (8,885)	
			   Provision for doubtful debts		   (29,000)	  (27,799)	
			   Minimum Tax		   (113,399)	  -     	
	  				    58,725	  84,738
	 15.	 ACCUMULATED COMPENSATED ABSENCES	
	
		  Opening balance	  	 27,364 	  33,612	
		  Expense recognised 		   5,624 	  11,340	
		  Payments made during the year	  	 (2,555)	  (17,588)	
		  Closing balance	  	 30,433 	  27,364
	
	 16.	 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES	
	
		  Creditors 	 16.1	  33,471 	  106,635	
		  Accrued liabilities	 16.3	  520,445 	  305,284	
		  Liability for imported goods	 16.4	  1,461,747 	  1,427,610	
		  Advances from customers	  	 76,992 	  76,964	
		  Retention money		   853 	  853 	
		  Unclaimed dividend		   10,380 	  10,389 	
		  Sales Tax Payable	  	 55,168 	  -      	
		  Workers’ profits participation fund	 16.5	  8,675 	  -     	
		  Staff Retirement Benefits	 16.6	
		    - Payable to gratuity fund 		   50,174 	  40,203	
		    - Payable to pension fund		   4,444 	  -    	
		  Workers’ welfare fund		   11,702 	  1,709 	
		   			   2,234,051 	  1,969,647 	
	
16.1	 Creditors include Rs 2.86 million (2014: Rs 27.44 million) payable to associated undertakings.	
	
16.2	 The maximum amount due to any related party during the year is Rs 153.82 million (2014: Rs 292.64 million).	
	
	16.3	 This includes amount in respect of Gas Infrastructure Development Cess (GIDC) amounting to Rs. 290.08 million (2014: Rs. 133.08 million) which 

has not been paid due to stay order obtained by the Company in the Honourable High Courts of Sindh and Peshawar against demand and collection 
under GIDC Act 2015.	

Note 2015 2014

(Rupees in ‘000)
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16.4	 The amount includes Rs. 418.96 million in relation to letter of credits under supplier financing arrangement.	
	
	16.5	 Workers’ profits participation fund	
	
		

		  Asset / (liability) at the beginning of the year		   16,071 	  (1,189)	
		  Allocation for the year		   (24,983)	  -  
					      (8,912)	  (1,189)	
		  Payments during the year	  	 237 	  17,260	
		  (Liability) / asset at the end of the year	  	 (8,675)	 16,071

16.6	 Staff retirement benefits	
	
		  As stated in note 2.4.2 the company operates approved funded defined benefit gratuity plan for all employees, defined contribution plan for all active employees 

and defined benefit plan for pensioners who have retired before December 31, 2012 subject to minimum service of prescribed period in the respective trust 
deed. Actuarial valuation of these plans is carried out every year and the latest actuarial valuation was carried out as at December 31, 2015.	

	
		  Plan assets held in trust are governed by local regulations which mainly include Trust  Act, 1882; the Companies Ordinance, 1984; Income Tax Rules, 

2002 and the Rules under the respective trust deeds. Responsibility for governance of the Plans, including investment decisions and contribution 
schedules, lies with the respective Board of Trustees. The company appoints the trustees and all trustees are employees of the company.	

	
		  The latest actuarial valuations of the Plans as at December 31, 2015 were carried out using the Projected Unit Credit Method. Details of the Funds 

as per the actuarial valuations are as follows:

2015 2014

(Rupees in ‘000)

20152015 20142014Note

Pension Fund Gratuity Fund
(Rupees in ‘000)

16.6.1	 The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows: 	
		
		  Present value of defined benefit obligation	 16.6.3	  58,586 	  56,903 	  116,134 	  94,850 
		  Fair value of plan assets	 16.6.4	  (54,142)	  (60,603)	  (65,960)	  (54,647)
		  Net (asset) / liability as at December 31		   4,444 	  (3,700)	  50,174 	  40,203 
	
16.6.2	 Net (asset) / liability as at January 1		   (3,700)	  1,368 	  40,203 	  27,875 
		  Charge to profit and loss account		   (388)	  171 	  15,274 	  12,463
		  Loss / (Gain) charged to other comprehensive income		   8,532 	  (5,239)	  10,310 	  13,889 
		  Contribution by the Company		   -       	  -   	  (15,613)	  (14,024)
		  Net (asset) / liability as at December 31		   4,444 	  (3,700)	  50,174 	  40,203 
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20152015 20142014

Pension Fund Gratuity Fund

(Rupees in ‘000)16.6.3	 The movement in the present value of defined benefit obligation	
		     is as follows:
		
		  Present value of defined benefit obligation as at January 1		   56,903 	  50,495 	  94,850 	  81,474 
		  Current service cost		   -       	  -       	  11,630 	  9,751 
		  Interest cost on defined benefit obligation		   5,660 	  5,956 	  10,131 	  9,380 
		  Benefits paid		   (6,001)	  (5,697)	  (9,586)	  (18,637)
		  Experience loss 		   2,024 	  6,149 	  9,109 	  12,882 
		  Present value of defined benefit obligation as at December 31		   58,586 	  56,903 	  116,134 	  94,850 
		
16.6.4	 The movement in fair value of plan assets is as follows:	
		
		  Fair value as at January 1		   60,603 	  49,127 	  54,647 	  53,599 
		  Contributions made by employer		   -       	  -       	  15,613 	  14,024 
		  Income on plan assets		   6,048 	  5,785 	  6,487 	  6,668 
		  Return on plan assets excluding interest income	  	 (6,508)	  11,388 	  (1,201)	  (1,007)
		  Benefits paid		   (6,001)	  (5,697)	  (9,586)	  (18,637)
		  Fair value of as at December 31	  	 54,142 	  60,603 	  65,960 	  54,647 
		
16.6.5	 The amounts recognized in the profit and loss account are as follows:	
		
		  Current service cost		   -       	  -       	  11,630 	  9,751 
		  Interest cost on defined benefit obligation		   5,660 	  5,956 	  10,131 	  9,380 
		  Interest income on plan assets	  	 (6,048)	  (5,785)	  (6,487)	  (6,668)
					      (388)	  171 	  15,274 	  12,463 
		
	16.6.6	 The amounts recognized in the other comprehensive	 income are as follows:	
		
		  Experience loss		   2,024 	  6,149 	  9,109 	  12,882 
		  Return on plan assets excluding interest income		   6,508 	  (11,388)	  1,201 	  1,007 
	  				    8,532 	  (5,239)	  10,310 	  13,889 
	16.6.7	 Plan assets are comprised as follows:	
		
		  Debt		   25,008 	  21,646 	  27,378 	  34,408 
		  Equity 		   28,771 	  34,090 	  37,153 	  12,681 
		  Cash		   363 	  4,867 	  1,429 	  7,558 
					      54,142 	  60,603 	  65,960 	  54,647 
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16.6.8	 The Company ensures asset / liability matching by investing in government securities, bank deposits, mutual funds and does not use derivatives to 
manage its risk. 	

	
	16.6.9	 The expected return on respective plan assets has been determined by considering the expected returns available on the assets underlying the 

current investment policy. 	

16.6.10	 The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the weighted principal assumptions is:	
		
		  Year end sensitivity analysis on defined benefit obligation:	
	
		

		  Discount rate + 100 bps		   59,489 	  105,106	
		  Discount rate - 100 bps		   69,806 	  129,022	
		  Salary increase + 100 bps		   70,533 	  129,199	
		  Salary increase - 100 bps		   58,818 	  104,760	
	
		  -  Average expected  remaining working  life time of gratuity management  employees is 10 years.	
		  -  Average expected remaining working life time of pension management employees is 9 years.	
	
		  The above sensitivity analysis are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, this is unlikely to 

occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant 
actuarial assumptions the same method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit method at the end 
of the reporting period) has been applied.	

	
	 17.	 ACCRUED MARK-UP	
	
	
	
		  On long term finances		   65,691 	  84,165	
		  On short term finances		   14,149 	  84,060	
 					     79,840 	  168,225
	 18.	 SHORT TERM BORROWINGS	
	
		  Secured	
	
		  Short term money market loans	 18.1	  1,700,000 	  1,975,000	
		  Short term running finance	 18.2	  482,897 	  824,488	
		  Export re-financing loan		   -     280,000	
					     2,182,897 	  3,079,488	
		  Short term loan	 18.3	  -     	  735,735	
 					     2,182,897 	 3,815,223

(Rupees in ‘000)

2015

Pension Fund Gratuity Fund

Note 2015 2014

(Rupees in ‘000)
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18.1	 Short term money market loans have been arranged from commercial banks as a sub-limit of the running finance facility. These facilities are secured 
by joint hypothecation by way of first floating charge over current assets including but not limited to stores and spares, stock in trade and trade debts. 
Rate of mark-up applicable to these facilities ranges between 6.58% to 10.16% (2014: 9.92% to 10.61%) per annum. The facilities are available for 
the maximum period of one year from the date of agreement with the latest facility expiring on 30 September 2016. 	

	
18.2	 Short term running finances have been obtained under mark-up arrangement with banks payable on various maturity dates up to September 30, 

2016. These facilities are secured by joint hypothecation by way of first floating charge over current assets including but not limited to stores and 
spares, stock in trade and trade debts. Rate of mark-up applicable to these facilities ranges between 7.0% to 10.81% (2014: 10.06% to 11.49%) per 
annum. 	

	
18.3	 During the year the Company repaid short term loan of Rs 735.74 million, which was obtained from a commercial bank under murabaha financing 

arrangement.	
	
18.4	 Total facilities available under mark-up arrangements aggregated Rs 8.75 billion (2014: Rs 8.45 billion) out of which the amount unavailed at the 

year end was Rs 6.57 billion (2014: Rs 4.64 billion).	
	
	 19.	 CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS     	
	
		
		  Contingencies	
		  Guarantees issued by banks on behalf of the Company		   277,436 	  244,786	
		
		  Commitments	
		  Letters of credit for purchase of raw materials and spares	  	 299,507 	  587,486

19.1	 The facilities for opening of letter of credits and for guarantees as at December 31, 2015 amount to Rs 12.15 billion (2014: Rs 12.15 billion) and                                
Rs 395 million (2014: Rs 395 million) respectively, of which the amount remaining unutilised was of Rs 10.39 billion (2014: Rs 10.14 billion) and 
Rs 117.56 million (2014: Rs 150.21 million) respectively.	

	
19.2	 In respect of tax year 2013, Deputy Commissioner Inland Revenue (DCIR) passed an order under section 221 of the Ordinance for levy of WWF 

assessed as Rs. 16.30 million viz-a-viz the returned amount of Rs. 13.65 million.  An application for rectification was filed against the said order with 
the DCIR. The Commissioner Inland Revenue (Appeals) (CIR(A)) through appellate order upheld the action of DCIR of levying WWF as per amended 
provisions of WWFO and direction was given to DCIR to allow proper credit of taxes paid / deducted after verification. An appeal against the said 
order was filed with Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue (ATIR) on February 12, 2015. The management of the Company, based on the advice of its 
tax consultant, is confident that the ultimate decision in respect of the aforementioned matter shall be made in its favour.

19.3	 In respect of tax year 2008 and 2011, the Commissioner Inland Revenue (Appeals) through appellate order dated April 30, 2015 and May 19, 
2015 has disposed off the appeals  of the company maintaining the disallowances on account of the taxation of tenderable gains  amounting to Rs. 
5.66 million and provisions for post retirement benefit funds amounting to Rs. 6.34 million. Further adjustment of minimum tax liability carried 
forward amounting to Rs. 42.93 million was disallowed. The Company has filed an appeal before the ATIR in respect of the matters maintained. The 
management of the Company, based on the advice of its tax consultant, is confident that the ultimate decision in respect of the aforementioned matter 
shall be made in its favour.	

	

2015 2014

(Rupees in ‘000)
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19.4	 In respect of tax year 2009, the Commissioner Inland Revenue (Appeals) through appellate order dated May 19, 2015 has disposed off the appeal in 
favor of the company except on maintaining the action of taxation officer on disallowance of finance cost capitalized as part of the cost of Plant and 
Machinery amounting to Rs. 8.47 million and interest on advance to executives and employees as loan amounting to Rs. 0.27 million. Company  has 
filed an appeal before ATIR in respect of the issue maintained by the Commissioner (Appeals) and the management of the Company, based on the 
advise of its consultant, is confident that the ultimate decision in respect of the aforementioned matter shall be made in its favour. 

	
20.	 REVENUE

	
		  Sale of goods:	
		  - Local		   13,264,008 	  14,763,714	
	  	 Less: Sales tax		   (1,975,169)	  (2,144,789)	
			    		  11,288,839 	  12,618,925	
		  - Export		   665,332 	  978,156	
					      11,954,171 	  13,597,081	
	
21.	 COST OF SALES	
	
		  Opening stock of finished goods		   90,857 	  109,798	
		  Cost of goods manufactured 	 21.1	  10,170,065 	 12,356,274
		  Less: Closing stock of finished goods		   (164,016)	  (90,857)	
 					     10,096,906 	  12,375,215
21.1	 Cost of goods manufactured	
	
		  Opening stock of work in process 		   366,517 	  466,456	
		  Raw materials consumed	 21.2	  7,631,617 	  9,864,505	
		  Salaries, wages and other benefits	  	 518,312 	  443,993	
		  Fuel, power and water	  	 686,826 	  645,066	
		  Packing materials consumed	 21.3	  311,575 	  321,280	
		  Repairs and maintenance	 21.4	  175,625 	  175,564 
		  Insurance	  	 47,406 	  67,509
		  Vehicle running and maintenance		   31,242 	  29,680	
		  Travelling	  	 8,719 	  7,715	
		  Staff retirement benefits	 21.5	  37,678 	 35,678	
		  Depreciation	 4.1.2	  576,377 	  651,284	
		  Lease rentals	  	 1,998 	  1,184	
		  Others		   9,059 	  12,877	
	  				    10,402,951 	  12,722,791	
		  Less: Closing stock of work in process 		   (232,886)	  (366,517)	
					     10,170,065	  12,356,274

Note 2015 2014

(Rupees in ‘000)
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21.2	 Raw materials consumed	
	
		

		  Opening stock		   1,183,272 	  1,710,069	
		  Purchases 		   7,315,844 	  9,337,708	
		  Less: Closing stock		   (867,499)	  (1,183,272)	
					      7,631,617 	  9,864,505
	21.3	 Packing materials consumed	
	
		  Opening stock		   37,002 	  21,244	
		  Purchases 		   304,045 	  337,038	
		  Less: Closing stock		   (29,472)	  (37,002)	
				     	 311,575 	  321,280

	21.4	 This includes stores and spares consumed amounting to Rs 85.74 million (2014: Rs 64.83 million).	
	
21.5	 This includes Rs 9.48 million (2014: Rs 8.14 million) in respect of contribution to provident fund, Rs 9.69 million (2014: Rs 7.96 million) in respect 

of gratuity fund, Rs 14.77 million (2014: Rs 13.23 million) in respect of pension fund and Rs 3.74 million (2014: Rs 6.35 million) in respect of 
compensated absences.	

	
	 22.	 DISTRIBUTION COSTS	
	
		

		  Salaries, wages and other benefits		   67,571 	  65,005	
		  Outward freight		   182,532 	  297,078	
		  Travelling		   6,952 	  8,973 	
		  Rent, rates and taxes		   5,872 	  5,411	
		  Repairs and maintenance	  	 1,464 	  2,200	
		  Vehicle running and maintenance	  	 2,567 	  4,111	
		  Insurance	  	 1,967 	  2,013	
		  Staff retirement benefits	 22.1	  8,626 	  8,703	
		  Depreciation 	 4.1.2	  2,847 	  3,170	
		  Lease rentals		   917 	  699	
		  Other expenses		   4,913 	  3,230	
	  				    286,228 	  400,593	
	
22.1	 This includes Rs 2.01 million (2014: Rs 1.82 million) in respect of contribution to provident fund, Rs 2.06 million (2014: Rs 1.42 million) in 

respect of gratuity fund, Rs 3.87 million (2014: Rs 3.57 million) in respect of pension fund and Rs 0.68 million (2014: Rs 1.89 million) in respect of 
compensated absences.	

	

2015

2015

2014

2014

(Rupees in ‘000)

(Rupees in ‘000)

Note
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23.	 ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES	
	
	

		  Salaries, wages and other benefits 		   168,098 	  127,596	
		  Rent, rates and taxes		   8,669 	  7,412	
		  Printing, stationery and periodicals		   8,491 	  7,068	
		  Postage and telephone		   9,130 	  11,065	
		  Repairs and maintenance		   11,633 	  12,479	
		  Vehicle running and maintenance		   5,229 	  5,334	
		  Travelling	  	 15,920 	 7,629
		  Insurance	  	 3,333 	  4,559 	
		  Staff training and development		   4,848 	  4,385	
		  Provision for doubtful debts	 8.3	  17,241 	  74,750	
		  Staff retirement benefits 	 23.1	  17,015 	  15,922	
		  Auditors’ remuneration	 23.2	  8,591 	  3,880	
		  Legal and professional expenses	  	 25,470 	  11,573	
		  Depreciation 	 4.1.2	  17,580 	  21,600	
		  Amortization	 5.1	  5,021 	  5,844	
		  Electricity, gas and water 	  	 2,948 	  3,758	
		  Advertisement		   1,330 	  722	
		  Donations	 23.3	  200 	  630	
		  Lease rentals	  	 6,109 	  2,687	
		  Other expenses		   5,786 	  5,529	
	  				    342,642 	  334,422

23.1	 Staff retirement benefits include Rs 3.41 million (2014: Rs 2.67 million) in respect of contribution to provident fund, Rs 3.52 million (2014: Rs 3.08 
million) in respect of gratuity fund, Rs 8.89 million (2014: Rs 7.07 million) in respect of pension fund and Rs 1.2 million (2014: Rs 3.09 million) in 
respect of compensated absences.	

	
	23.2	 Auditors’ remuneration	
	
		  Audit fee		   1,400 	  1,210	
		  Review of half yearly accounts, review of statement of compliance on best corporate	
		  practices, audit of  employees’ retirement funds and other special reviews		   2,131 	  1,056	
		  Tax services		   4,633 	  1,218	
		  Out of pocket expenses		   427 	  396 	
					      8,591 	  3,880

23.3	 During the current year, donations were not made to any donee in which the Company or a director or his spouse had any interest.

Note 2015

2015

2014

2014

(Rupees in ‘000)

(Rupees in ‘000)
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24.	 OTHER INCOME

		
		  Income from financial assets	
			   Profit on bank balances		   1,095 	  456
		  Income from assets other than financial assets	
			   Profit on disposal of operating fixed assets	  	 2,045 	  1,124	
			   Sale of scrap materials	  	 51,060 	  31,916	
				     	 53,105 	  33,040	
		  Others	
			   Commission earned on insurance premium from a related party	  	 6,475 	  6,851
			   Exchange gain		   -     	  65,099	
 					     6,475 	  71,950	
 					     60,675 	  105,446
25.	 OTHER EXPENSES	
	
		  Workers’ profits participation fund		   24,983 	  -  	
		  Workers’ welfare fund		   9,993 	  -  	
	  				    34,976 	  -  	
	
26.	 FINANCE COST	
	
		  Mark-up on long term finances	  	 465,463 	  545,987	
		  Mark-up on short term finances		   207,588 	  367,473	
		  Bank and other charges	  	 8,024 	  9,578	
		  Exchange loss	  	 100,841 	  -   	
	  				    781,916 	  923,038	
	
27.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE	
	
		  Current 	
		    For the year	 27.2	  -     	 -  	
		    For prior year		   -    	  -  	
 					     -     	  -  	
		  Deferred	  	 26,013 	  (131,095)	
					     26,013 	  (131,095)

Note 2015 2014

(Rupees in ‘000)



 

Tri-Pack Films Limited125

27.1	 Tax reconciliation	
	
		

		  Profit / (loss) before income tax	  	 472,178 	  (330,741)

		  Tax @ 32% (2014: 33%)	  	 151,097	  (109,145)	
		  Effect of	
		  - Minimum tax		   -     	  126,508	
		  - Final tax regime		   192 	  (7,063)	
		  - Tax rebate		   (120,700)	 (136,975)	
		  - Income not subject to tax		   (7,867)	 (12,492)	
		  - Inadmissible expenses		   1,574 	  1,732	
		  - Others		   (50,309)	  6,340
					      (26,013)	  (131,095)

		  Effective tax rate		  (5.51)%	 39.64%
	
27.2	 The investment tax credit amounting to Rs 120.7 million available to the Company by virtue of investment in plant and machinery in accordance 

with Section 65B of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 has been netted off against the current tax charge for the year. 	
	
	 28.	 EARNINGS / (LOSS) PER SHARE - basic and diluted	
	
		

		  Profit / (loss) after taxation attributable to ordinary shareholders		   498,191 	  (199,646)
	  

						      (Re-stated)
		  Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year - note 28.1	  	 33,528 	  33,528

			 

						      (Re-stated)
		  Basic earnings / (loss) per share 	  	 14.86 	 (5.95)

	28.1	 The weighted average number of outstanding shares as at December 31, 2015 have increased due to the bonus element in the right issue.	
	
		  There were no convertible dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding as at December 31, 2015 and 2014.	

2015

2015

2014

2014

(Rupees in ‘000)

(Rupees in ‘000)

2015 2014

(Rupees)

2015 2014

Number of shares in ‘000
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Chief Executive Chief ExecutiveExecutives Executives

	29.	 REMUNERATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE, DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES	
	
	

		

		  Managerial remuneration		   12,913 	  75,206 	  9,814 	  59,968	
Bonus	  			   11,014 	  35,930 	  6,039 	  11,250	
Staff retirement benefits 	 29.1	  2,583 	  27,955 	  1,961 	  22,351	
Housing 	  			   5,811 	  50,705 	  5,294 	  40,642	
Utilities	  			   1,291 	  7,487 	  981 	  5,960	
Leave passage	  			   1,076 	  6,224 	  1,552 	  11,025	
Medical expenses	  		  87 	  3,506 	  177 	  2,319	
Other allowances and benefits		   10,919 	  45,840 	  1,828 	  22,441	
 					     45,694 	  252,853 	  27,646 	  175,956

		  Number of persons			   1	 66	 2	 47

	29.1	 Staff retirement benefits includes amount contributed towards various retirement benefit plans.	
	
	29.2	 The Chief Executive and other executives are also provided with free use of Company’s maintained cars, residential telephone reimbursement and 

other benefits.	
	
	29.3	 Remuneration to non-executive director	
	
		  Aggregate amount charged in these financial statements for meetings fee to One (2014: One) non-executive director was Rs 0.3 million (2014:  

Rs 0.34 million).	

30.	 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS	
	

		  Profit / (loss) before taxation	  	 472,178 	  (330,741)
	
		  Adjustments for non-cash charges and other items:	
	
		  Depreciation	  	 596,804 	  676,054 
		  Amortization expense		   5,021 	  5,844 
		  Finance cost		   681,075 	  923,038 
		  Exchange loss / (gain) - unrealised		   29,276 	  (22,072)

2015 2014

(Rupees in ‘000)

Note

2015 2014

(Rupees in ‘000)
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		  Profit on bank balances		   (1,095)	  (456)
		  Provision for accumulated compensated absences  		   5,624 	  11,340 
		  Provision for staff retirement benefits		   57,695 	  48,963 
		  Gain on disposal of operating fixed assets		   (2,045)	  (1,124)
		  Working capital changes 	 30.1	  1,077,330 	  (126,113)
					      2,449,685 	  1,515,474 
	
	  																                2,921,863 	  1,184,733 
	30.1	 Working capital changes	
	
		  Decrease in current assets:	
	
	 	 Stores and spares		   35,789 	  (40,809)
		  Stock in trade		   383,775 	  629,919 
		  Trade debts		   295,639 	  255,453 
		  Advances and prepayments		   38,416 	  177,152 
		  Other receivables		   106,245 	  (93,935)
					      859,864 	  927,780 
		  Increase / (decrease) in current liabilities:	
	
		  Trade and other payables 		   217,466 	  (1,053,893)
	
					      1,077,330 	  (126,113)
	 31.	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS	
	
		  Short term running finance		   (482,897)	  (824,488)
		  Cash and bank balances	  	 378,033 	  697,646 
					      (104,864)	  (126,842)
32.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY	
	
		  Financial assets	
	
		  a)	 Loans and receivables	
			   Long term deposits	  	 3,115 	  4,398 
			   Trade debts - net	  	 1,227,890 	  1,523,529 
			   Advances and prepayments		   24,390 	  49,567 
			   Other receivables		   49,654 	  31,329 
			   Cash and bank balances	  	 378,033 	  697,646 
					      1,683,082 	  2,306,469 
	

Note 2015 2014

(Rupees in ‘000)
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		  Financial Liabilities	
	
		  a)	 Financial liabilities at amortised cost	
	
			   Long term finances		   4,615,177 	  5,376,924 
			   Trade and other payables		   2,016,516 	  1,840,382 
			   Accrued mark-up		   79,840 	  168,225 
			   Short term borrowings		   2,182,897 	  3,815,223 
					      8,894,430 	  11,200,754

	 33.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT	
	
		  The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including interest rate risk, currency risk and price risk), credit risk and 

liquidity risk. The Company’s overall risk management focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse 
effects on the Company’s financial performance.	

	
		  Risks managed and measured by the Company are explained below:	
	
	33.1	 Market risk	
	
	33.1.1	 Interest rate risk	
	
		  Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest 

rates.	
	
		  The Company’s interest rate risk arises from borrowings which include long term finances (note 13), short term borrowings (note 18) and cash at 

bank in current accounts (note 11).	

		  At December 31, 2015, if interest rates on borrowings had been 50 basis points higher / lower with all other variables held constant, profit after 
taxation for the year would have been as follows:

		  Finance cost	  			   (33,991)	  33,991 	  (45,961)	  45,961 
		  Taxation	  			   10,877 	  (10,877)	  15,167 	  (15,167)
		  Net impact on profit after taxation		   (23,114)	  23,114 	  (30,794)	  30,794 

2015 2014

(Rupees in ‘000)

2015 2014
At higher interest rate At lower interest rate At higher interest rate At lower interest rate

(Rupees in ‘000)
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33.1.2	 Currency risk	
	
		  Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange 

rates.	
	
		  Currency risk arises mainly where receivables and payables exist due to transactions entered into foreign currencies. The Company primarily has 

foreign currency exposures in USD and Euros, cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks (note 11), trade debts (note 8) in respect of export 
sales and account payables (note 16) in respect of import of raw materials, stores and spares and plant and machinery. Since the Company’s pricing 
mechanism is mainly linked to cost of raw materials, therefore, the affects, if any, of any adverse movement in exchange rates in USD can be passed 
on to the customers to some extent through increase in prices of its finished goods.	

	
		  As per the Company’s risk management policy, the Company hedges its exposure on firm commitment to purchase property, plant and equipment 

and stocks.	
		
		  At December 31, 2015, if the Company’s functional currency had weakened / strengthened by 5% against the USD with all other variables held 

constant, profit after taxation for the year would have been higher / lower by Rs 72.31 million (2014: Rs 55.89 million), mainly as a result of foreign 
exchange losses / gains on translation of financial assets and liabilities denominated in USD.	

	
33.1.3	 Price risk	
	
		  Price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market prices (other than those 

arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, 
or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market.	

	
33.2	 Concentration of credit risk
	
		  Credit risk represents the accounting loss that would be recognised at the reporting date if counter parties fail completely to perform as 

contracted.	
	
		  Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks as well as credit exposures to customers and other counterparties which 

include long term deposits, trade debts, advance to employees, rebate on export sales and other receivables. Out of the total financial assets, those 
that are subject to credit risk amounted to Rs 1.68 billion (2014: Rs 2.31 billion). The management of the Company believes that it is not exposed to 
major concentration of credit risk.	

	
		  Total bank balance of Rs 377.67 million (2014: Rs 697.27 million) has been placed with banks which have a short term credit rating of at least 

A-1.	
	
		  A significant component of the receivable balances of the Company relates to amounts due from the local customers. Due to the Company’s long 

standing business relationships with these counterparties and after giving due consideration to their strong financial standing, management does not 
expect non-performance by those counter parties on their obligations to the Company. The management continuously monitors the credit exposure 
towards the customers and makes provision against those balances considered doubtful of recovery.	

	
		  The Company does not hold any collateral against these assets other than receivable from foreign customers which are secured by way of letter of 

credits.	
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33.3	 Liquidity risk	
	
		  Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulties in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities. Prudent liquidity risk 

management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability 
to close out market positions. The management believes that it will be able to fulfill its financial obligations.	

		  Financial liabilities in accordance with their contractual maturities are presented below:

		  Long term finances	  	 6,676,109 	  1,263,102 	  1,433,123 	  3,497,059 	  482,825 
		  Accrued mark-up	  	 79,840 	  79,840 	  -        	  -          	  -         
		  Short term borrowings	  2,182,897 	  2,182,897 	  -         	  -          	  -         
		  Trade and other payables	  2,016,516 	  2,016,516 	  -         	  -          	  -         
	  					     10,955,362 	  5,542,355 	  1,433,123 	  3,497,059 	  482,825

	33.4	 Capital risk management	
	
		  The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns 

for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.	

		  In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares or obtain 
/ repay long term financing from / to financial institutions.	

		  Consistent with others in the industry, the Company monitors capital on the basis of the debt equity ratio. This ratio is calculated as under: 	

		  Debt equity ratio = Long term portion of debt divided by long term portion of debt plus total equity.

		  The debt equity ratios as at December 31 were as follows:	
	
		

		  Long term portion of debt	 13	  3,664,793 	  4,515,176	
		  Total equity	  	 2,113,802 	  1,634,453	
		  Total 	  	 5,778,595 	  6,149,629	
		
		  Debt equity ratio		  63:37	 73:27

	 	 The decrease in the debt equity ratio is mainly due to the profit after tax during the current year.	

Note 2015 2014

(Rupees in ‘000)

Contractual 
cash flows

Less than 1 
year 

Between 1 to  
2 years 

Between 2 to 5 
years 

Between 5 to 10 
years 

(Rupees in ‘000)
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2015 2014
(Rupees in ‘000)

33.5	 Fair value of financial instruments	
	
		  Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or liability settled, between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length 

transaction. Consequently, differences can arise between the carrying value and fair value estimates. Underlying the definition of fair value is the 
presumption that the Company is a going concern without any intention or requirement to curtail materially the scale of its operations or to undertake 
a transaction on adverse terms.	

	
		  The Company classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. 

The fair value hierarchy is as follows:	
	
		  a) 	 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1);	
	
		  b) 	 Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly (level 2); and	
	
		  c)	 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).	
	
		  The estimated fair value of other financial assets and liabilities is considered not significantly different from carrying values as the items are either 

short term in nature or periodically repriced.

34.	 TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES	
	
		  The related parties comprise related group companies, staff retirement benefits, directors, key management personnel and close members of the 

family of directors and key management personnel. The Company in the normal course of business carries out transactions with various related 
parties. 

	
			   Transactions with related parties are as follows:	
	
		    Nature of transaction                                                    Nature of relationship

	
		  Purchase of goods and	
		  services	 Associated undertaking	  433,327 	  1,498,204 
	
		  Sale of goods and services	 Associated undertaking	  969,612 	  1,244,895 
	
		  Contributions to staff	
		  retirement benefit funds	 Retirement benefit funds	  57,696 	  50,353 
	
		  Commission earned	 Associated undertaking	  6,475 	  6,851 
	
		  Salaries and other	 Key management personnel	  100,481 	  82,254 
		  employee benefits	
	
		  The amounts payable to and receivable from related parties have been disclosed in the relevant notes to these financial statements. 
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	35.	 PLANT CAPACITY AND ACTUAL PRODUCTION	
	
		

		  Operational capacity		   83,800 	  82,300 
	
		  Production		   48,060 	  49,402 
	
	35.1	 Production of films during the year is based on market demand.	
	
	 36.	 NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES	
	
		  The total average number of employees during the year and as at December 31 are as follows:	
	

		  Average number of employees during the year		  420	 449
	
		  Number of employees as at December 31		  409	 436
	
	 37.	 PROVIDENT FUND RELATED DISCLOSURE

		  The following information is based on un-audited financial statements of the Provident Fund (the Fund) as at December 31, 2015:	
		

	
		  Size of the Fund - total assets	  	 142,456 	  129,588 
	
		  Cost of investment made		   111,190 	  91,819 
	
		  Fair value of investments	 37.1	  134,408 	  127,945	
	
		  Percentage of investment made		  78%	 71%
	

2015

2015

2015

2014

2014

2014

Note

(Metric tons)

(Rupees in ‘000)
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37.1 The break up of fair value of investment is as follows: 
 
 
  
  Shares    629  0.5%  1,107  1%
  Bank balances     640  0.5%  9,309  7%
  Debt securities     54,017  40%  32,655  26%
  Mutual funds units    79,122  59%  84,874  66%
        134,408  100%  127,945  100%
 
37.2 The investment out of the Fund have been made in accordance with the provisions of Section 227 of the Companies Ordinance,1984 and the rules 

formulated for this purpose. 
  
38. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
  The Board of Directors in its meeting held on 17 February, 2016 proposed a final cash dividend for the year ended December 31, 2015 of Rs. 5 per 

share amounting to Rs. 150 million (2014: Nil) subject to the approval of the Company in the forthcoming annual general meeting.  
 
 
  The Finance Act, 2015 introduced income tax at the rate of 10% on undistributed reserves where such reserves of the company are in excess of its 

paid up  capital and the company derives profits for a tax year but does not distribute requisite cash dividend within six months of the end of the said 
tax year. Liability in respect of such income tax, if any, is recognised when the prescribed time period for distribution of dividend expires. 

 
 39. DATE OF AUTHORISATION 
   
 39.1 These financial statements were authorised for issue on 17 February, 2016 by the Board of Directors of the Company.

2015 2014
Percentage Percentage(Rupees in ‘000) (Rupees in ‘000)

Chief Executive Director
Syed Aslam Mehdi Asif QadirSyed Aslam Mehdi Asif Qadir
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notice of annual general meeting 
Notice is hereby given that the 24th Annual General Meeting of Tri-Pack Films Limited will be held on Thursday, March 31, 2016 at 10.30 a.m. at the Beach 
Luxury Hotel, Moulvi Tamizuddin Khan Road, Karachi to transact the following ordinary business :-

1. 	 To confirm the minutes of the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company held on October 1, 2015.

2. 	 To receive and adopt the Audited Accounts of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2015 together with the Directors’ and Auditors’ Reports 
thereon.

3. 	 To consider and approve payment of cash dividend at the rate of Rs. 5.00 per ordinary share of Rs.10.00 (50%) for the year ended December 31, 
2015 as recommended by the Board of Directors.

4. 	 To appoint Auditors for the year 2016 and to fix their remuneration.

Notes:

1. 	 Closure of Share Transfer Books

	 The Share Transfer Books of the Company will remain closed from March 24, 2016 to March 31, 2016 (both days inclusive).  Transfers received in order 
at the office of the Company’s Registrars, Messrs FAMCO ASSOCIATES (PVT.) LIMITED, 8-F, Next to Hotel Faran, Nursery, Block 6, P.E.C.H.S., Shahrah-
e-Faisal, Karachi-75400 by close of business on March 22, 2016 will be treated in time to attend and vote at the meeting.

2.	 Participation in the Annual General Meeting

	 All members entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting, are entitled to appoint another person in writing as their proxy to attend and vote on their behalf. 
A proxy need not be a member of the Company. A corporate entity, being a member, may appoint any person, regardless whether they are a member or 
not, as its proxy. In case of corporate entities, a resolution of the Board of Directors/Power of Attorney with specimen signature of the person nominated 
to represent and vote on behalf of the corporate entity, shall be submitted to the Company along with a completed proxy form. The proxy holders are 
requested to produce their national CNICs or original passports at the time of the Meeting.  

	 In order to be effective, duly completed and signed proxy forms must be received at the Company’s Registered Office at 4th Floor, The Forum, Suite # 
416-422, G-20, Block 9, Khayaban-e-Jami, Clifton, Karachi-75600 at least 48 hours before the time of the Meeting.

3. 	 Notice to Shareholders who have not Provided Their CNICs

	 As directed by the SECP through its Circular No.EMD/D-II/Misc/2009-1342 dated April 4, 2013, dividend warrants cannot be issued without valid 
CNICs. All shareholders holding physical shares who have not submitted their valid CNICs are requested to send attested copies of their valid CNICs 
along with their folio numbers to the Company’s Shares Registrar. In the absence of a shareholder’s valid CNIC, the Company will be constrained to 
withhold dispatch of dividend to such shareholders. 

Karachi   
February 17, 2016                                                                               

By Order of the Board
Adi J. Cawasji 

Company Secretary
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4.	 Deduction of Income Tax From Dividend

	 (i)	 The Government of Pakistan through Finance Act, 2015 has made certain amendments in Section 150 of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 
whereby different rates are prescribed for deduction of withholding tax on the amount of dividend paid by the companies. These tax rates are as 
under:

		  (a)	 For filers of income tax returns:	 12.5%
		  (b)	 For non-filers of income tax returns:	 17.5%

	 To enable the Company to make tax deduction on the amount of cash dividend @12.5% instead of 17.5%, all the shareholders whose names are not 
entered into the Active Tax-payers List (ATL) provided on the website of FBR, despite the fact that they are filers, are advised to make sure that their 
names are entered into ATL, otherwise tax on their cash dividend will be deducted @17.5% instead @12.5%.

	 (ii)	 For any query/problem/information, the investors may contact the company and/or the Share Registrar at the following phone numbers or email 
addresses:-

		  Contact persons:

		  Mr. S.M. Munawar Moosvi
		  Tel. # 92 21 35831618 / 35831664 / 35833011
		  Email: munawar.moosvi@packages.com.pk

		  Mr. Ovais Khan
		  Tel. # 92 21 34380101-2
		  Email: ceo@famco.com.pk

	 (iii)	 The corporate shareholders having CDC accounts are required to have their National Tax Number (NTN) updated with their respective participants, 
whereas corporate physical shareholders should send a copy of their NTN certificate to the company or its Share Registrar i.e. Messrs FAMCO 
ASSOCIATES (PVT.) LIMITED. The shareholders while sending NTN or NTN certificates, as the case may be, must quote company name and their 
respective folio numbers.

5.	 Payment of Dividend Electronically (E-mandate)

	 In order to enable a more efficient method of cash dividend (if declared), through its Circular No.8(4) SM/CDC 2008 of April 5, 2013, the SECP has 
announced an e-dividend mechanism where shareholders can get their dividend credited directly into their respective bank accounts electronically by 
authorizing the Company to do so. Accordingly, all non-CDC shareholders are requested to send their bank account details to the Company’s Registrar. 
Shareholders who hold shares with CDC or Participants/Stock Brokers, are advised to provide the mandate to CDC or their Participants/Stock Brokers.

6.	 Rights Shares Not Eligible to Dividend

	 The Company is making an issue of 8,800,000 rights shares. These rights shares shall be allotted subsequent to the date of this Meeting and will not be 
eligible to dividend declared in this Meeting. 
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7.	 Audited Financial Statements Through E-mail

	 SECP through its Notification SRO 787(I)/2014 dated September 8, 2014, has allowed the circulation of Audited Financial Statements along with the 
Notice of Annual General Meeting to the members of the Company through email. Therefore, all members who wish to receive the soft copy of Annual 
Report are requested to send their email addresses. The consent form for electronic transmission can be downloaded from the Company’s website: 
www.tripack.com.pk. 

	 The Company shall, however, provide hard copy of the Audited Financial Statements to its shareholders, on request, free of cost, within seven days of 
receipt of such request.

	 The Company shall place the financial statements and reports on the Company’s website: www.tripack.com.pk at least twenty one (21) days prior to the 
date of the Annual General Meeting in terms of SRO 634(I)/2014 dated July 10, 2014 issued by the SECP.

8.	 Change of Address and Non-deduction of Zakat Declaration Form

	 Physical shareholders are requested to notify any change in their addresses immediately and if applicable provide their non-deduction of Zakat 
Declaration Form to the Company’s Shares Registrar, Messrs FAMCO ASSOCIATES (PVT.) LIMITED. Furthermore, if not provided earlier, members 
holding shares in CDC/Participants accounts are also requested to update their addresses and if applicable, to provide their non-deduction of Zakat 
Declaration Form to CDC or their Participants/Stock Brokers.

9.	 Video Conference Facility

	 In this regard, please fill the following form and submit to registered address of the Company 10 days before holding of the Annual General Meeting.

	 If the Company receives consent from members holding in aggregate 10% or more shareholding residing at a geographical location, to participate in 
the meeting through video conference at least 10 days prior to date of meeting, the Company will arrange video conference facility in the city subject 
to availability of such facility in that city.

	 The Company will intimate members regarding venue of video conference facility at least 5 days before the date of the Annual General Meeting along 
with complete information necessary to enable them to access the facility.

	 I / We, _____________________________ of ________________________ being a member of Tri-Pack Films Limited, holder of ____________________

Ordinary shares as per Register Folio No. ____________________ hereby opt for video conference facility at ______________.

		                                                                                          								      

																                          Signature of member

10.	 Guidelines for CDC Account Holders

	 CDC  account holders will have to follow the guidelines with respect to attending the Meeting and appointing of Proxies as issued by the Securities and 
Exchange Commission of Pakistan through its Circular 1 of January 26, 2000.

 
11.	 Form of proxy in English and Urdu is attached in the Annual Report and should be witnessed by two persons whose names, addresses and CNIC 

Numbers are mentioned on the forms.
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glossary 

AASHA	 Alliance Against Sexual Harrassment
ADD	 Antidumping Duties
AGM	 Annual General Meeting
ATL	 Active Taxpayers List
BCP 	 Business Continuity Planning
BOD	 Board of Directors
BOPP	 Biaxially Oriented  Polypropylene
BSC 	 British Safety Council
CCG	 Code of Corporate Governance
CCP 	 Competition Commission of Pakistan
CDC 	 Central Depository Company of Pakistan
CEO 	 Chief Executive Officer
CFO 	 Chief Financial Officer
CPP 	 Cast Polypropylene 
CSR 	 Corporate Social Responsibility
EBIT	 Earnings Before Interest and Tax
EBITDA 	 Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Ammortization
EET 	 Employee Engagement Index
EOBI 	 Employee Old Age Benefit  Institution
EPS 	 Earning Per Share
ERP 	 Enterprise Resource Planning
ESSI 	 Employee Social Security Institution
FBR	 Federal Board of Revenue
GIDC 	 Gas Infrastructure Development Cess
HR 	 Human Resources
HR&R	 Human Resources and Remuneration Committee
HSE 	 Health, Safety & Environment 
HSEQ 	 Health, Safety, Environment & Quality 
IAS	 International Accounting Standards
ICAEW	 Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Whales
ICAP 	 Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan
IFAC 	 International Federation of accountants 
IFRIC	 International Financial Reporting Interpretitions Committee
IFRS	 International Financial Reporting Standards
IMS 	 Integrated Management System

ISO 	 International Standards Organization
IT	 Information Technology
ITO	 Income Tax Ordinance
KIBOR 	 Karachi Inter Bank Offer Rate
LC	 Letter of Credit
MMSCFD 	Million Standard Cubic Feet Per Day
NBV	 Net Book Value
NEQS	 National Environment & Quality Standard
NGO	 Non-governmental Organization
NSI	 Net Sales Income
NTC	 National Tarriff Commission
NTN	 National Tax Number
OHS	 Occupational Health and Safety
OHSAS 	 Occupational Health and Safety Assessment Specification
PAT	 Profit After Tax
PBT	 Profit Before Tax
PET	 Polyethylene Terephthalate
PKR	 Pakistani Rupee
PSX	 Pakistan Stock Exchange
R&D	 Research and Development
Rs.	 Rupees
SAP	 System Application and Products
SBP	 State Bank of Pakistan
SECP 	 Security Exchange Commission of Pakistan 
SOP 	 Standard Operating Procedures
SPLY	 Same Period Last Year
TPM 	 Total Productive Maintenance 
TRIR 	 Total Recordable Injury Rate
USD	 United States Dollar
WPPF 	 Workers’ Profit Participation Fund
WWF 	 Workers Welfare Fund
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(Contribution to National Exchequer)
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* Re-stated

*

2014 2015
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proxy form

I/We_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

of  _____________________________________________________________________________________________being  a member  of  Tri-Pack Films Limited 

and holder of ______________Ordinary Shares as per Share Register Folio No._________and/or CDC Participant I.D. No.___________ and Sub Account
                   (Number of Shares)

No.___________ hereby appoint __________________ of _____________or failing him/her _____________  of ____________________ or failing him/her 

________________of ______________  as my proxy to vote for me and on my behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on Thursday, 

March 31, 2016  at 10.30 a.m. at the Beach Luxury Hotel, Moulvi Tamizuddin Khan Road, Karachi and  at  any  adjournment thereof.

Signed this …..................……day of……..............………..2016

WITNESSES:								      

Signature			 

1.    Signature:     _____________

       Name:          ________________________________________

       Address:	   ________________________________________

		    ________________________________________

       CNIC or        ________________________________________

       Passport No: ________________________________________

2.    Signature:     ________________________________________

       Name:          ________________________________________

       Address:	   ________________________________________

                           ________________________________________

       CNIC or        ________________________________________

       Passport No:  ________________________________________

24th Annual General Meeting

(Signature should agree 
with the specimen 
signature registered 
with the Company)

Please
affix Rupees five
revenue stampSignature

Note: 
Proxies in order to be effective, must be received by the Company not less than 48 hours before the meeting.  
A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

CDC Shareholders and their Proxies are requested to attach an attested photocopy of their Computerized 
National Identity Card or Passport with this proxy form before submission to the Company.
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